

# Software Manual





No part of this document may be used for any purpose other than for the purposes specifically indicated herein nor may it be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying and/or recording, for any purpose without written permission from Unitronics.

The information appearing in this document is for general purposes only. Unitronics makes no warranty of any kind with regard to the information appearing in this document, including, but not limited to, implied warranties of merchantability and/or fitness for a particular use or purpose. Unitronics assumes no responsibility for the results, direct and/or indirect, of any misuse of the information appearing in this document nor for any use of the Unitronics products referred to herein in any manner deviating from the recommendations made in this document. Unitronics assumes no responsibility for the use of any parts, components, or other ancillary appliances including circuitry other than as recommended hereunder or other than that embodied in the Unitronics product.

Unitronics retains all rights to its proprietary assets including, but not limited to its software products which are copyrighted and shall remain the property of Unitronics. Copyright protection claimed includes all Forms and matters of copyrightable materials and information legally allowed including but not limited to material generated from the software programs which are displayed on the screen of the Unitronics products such as styles, templates, icons, screen displays, looks, etc. Duplication and/or any unauthorized use thereof are strictly prohibited without prior written permission from Unitronics.

All brand or product names are used for identification purpose only and may be trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective holders.

Unitronics reserves the right to revise this publication from time to time and to amend its contents and related hardware and software at any time. Technical updates (if any) may be included in subsequent editions (if any).

# **Table Of Contents**

Welcome to VisiLogic	
Getting Started	
Hardware Configuration	
Ladder Editor	
HMI Display Editor	
About the HMI Display and Keypad	
'Touchscreen' controllers	
Quick Navigation	
Variables	
Variable Editor	
Downloading/Uploading a Project	9
On-Line Test Mode (Debug)	
Watch Folders	
Information Mode	
Using Information Mode	
COM Ports and Data Communications	
Com Ports	
About Modems	
Getting Started with Ladder	
Ladder Net	
Placing a Ladder Element in a Net	
Placing a Function in a Net	
Connecting Ladder Elements and Functions	
Linking Operands to Elements	
Nets: Sizing and Resizing	
Adding and Inserting Nets	
Move, Copy, & Paste Nets	
Move, Copy & Paste Elements	
Move, Copy, & Paste between Projects	
Deleting Nets	
Comments 1 001	
Undo	
Changing an Element's Operand	
Power-up values	
Program Sequencing: Modules, Subroutines, Labels & Jumps	
Import/Evport Subroutines	
Ladder Logie	
Laddel Logic	
Getting Started with Displays	
Text in HMI Displays	
Granhie Images in Displays	
Conv & Paste Displays	
Getting Started with Variables	
Inserting a Variable into a Display	
Hardware Configuration	
I/O Expansion Modules	
	······································

Configuring a PT100 Input	47
Configuring I/O Expansion Modules	48
High-Speed Counters: I/O Expansion Modules	48
Snap-in I/O Expansion Modules	50
Configuring Snap-in I/O Modules	50
High-Speed Counters: Snap-in I/O Modules	50
Configuring a High-Speed Counter	52
Configuring a High-speed Output (PWM)	53
Configuring the HSO	53
Configuring an Analog Input	54
Analog Filters, PLC	55
Configuring an Analog Output	57
Analog I/O Ranges	57
Working with Analog I/O Values	58
Configuring Digital Inputs	61
Configuring Digital Outputs	61
Assign a Description to Multiple Operands	62
Controller Settings	63
Communication and OS-Controller Menu	63
Vision Communication PC Settings	63
Run, Reset, Initialize	63
Get COM Parameters and PLC status	64
Downloading an OS	64
Check Network Status	65
Communications	67
COM Port: Init	67
RS232	67
RS485 Options	68
About RS485	68
Network Topology & Wiring	68
RS485, by controller type	69
Vision 230/260/280	69
Vision 120/ M91	71
M90	73
Vision / M91 RS485 Port Specifications	73
PLC-side Modems	74
How to enable a Vision controller to communicate via landline, GSM, or CDMA modem	74
How to enable a PLC to dial a remote modem (Ladder)	76
How to terminate the linkHang-up	77
Modem Tips	
PC-Side Modems	
How to Configure a PC-side Modem	78
How to use the PC modem to access a PLC	79
Dial & Hang-up	79
Downloading an OS via Modem	80
Modem Tips	81
Using Ethernet	81
Default Socket Configuration	82

General	
Examples	
PLC networks, PLC to PLC	
PC to PLC: Accessing PLC via SCADA	
PC-PLC Communications	
Remote Access: Accessing a PLC via PC	
Vision Communication PC Settings	
Ethernet	
About Ethernet	
Using Ethernet	
TCP\IP: Card Init	
TCP\IP: Socket Init	
TCP\IP: TCP Connect \ TCP Close	
Ethernet TCP\IP: PC to Vision	
Ethernet TCP\IP: SBs & SIs	
Ethernet TCP\IP: PC to Vision	
Networks	
About Networks	
CANbus Networking Operands	
Implementing inter-PLC data exchange	
Assigning a Unit ID number	
Network Operands-Communicating Data Via CANbus	
Accessing a Networked PLC via PC	
Accessing a Networked Controller	
Accessing a Networked Controller via Modem	
Modems: Setting Up	
Check Network Status	
CANbus Network Problems	
Utilities	
Live Update from the Web	
Information Mode	
Using Information Mode	
On-Line Test Mode (Debug)	
Remote Access: Accessing a PLC via PC	
Accessing a Controller	
Project (Vision) Downloader	
Creating Download files	
Checking the integrity of the Download file	
Quick Navigation	
Operand View	
Watch Folders	
Protecting Subroutines	
Creating and Using a Password	
Deleting a Ladder Password	
Memory Tab	
Find (& Replace)	
Interrupt Routines	
2.5 mS Interrupt Routine	

Interrupt HSC	
Search: Symbolic Name	
Deleted Unreferenced Operands	
Print Project	
Project Properties	
Import/Export Subroutines	
Verify Project	
Compile	
Log	
Show STL	
Power-up Modes: Trouble-shooting	
Memory Allocation	
Ladder Code Capacity	
Hotkeys: Quick Editing	
Data Tables	
About Data Tables	
Creating a Data Table	
Data Table Options	
Column Parameters	
Database-Read/Write	
Read Row	
Write Row	
Read Column	
Write Column	
Read/Write Direct	
Data Tables: Clear Table	
Data Tables: Find Row, Find Row Extended	
Program Recipes	
Data Tables: Synchronizing Data	
Data Tables and Excel	
Troubleshooting	
Detecting Short-circuited End Devices	
On-Line Test Mode (Debug)	
Power-up Modes: Trouble-shooting	
I/O Expansion Module Errors	
Compile	
Why does the Controller display the 'Restart' message?	
HMI Element Resizing/Rotating Limitations	
Float Errors	
Changing Panel Types: Conflicts	
Insufficient Flash Memory	
Communications	
CANbus Network Problems	
Modem Troubleshooting	
COM Port/Modem Status, System Operands, & Error Messages	
Using Hyperterminal for COM Troubleshooting	
Using Hyperterminal to check PC-PLC direct communications	
Index	

# Welcome to VisiLogic

VisiLogic is the software tool you use to create control projects for Vision controllers. After you plan the control task, use VisiLogic to write, debug, and download the PLC control and HMI applications into the controller.

The PLC application is your control, or automation application. You write the PLC application using the Ladder Editor.

The HMI application configures the operating panel's function. You use the HMI Editor to create the Displays that are shown on the controller's screen.

Displays tell your operators what to do. You can have your operators log in with a password, enter setpoints and other data, and instruct the operator what to do in case of a system problem or alarm. A Display can contain both text and images. Text and images can be both fixed and/or variable.

Variables are inserted into a Display to:

- Show run-time values as integers
- Represent run-time values with either text, images, or bar graphs
- Show text messages that vary according to runtime conditions.
- Enable an operator to enter data using the Vision's alphanumeric keypad.

Here are some of VisiLogic's major features.

## Program Editors

You use 3 editors to create your application:

- Ladder
- HMI Display
- Variable

Each editor is operated through a different window. You switch between the editors via the Toolbar buttons or by clicking elements in the Project Tree.

#### Ladder Modules and Subroutines

VisiLogic is a modular program you build using Modules and Subroutines.

## Hardware Configuration

VisiLogic offers easy Hardware Configuration. The foundation of a Vision control system is the controller. The Snap-in I/O Module provides an on-board I/O configuration. You add I/Os by integrating I/O Expansion Modules.

After you select the Snap-in or Expansion I/O modules connected to the controller, you can configure inputs: analog, digital, and high-speed counter/shaft-encoder/frequency measurers and PT100; and outputs: analog, digital, and PWM high-speed outputs.

#### Project Explorer

The Project Explorer tree allows you to navigate easily between program components.

## **Operand View and Watch Folders**

VisiLogic allows you to view operands and their contents according to type and whether or not they are in use. You can also group related operands according to functions in Watch Folders.

## Help

Use the VisiLogic Help System to learn how to use the software and answer your questions. Browse sequences present help topics in an order to aid you in learning. The browse sequence shown below is Configuring Hardware.

💕 VisiLogic: PLC & HMI Applica	tion Development		
- 19 ↔ ↔ ∰ Hide Back Forward Print		2. Click on the topics to view them .	
1. Select the Browse Sequence you want to view.	Previous Next Ha	?         ?         ?         ?         ?         ?         ?         ?         ?         ?         .         rdware         Configuring         Configuring <thconfiguring< th="">         Configuring</thconfiguring<>	- <b>?</b> IAn
Eadder HMI Networks Utilities FAQs	Coils Cortacts Getting Started HMI Ladder Elements Ladder Functions Un Operands Variables Note that when you s for reset; shaft encode High-speed counters	High-Speed Counter on both Snap-in I/O and I/O Expansion modules can be used as high-speed ing modes: ther ther with Reset urer elect High-Speed Counter with Reset, the controller uses an additional input ers also require the use of two inputs.	-

## VisiLogic Examples

When you install VisiLogic, an Examples folder is created on your hard disk, containing field-tested VisiLogic (.vlp) sample applications. You can copy these sample applications and adapt them for your own use--if, for example, an application is written for the V120, you can select the V230 via Hardware Configuration.

VisiLogic's Help Menu now includes a Help file containing a list of applications as well as their location path.



# **Getting Started**

## Hardware Configuration

Hardware Configuration opens automatically when you first create a new project. In order to open Hardware

Configuration in an existing project, either select Hardware Configuration from the View menu or click the button on the toolbar.

Click on the appropriate icon to select the model Vision, the Snap-in I/O module, and any I/O Expansion modules required by your application.

After you select the Snap-in or Expansion I/O modules connected to the controller, you can configure inputs: analog, digital, and high-speed counter/shaft-encoder/frequency measurers and PT100; and outputs: analog, digital, and PWM high-speed outputs.





## Ladder Editor

Use the Ladder Editor to create the Ladder diagram that comprises your control application. Ladder diagrams are composed of contacts, coils, and function block elements arranged in nets.

In a Ladder diagram, the contacts represent input conditions. They lead power from the left Ladder rail to the right rail. This is why the first element in a net must always touch the left rail. Coils represent output instructions. In order for output coils to be activated, the logical state of the contacts must allow the power to flow through the net to the coil. This is why the elements in a net must be connected. Each net must contain only one rung.

Use the Ladder Editor to:

- Place and connect Ladder Elements.
- Apply Compare, Math, Logic, Clock, Store, and Vector functions.
- Insert Function Blocks (FBs) into your program.
- Build program Modules and Subroutines, and use internal Subroutine Jumps and Labels.
- Place Comments on Ladder nets.

Ladder elements and functions may be dragged and dropped between nets. Hotkeys are also available for easy programming.

To start the Ladder Editor

• Click the Ladder button **a** on the toolbar.



## HMI Display Editor

Use the HMI Display Editor to create the Displays that are shown on the controller screen after the program is downloaded. When you select HMI from the Project Explorer tree, a Display replica opens. The size of this replica reflects the type of Vision controller you have selected in your project's Hardware Configuration.

Displays tell your operators what to do. You can have your operators log in with a password, enter setpoints and other data, and instruct the operator what to do in case of a system problem or alarm. A Display can contain both text and images. Text and images can be both fixed and/or variable.

Variables are inserted into a Display to:

- Show run-time values as integers
- Represent run-time values with either text, images, or bar graphs
- Show text messages that vary according to runtime conditions.



## About the HMI Display and Keypad

All Vision controllers offer an integrated HMI operating panel that includes an LCD screen and a keypad. The screen size, type and keypad vary. Exact specifications regarding Vision operating panels are included in the user's manuals.

## 'Touchscreen' controllers

There are 2 types of Vision touch-screen models:

• Models which comprise only a virtual keypad (V290). In these models, the virtual keypad opens whenever the user touches a keypad entry variable that is currently displayed on the screen.



 Models which comprise both an HMI function keypad and a virtual keypad (V280). However, in these models, the virtual keypad must be activated by turning SB 22 Enable Virtual Keypad ON. This must be done at power-up, or before the Display containing the keypad variable is entered. In addition, the Keypad entry variable must be assigned a Touch Property.

## **Quick Navigation**

VisiLogic offers different tools for program navigation.

Program Tree



Note •	Within the program tree, elements are presented alphabetically. This does not affect the order in which the program runs.
•	Ladder Modules and subroutines can be moved via drag-and-drop, as can HMI Modules and Displays. Again, moving elements does not affect the order in which they run.
	The Main Ladder Module, Main Subroutine, Start-up HMI Module and the Start-up HMI Display cannot be moved via drag-and-drop or erased. For easy identification, they are always marked in orange.

## Accessing a Load Display Target



## Accessing a Call Subroutine Target



## Go To Label

Use labels as bookmarks to mark program sections, and then locate them using the Go To Label<Alt> + <Right/Left arrow> and List of Labels <Ctrl> + <L> utility.

## Getting Started

Ladder HMI Help				
Connect Elements	🗐 🚳  🐒			
Contacts	• ck • Store • Ve	ictor ·		
🙀 Coils	•			
📩 Compare	•	Select Oper	and and address	Y
🚾 Math	•	Select oper	anu anu auuress	
茸 Logic	•••••			
t, Clock	•	Label	SubRoutine	Ok
⇒∎ Stor <u>e</u>	• • • • • • • • • • • •	PID: Heating	Execute	Consul
www.Vec	Open the L	ist of Setpoint Heat	ing Heating step	Lancel
Call Lies the funct	Lables, the	en click Setpoint Cooli	ng Cooling step	Help
keys to jump	from a label nam	ne to PID FB: coolin	g Cooling step	
label to label	open the p	rogram /		
At Net	location.			
		/ * *		
🗩 Insert Comment	N			
🖅 Insert New Label				
🚰 Go to Lable	Next label 🛛 🗍 🚺 🕨	Right		
	🗧 🛱 Previous label 📈 Alt	+Left		
	List of Labels	Ctrl+L		

The Find utility also enables you to easily locate, directly open, and edit most program elements.

In addition, shortcut menus that are relevant can be opened.

## Variables

Variables enable you to show run-time values, text, images, and bar graphs on the controller's screen in response to run-time conditions. Bit, or binary text variables, for example, display text messages on the controller's LCD screen according to the status of a bit operand.

A Display may contain up to 24 variables.

You can also use Keypad Entry Variables to enable an operator to enter a password, or data such as setpoints from the controller's keyboard.

## Variable Editor

When you insert a variable into a display, the Variable Editor opens, showing you the options that are relevant for that type of Variable.

	Fixed Text Do not chang different Dis	& Images ge until a play is loaded	Start-Up D	isplay	1	
Variables Variable text and change accordin	timages Ingtothe	Conve	yor #3	- #	<mark>₽</mark>	
operand		Statu	s <mark>Cl</mark>	ear		
When Output 3 is OFF, the text <b>Blocked</b> is displayed	🔁 Variable: ( 127 Text ▼ 🖉	Binary Text Image 🔻 <u></u> Numer	ic ▼İ, Clock ▼	- <b>⊥⊓</b> Timer →	When Output 3 is ON, the text <b>Clear</b> is displayed	×
Thisisthe	Blocke	MS Sans Senif (12,B) ed!!	× ×	Clear	ns Serif (12,B)	•
symbol	Description :	Conveyor Status 03 : Object Sensor: Co	onveyor #3		Click here to link an opera OK	nd

After you have inserted Variables into a display, they are shown with that display in the Project tree.



# **Downloading/Uploading a Project**

The Download process transfers your project from the PC to the controller.

To download a project to a controller:

1. Connect the controller to the PC with the programming cable.



- 2. Click the Download icon on the Standard toolbar.
- 3. The downloading process begins.

To upload a project from a controller:

- 1. Connect the controller to the PC with the programming cable.
- 2. Select Upload icon from the Connection menu; the Vision Communication PC Settings window opens.
- 3. Select the connection type and click Exit; the uploading process begins.

Upload copies the complete project from the controller into the PC.

Via Project Properties, you can apply upload and download options:

- Assign a project password. Password protection requires users to enter a password before uploading a project to a PC.
- Prevent project upload.

# **On-Line Test Mode (Debug)**

To test a project, first connect the controller to your PC using the program download cable provided with the software package, then download the project and click the On-Line Test button. The Online Test toolbar opens, enabling you to:

- Switch between Run and Stop modes.
- Use Single Scan to run a single cycle of the ladder program for debugging purposes.
   You can stop the scan cycle at any point by placing OnLine Test Points, located on the More menu, in the Ladder.



When the scan reaches an OnLine test point that is active (receives RLO), Online Test freezes, enabling you to check element status and values, including Timer values, at that point during Ladder execution. Note that if more than one OnLine test point is activated, SB 35 turns ON.

• Measure the time interval between 2 points in the Ladder application, by placing Start and End Interval elements, located on the More menu, anywhere in the application. The time interval, in



micro-seconds, is stored in the DW linked to the End Interval element.

Open Remote Access to debug remote controllers via network or modem connections.



In Online Test mode, you can view the power flow, and view and force operand values and element status.





# Watch Folders

Watch Folders enable you to:

- Arrange related groups of operands in folders.
- Name the folders.
- View these operands in the tabbed Output Window at the bottom of the screen.

To view a Watch folder, click the Watches tab at the bottom of the screen, then select the desired folder. Edit the folder by right-clicking a line, then selecting the appropriate function.



Adding Operands to a Watch Folder from a net

• To add a single operand to a Watch folder, right-click it in the Ladder or in the Operand Output Window.



×	1	Inputs		Operand MI	Addn 3. C	lick on the desir	ed Watch folde	sr.	Elevator A Elevator B	rmat EC	Description Status Code
		1. Right-click the ope	rand.	M	1		`		Safeby Sunctions	EC	A Value
	NO	memory bits		M	2	Image: A state of the state		<b>7</b> 7	Watch 4	EC	B Value
Ш	SB	System Bits		M	3	<b>Z</b>		- 22	Watch 5	EC	C Value
	М	Memory Integer				Show In Us	e Only	20	Watch 6	EC	A+B
	SI	System Integer	2. Sel	ect Insert to V	Vatch.	Show All O	perands	20	Watch 7	EC	B+A
Ш	ML	Memory Long		1911	~~~	_		100	Watch 9	EC	A+B+C
	SL	System Long	_1	MI	7	. Insert "MI :	3° To Watch 👘	100	Watch 0	-JEC	C+A+B
Ш	PAR A	Periodi a Colonial									
Ш	🗄 (	)perands 💹 Wa	atches	🎝 Find	🍪 Compile	👂 Event Lo	og				

• To add all of the operands within a net to a Watch folder, right-click the right-hand rail of the desired net.

Var	• • • • • • • • • • •				
var ⊇ Var ⊇ Var ⊇ Var ⊇ Var ⊇ Var	} <sup>↓</sup> 1⊈ Show Power Flow R STL Quick View ※ Cut	  	  	Fill the	tank
⊡	E Copy ★ Delete Add Net To Watch	O A Watch 1	RE B MI	23 [0] . screen	· · ·
		Watch 2 Watch 3	· · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · ·	
Watch 1 August Watch 2	Network 0	Watch 4 Watch 5	Address 1		
Watch 3 Watch 4	0	Watch 6	20		
Watch 5		Watch 7	1 20		
Watch 6	s <b>Ma</b> Find St Compile	Watch 8	1		

×		Inputs		perand	Addr 3. C	lick on the desir	ed Watch folde	r.	Elevator A Elevator B	rmat	Description
-		1. Right-click the ope	rand.	MI	1	V		X	Safety Sunctions	EC EC	A Value
	wio	memory dits		MI	2	V		27	Watch 4	EC	B Value
	SB	System Bits		M	3				Watch 5	EC	C Value
	М	Memory Integer				Show In Us	e Only		Watch 6	EC	A+B
	SI	System Integer	2. Selec	t insert to \	Watch.	Show All O	perands		Watch 7	EC	B+A
	ML	Memory Long		1711				1 East	Watch 8	EC	A+B+C
- 11	SL	System Long		MI	7	Insert MI	3° To Watch 🕖		movero	EC	C+A+B
		President and American									
		Operands 🐺 Wa	itches	🐧 Find	🔅 Compile	🛛 👂 Event Lo	og 🛛				

# **Information Mode**

Information Mode is a utility that is embedded in the operating system of the controller. Via Information Mode, you can view data on the LCD screen, use the controller's keyboard to directly edit data, and perform certain actions such as resetting the controller. You can enter Information Mode at any time without regard to what is currently displayed on the LCD screen.

Enter Information Mode by pressing the <i> key for a few seconds. The default password is 1111.



Viewing data does not affect the controller's program. Performing actions, such as initializing the controller, can influence the program.

Note that when you use Information Mode, the keyboard is dedicated to that purpose. The keys return to normal application functions when you exit Information Mode.

## **Using Information Mode**

- 1. To enter Information mode, press the  $\langle i \rangle$  key on the Vision's keyboard.
- 2. Enter your password. The default password is 1111. This password remains in effect until you change it via the Information Mode screen described in the table below.
- 3. The controller enters Information Mode, showing the first category, Data Types. Use the <Enter> key to enter a category.
- 4. Press the <ESC> key to exit a category, and to exit Information mode.



The controller will block entry into Information mode until the correct password has been entered. This is why you must record any password you set for your controller.

The data in Information Mode is arranged in Categories. Each Category contains several Subjects. You navigate Information Mode by using the keyboard buttons.

To exit Information mode, press the <ESC>button on the Vision's keyboard. Each press returns one level up. Press the number of times necessary to exit.

## **Note** • When you reenter Information Mode, the controller will return to the last Category viewed.

## V290 only

•

Note that in order enter Information Mode, you touch the V290's touchscreen in an area that is not occupied by a Keypad Entry variable or other screen object that has been assigned a Touch Property. Maintain contact for several seconds, until the controller enters Information Mode. The V290 displays Information Mode options on the touchscreen exactly as other Vision controllers display these options on their LCD screens.

To navigate through Information Mode, use touchscreen keys just as the keypad keys are used in other Vision controllers.

The table below shows the categories of information that can be accessed in this mode.

## Info System Operands

INFO mode, SB 36

#	Description	Turned ON	Turned Off	Comments
SB 36	INFO mode	By OS, Remote Access, or program	Turns OFF when user exits Info Mode	Delay time to enter Info Mode is 4 seconds, may be modified via SI 50

## INFO Delay time, SI 50

#	Description	Value	Comments
SI 50	INFO delay time	Default by O/S (every power up) = 4 seconds	<ul> <li>Units: seconds.</li> <li>Legal values: 0, 3 to 20.</li> <li>If you force or store '0' into equal Zero – INFO is disabled.</li> <li>For V290 – Touching the <i>key on the touch screen starts Info Mode – Touching a legal Ladder application variable clears the INFO time.</i></li> </ul>

Category	Subject	Possible Actions
Data Types	Memory Bits	• View bit status
	System Bits	Change bit status (Set/Reset)
	Memory Integers	• View integer/long integer/double word value.
	System Integers	Change values
	Memory Longs	• Toggle Base: view the value in decimal or hexadecimal form.
	System Longs	
	Memory Double Words	
	System Double Words	
	Inputs	• View input status.
		<ul> <li>Force input status to 1 (FR1) or 0 (FR0). Forced values stay in effect until Normal mode (NRM) is selected, or until the controller is initialized or reset.</li> <li>Note • Forced values do influence your program. This can be useful in testing the effect of an input condition on an output status.</li> </ul>
	Outputs	• View output status.

		• Force output status to 1 (FR1) or 0 (FR0). Note that forced output values do not affect your program.
		• Set/Reset output status.
	Timers	• Enter a Preset Timer value.
		• View the current timer value and status by selecting the R.T. option.
System	Model & O/S Ver	• Check the controller's model number and operating system version.
		Check whether the controller is in Run or Stop mode.
	Working Mode	• Check whether the controller is in Run or Stop mode.
		• Reset the controller. This restarts your program; restoring power-up values to all data types except for those protected by the battery backup. The battery protects Real Time Clock (RTC), all operand, and Data Table values.
		• Initialize the controller. This restarts your program and initializes all values, restoring 0 values to all data types.
	Time & Date	• View the Real Time Clock (RTC) settings. Note that the RTC settings control all time-based functions.
		• Change the RTC settings via the controller's keyboard.
	Unit ID	The Unit ID number identifies a networked controller. You can:
		• Change the ID number. The new ID number will remain in effect until the controller is reset.
		• Burn the ID number into the controller's FLASH memory. This is a permanent change.
	Serial Port 1	• View and edit communication settings.
	Serial Port 2	• Select to Change or Burn the new settings.
	CANbus Baud Rate	Change the CANbus baud rate.
Function Block	Reserved for future use	
Password	New	Set a New Password
Hardware Configuration		<ul> <li>Check if I/O Expansion Modules are installed. Note that I/O Expansion Modules are represented by letters. Identical module types are represented by identical letters as shown below.</li> <li>Shows if an I/O module is short-circuited.</li> </ul>

Identical letters signify identical I/O Expansion Module types		
FI	HW Configuration	Xno I/O Expansion Module installed
F2	Short OCOOVECOO Snap None Shorted	Shows that an I/O on Expansion Module #5 is short-circuited
Snap-in Module are not short-circuited		F6

# **COM Ports and Data Communications**

Information regarding the communications features of specific Vision models is available from your local Unitronics distributor, or export@unitronics.com.

## **Com Ports**

Serial	All Vision controllers comprise RS232 serial communication ports. RS232/RS485 adaptors are available by separate order. Certain models, such as the Vision120, support both RS232 and RS485. For details on communications hardware settings, refer to the User Guides and documentation supplied with relevant models.
CANbus	Separate CANbus ports are built into specific controller models.
Ethernet	Ethernet ports are available by separate order.
Note ●	All ports can be used simultaneously. For example, a single controller may use one serial port to send messages to a modem via RS232, another port to communicate with a frequency converter, while the controller engages in communications via its CANbus port.
•	Standard programming cables do not provide connection points for pins 1 and 6.

## Initializing COM ports

- Serial and CANbus communication ports must be initialized in your control program using the COM Init FB, located on the FB's menu.
- The Ethernet port must be initialized using the Ethernet Card Init FB, located under Ethernet on the FB's menu.

## **Data Communications Options**

Data Communications include all of the options shown below:

- CANbus Networking
- Modems, Landline, GSM, and CDMA
- GPRS
- Ethernet

## **Communication FBs**

- SMS messaging
- GPRS
- MODBUS (serial)
- MODBUS IP (Ethernet)
- Communications Protocol FB

## PC-Vision communications

- PC-Modem Configuration
- Remote Access: Accessing a PLC via PC
- Accessing a Networked PLC via PC

## About Modems

Unitronics' controllers can be hooked up to PSTN (landline), GSM, or CDMA modems via the RS232 COM port.

## PC-side Modems

You can use a PC modem to access a remote, modem-linked controller and perform any task, just as you would if the PLC were directly connected to your PC. For example, you can

- Download, upload, and edit the controller program via the modem connection.
- Run Online test mode.
- Download an OS to the controller via modem.
- Use OnLine test and Information Mode to troubleshoot problems in remote controllers and applications.
- Read and write data to/from controllers via Remote Access or Unitronics' communication .dll utilities.

## PLC-side modems

Via modem, a Vision controller can communicate data using:

- MODBUS (serial) commands.
- VisiLogic's Communication Protocol FB, which enables Vision controllers to communicate data with most external serial devices, such as bar-code readers and frequency converters, via their proprietary protocols.
- SMS messages. The SMS FB enables text messages, including variable data, to be sent and received via GSM and CDMA modems.

## Modem services,

Located on the Connections menu, Modem Services enables you to use your PC to:

- Prepare/initialize PC & PLC side modems.
- Dial a PLC modem and receive calls from a PLC.
- Send SMS messages to a PLC.

# **Getting Started with Ladder**

## Ladder Net

The Ladder diagram contains a left and right rail. Between these rails, the control application is arranged in nets. A net contains a row of Ladder elements that drive a coil. Power flows through the ladder elements in a net from left to right. Each net must contain only one rung.

This is why the first ladder element in the net must touch the left Ladder rail. All of the elements in a net must be connected to allow power flow. You do not need to connect the last element on the right to the right side of the ladder in each net.

If the elements in a net are not connected, the software will display an error message when you compile your project.

	The firs be con power	st element must nected to the left rail.	A w c	All of the eler vithin a net n connected.	nents nust be				: :		:			-			:								
		3	MB 0 Start-up	EN HOU FROM: TO:	ENO /R 09:00 17:00		Entr	MB 12 ance	Light																
E Ladder	🛄 нм	•								_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	Þ
Ť	Туре	Module	Function	Net									Desc	ription	n I										
_	1	Main Module	Main Routine	Net 3								Jnco	nnec	ted el	emer	nt									
E LDR	1	Main Module	Main Routine	Net 3								Jnco	nnec	ted el	emer	nt									
	1	Main Module	Main Routine	Net 3								Jnco	nnec	ted el	emer	nt									
	2	Main Module	Main Routine	Net 3									lleg	al Net											

## Placing a Ladder Element in a Net

- 1. Select any type of Ladder element by:
- Clicking its icon on the Ladder toolbar, -or-



- Selecting it from the Ladder menu, -or-
- Right-clicking on the Ladder to display the Ladder menu and then selecting the element.
- 2. Move the element to the desired net location, then click.



3. Link operands using the Select Operand and Address dialog box shown below.

Select Operand And Address	×
Pig Direct 🗒 Const 🚰 Network	
MI 1 Pressure 250	0k Cancel
অ	[

## Placing a Function in a Net

1. Select any type of Ladder function by:

- Selecting it from the Ladder toolbar, -or-
- Selecting it from the Ladder menu, -or-
- Right-clicking on the Ladder to display the Ladder menu and then selecting the function.
- 2. Move the function to the desired net location, then click.

	Mo the Not fun an left end	ve th net i e tha ction elem ladd able ;	e fu loca it th i mu ent er r	inct tior e ist t or t ail t rer	ion ouc he o flow	to h																					
l	٢	1000	8.40	2 4 1	 1999	V	Í	1	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	1	1	÷	÷	1	1	1	÷	÷	÷	1	÷	÷	1
l			evat.				1	Ì.	Ì,	1	÷	1	÷	1	÷.	Ì.	÷	1	2	2	Ì.	Ì.	÷	1	÷	÷	÷.
l							·\	÷	÷	·	ł	÷	÷	÷	÷			÷			a	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷
l	_		-	. '				2	÷€ ∶	Ę						ľ	<u>.N</u>	AD	<u>E</u> D	NC							
l	3	· ·	÷	÷	• •			÷	÷	22		C				L					1			ň			88
l			1	1	: :		1	1	1							1^	4			C	Η			Ĩ			
									•												ŀ	÷	÷		÷	÷	
		· ·	1	1	• •		•	•	÷			C	)			E	)					÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	1
I	1	1.	1	1	1		1	1	1	202	999		898	1010	999	L					1	1	1	1	1	1	1

3. Link operands using the Select Operand and Address dialog box.

## **Connecting Ladder Elements and Functions**

Use the Connect Elements tool to connect two or more elements or functions in a net. All net elements must be connected in order to allow power to flow through the net. If they are not connected you will not be able to compile your application.

## **Connecting Elements**



## **Linking Operands to Elements**

When you place a Ladder element or function on a net, the Select Operand and Address dialog box opens. All of the operands and operand types that are displayed in the Select Operand and Address dialog box are applicable to the element or function that you have selected. To edit an operand attached to an element, you can also double-click on the yellow Description field of an element after it has been placed in the Ladder.

You can search for a particular operand by using the Search: Symbolic Name function at the bottom of the dialog box.

Select Operand And Address	X
MI 1 Pressure	Ok
DEC 🔽 🔂 250	Lancel
2)	]

## Nets: Sizing and Resizing

To shrink a net to its minimum height, double-click the net's left-hand rail.

Nets can be also manually resized.



The Ladder menu contains two options that enable you to resize nets throughout a project.



## Adding and Inserting Nets

To add a net to the bottom of your Ladder:

• Select the Append Ladder icon from the Insert menu; a net is added to the bottom of the Ladder application.

To insert a Ladder net:

- 1. On the Ladder toolbar, click on the Insert Net icon 😾; your cursor changes into a cross-hairs.
- 2. Click on a net; the new net is inserted above the net you clicked on.

## Move, Copy, & Paste Nets

1. Select the desired net(s).



2. Select the desired operation.



-or-

Select Cut or Copy from the Edit menu.

3. Place the elements in the net.



-or-Select Paste from the Edit menu.

You can also cut, copy and paste nets between projects, subject to the information listed below:

- Once you have cut or copied your selection from the source project, open a target project without closing VisiLogic, either by using the New Project or Open project buttons or via these options on the Project menu. If you close VisiLogic, the selection will be lost.
- If the source project contains Call Subroutine or Load HMI operations, note that the referenced elements will be marked as missing, even if the target project contains elements of the same name. Note that you can reassign the references.



- If the selection contains FBs, and no FBs of that type currently exist in the target project, the pasted FBs will be the version currently in VisiLogic FB library--in other words, if the source selection contains older FB versions, they are automatically updated during the Paste operation.
- If the selection contains FBs, and FBs of that type currently exist in the target project in a different version, Paste cannot be completed.
- If your selection contains only Labels, without the attendant Jump to Label, they will be marked as missing, even if the target project contains Jumps of the same name. Note that you can reassign the references.



• If the selection contains Labels or Jumps with the same name as those in the target project, these will be automatically renamed by the program when they are pasted.

	Skip initialization
Since these 2 labels have the same name,	
automaically added to the pasted selection.	MISSING (IBH)
	Skip initialization(2)

• If you copy both Labels and Jump to Label, the Jumps will be marked as missing. Note that you can reassign the references.

Although both the Label and Jump were pasted, the Jump	Skip initialization	
must be reassigned.	Skip initialization       MISSING (Skip       initialization       Skip initialization	Ok Cancel Help
:		

## Move, Copy & Paste Elements

Ladder elements and functions may also be dragged and dropped between nets.

1. Select the desired element(s).



2. Select the desired function.



-or-

Select Cut or Copy from the Edit menu.

3. Place the elements in the net.

-or-Select Paste from the Edit menu.

Note that when you paste elements into a net, the elements paste into the same relative location in the new net. The elements 'remember' their original net location. Therefore, before you paste elements into a net that already contains elements, move any elements that occupy the same position as the paste selection.

## Move, Copy, & Paste between Projects

You can cut, copy and paste both HMI Displays and Ladder nets between projects, subject to the information listed below.

Once you have cut or copied your selection from the source project, open a target project without closing VisiLogic, either by using the New Project or Open project buttons or via these options on the Project menu. If you close VisiLogic, the selection will be lost.

ا	label	CC.vlp	p - Unil	tronics	VisiLo	gic OPLC IDE	- [Ladd	er Ap	plicatio	on (Main N
Pro	oject	<u>E</u> dit	⊻iew	Insert	Build	<u>C</u> onnection	<u>L</u> adder	H <u>M</u> I	<u>H</u> elp	
	<u>N</u> ew									Ctrl+N
2	Oper	n	•0							Ctrl+O
	Sava	3								Ctrl+S
	Save	e <u>A</u> s…								
	Syst	em De	scriptio	ns						•
	1 C:	\Progr	am File:	s\Unitron	ics\Visi	Logic\Applicat	ions\Jabel	CC.vlp		
	2 C:	\Progr	am File:	s\Unitron	ics\Visi	Logic\Applicat	ions\sms (	cara.vl	p	
	3 C:	\Progr	am File:	s\Unitron	ics\Visi	Logic\Example	s\Display	_Show	.vlp	
	4 S:I	(Lior\¥	ision Te	sting(mo	dbus_s	slave_master.	vlp			
	Prop	erties								
	E⊻it									Alt+Q

Ladder

 If the source project contains Call Subroutine or Load HMI operations, note that the referenced elements will be marked as missing, even if the target project contains elements of the same name. Note that you can reassign the references.



- If the selection contains FBs, and no FBs of that type currently exist in the target project, the
  pasted FBs will be the version currently in VisiLogic FB library--in other words, if the source
  selection contains older FB versions, they are automatically updated during the Paste operation.
- If the selection contains FBs, and FBs of that type currently exist in the target project in a different version, Paste cannot be completed.
- If your selection contains only Jumps, without the attendant Labels, they will be marked as missing, even if the target project contains Labels of the same name. Note that you can reassign the references.

	💭 Select Label	×
	) Label	
MISSING (IbI1)	Intialize Skip initialization	Ok Cancel Help
SB 2		

• If the selection contains Jumps and Labels with the same name as those in the target project, the Jump, Label and link between them will be automatically recreated by VisiLogic when they are pasted.

	Skip initialization	
Since these 2 labels have the same name, the number 2 was automaically added to the pasted selection	MISSING (IbIT)	
		-
	Skip initialization(2)	•

In this way, VisiLogic maintains the integrity of the links between Jumps and their corresponding Labels.

Display elements

- When you paste elements into a Display, the elements paste into the same relative area in the new net. The elements 'remember' their original location. Therefore, before you paste elements into a Display that already contains elements, move any elements that occupy the same position as the Paste selection.
- If you paste variables that are linked to named constant values, note that the constant's description is lost during the paste operation.
- Variables do not retain their descriptions; they are renamed as Variable 1, Variable 2, etc..

## **Deleting Nets**

First, select the desired nets.

- To select one net
- Click on the left rail of a net to select it; the rail in that net turns grey.



- To select more than one net:
  - 1. Select the first net by clicking on the left net bar.



2. Hold the Shift button and click on the last net in the range that you want to copy.



To move the selected nets,

Press the Delete button on your computer keyboard; the net is deleted and all of the nets in your project move up.

## **Comments Tool**

Ladder Editor Comments enable you to place remarks program nets. Comments can be written directly into the Comment pane, or written in Notepad and pasted.

Comments are not downloaded to the controller. To toggle Comments in and out of view, press <Alt> + <C>, or select the option from the View menu.

## Insert a comment:

1. Click on the Comment icon 🗐; your cursor changes into a cross-hairs .

-or-Select Insert Comment from either the Insert or Ladder menu. -or-

Right-click on the Ladder, and then select Insert Comment.

- 2. Click on a net; a Comment field opens in the net you clicked.
- 3. Type text in the field.


#### Move, Copy, and Paste Comments:

1. Select the Comment.



2. Place the Comment in the net.



-or-Select Paste from the Edit menu.

#### **Delete a Comment**

1. Select the Comment.



2. Select Delete. -or-

Press the Delete button on your PC's keyboard.

## Undo

VisiLogic supports up to 10 Undo/Redo actions.



The list of supported actions is shown below.

Ladder	HMI	Project
Delete ladder element	Delete HMI Display	Compile
Delete ladder net	Delete HMI Elements	Build All
Delete Comments	Clear HMI Display	
Cut Ladder Elements	Cut HMI Element	
Cut Ladder Net	Paste HMI Elements	
Paste Ladder Element		
Paste Ladder Net		
Clear Sub		
Import Sub		

## **Changing an Element's Operand**

To edit an element's operand:

Double-click the operand, Select Operand and Addre box opens.	Assign a new nd Addr Address. Net State of the second
4	
	#1 A B MIO Status Code
1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

The element appears on the net with the new Operand, Address and symbol.

#### **Power-up Values**

Power-up values can be assigned to most operands. These values are written into the operands when the controller is turned on.

Bit operands can be SET or RESET. Integers, Long Integers, and Double Words can be assigned values that are written into the operand at power-up.

You can assign Power-up Values in the:

Select Operand and Address Dialog Box

Check the box next to the plug-shaped icon. This enables you to enter a value in the Power-up value fill-in field.

Select Operand And Address	×
📲 Direct 📲 Const 📴 Net	
MI Start Tempe Value	Cancel
DEC 🔽 🔂 🖉	
2)	

- Operand View Window
  - 1. Select the Operand tab at the bottom of the screen.
  - 2. Click on the Operand type to display the list of operands.
  - 3. Enter Power-up values in the column headed by the Power-up icon.

Ladder HMI			Power-up value		
× MI	Memory Integer	Operand	Address	In Use	√ @
SI	System Integer	MI	0		24
ML	Memory Long	MI	1		1024

#### Program Sequencing: Modules, Subroutines, Labels & Jumps

A module is a container of subroutines. Use modules and subroutines to divide your application into program blocks. You can then run these program blocks conditionally, from any point in your control application.



Note ●	Within the program tree, elements are presented alphabetically. This does not affect the order in which the program runs.
•	Ladder Modules and subroutines can be moved via drag-and-drop, as can HMI Modules and Displays. Again, moving elements does not affect the order in which they run.
	The Main Ladder Module, Main Subroutine, Start-up HMI Module and the Start-up HMI Display cannot be moved via drag-and-drop or erased. For easy identification, they are always marked in orange.
To contro call subro and Jump	l the Ladder program flow sequence and avoid loops, use the Call Subroutine function to conditionally utines. Within a subroutine, you control the sequence by conditionally skipping over nets using Labels to Label functions. This enables you to shorten the program scan time.

A new VisiLogic project contains the main module and subroutine for the program. Each new subroutine contains a default number of nets and a Subroutine Return function.

Subroutines do not run if they are not called by Call Subroutine. If no Call Subroutine commands are included in the first subroutine of the main module, the program runs until it reaches the Subroutine Return function, and then jumps back to the beginning of the first subroutine.

Note •	If a subroutine does not run, the coils in that subroutine will not be updated. For example, Subroutine 4 contains $\xrightarrow{\text{MB0}}$ . If MB0 is turned ON in Subroutine 1, but Subroutine 4 is not called, O0 is not updated. The order in which I/Os are updated depend on the PLC program scan.
•	Some FBs require Configuration, such as SMS. The FB Configuration should be placed in the first subroutine of the main program module. If a Configuration is in a subroutine that is not called into the program, linked FBs will not be processed even if the activating condition for that FB has been turned ON.

Subroutines can be reused as many times as required. Subroutines can also be exported and imported between projects.

#### PLC Program Scan

A scan is a complete execution of the controller's entire program. The scan cycle is performed continuously.

Note • Power-up tasks, relating to the status of SB2 Power-up bit, are performed when the controller is



#### Reads Physical Inputs

Reads input values from onboard inputs, expansion modules, and network (CANbus).

Writes input values into the PLC memory. These input values are used to process the Ladder program.



### Call Subroutine & Subroutine: Return





#### Within Subroutines: Labels & Jumps

### **Protecting Subroutines**

You can create a Ladder Password, then apply it to protect multiple subroutines. When a subroutine is protected, a user cannot export/import it. In addition, the user cannot open, copy, or print it without supplying the password.

#### Creating and Using a Password

1. To create a password, select File>Set Ladder Password; then fill in the password field.

🗯 Ladde	r Protection	×
Password:	RNRAKE	
Verify:	8080608	_
	OK Cancel Help	

2. To apply the password to a subroutine, right-click the subroutine's name in the Project Navigation window, then select Set as Protected; a small padlock icon is displayed nest to the subroutine's name.

You can also right-click a module's name and select Protect All Subroutines in Module.



- **Note** Protection is applied after VisiLogic (not just the project) is closed and reopened.
- 3. To remove protection from a subroutine, right-click the protected subroutine's name, then select Set AS Unprotected; the padlock icon disappears.

🖻 📕 Ladder	^				
🖃 🔚 I Main Module		41			
Main Routine		1/1			
Confirm Step-Def	a				
Delete progra	-	101			
Edit-Confirm step		Open	Subro	utine : Delete program	
	Ð	Add N	ew Su	broutine	
	Ŷ	Net H	sight		•
	4	Find S	ubrou	tine : Delete program	_
	-	Set as	unpro	otected	
				1.2	

You can remove protection from a module in the same way.



**Note** • The same password may be used for different projects.

#### **Deleting a Ladder Password**

1. To delete a Ladder password from a project, select File>Unset Ladder Password.

#### Import/Export Subroutines

You can export Subroutines and save them as .vlx files, then import them into other projects. You can import/export single Subroutines, or all of the subroutines in a Module. Note that you cannot export Subroutines from the Main Module.

Exporting a single Subroutine

1. Right-click the desired Subroutine and select Export Subroutine, -or-

select Export Subroutine from the Project menu; the Select Subroutine box opens.

2. Select the desired subroutine, then save it to the desired folder.

🔆 Select Operand And Address	×
🔁 Subroutine	
Main Module Main Routine Program select Program edit Executi Heating Step	Ok     Cancel     Help

Exporting all of the Subroutines in a Module

1. Right-click the desired module and select Export All Subroutines.

	5	Add New Module
- 권 յս	-21	Add New Subroutine
- 🔁 La	$\times$	Delete Module : Config Module
🔁 Bi		Bename
🔄 🔄 🔁 S 📭	=	Kenallie
🗄 🔄 Config	- 🗈	Export All Subroutines In Module
🖽 🗃 Global	-	Import Subroutines To Module 场
🗠 🖂 Main Ma	OGGIO E	

2. Save the .vlx file to the desired folder.

Note that when you import this .vlx file, all of the Subroutines it contains will be imported.

#### Import

1. Right-click a module name and select Import Subroutine, -or-

Select Import Subroutine from the Project menu; the Open box appears.

2. Select the desired subroutine, then save it to the desired folder.

Open					? ×
Look in:	🔁 Subroutine Lit	orary	•	+ 🗈 💣 🎟	
History Desktop My Documents My Computer	Cooling step.vl Holding step.vl Heating step.vl Execute.vl; Siz	x x lx pe: VLX File re: 176 KB			
	File name:	Execute		•	Open
My Network P	Files of type:	×.vlx		•	Cancel

Import/Export is subject to the limitations below.

• If the source project contains Call Subroutine or Load HMI operations, note that the referenced elements will be marked as missing, even if the target project contains elements of the same name. Note that you can reassign the references.

This pasted Subroutine is marked missing; however you can double-click it to select a new Subroutine target.	Select Subroutine	X
MISSING (Subroutine 1)	Image: Main Module       Image: Main Routine       Image: Description Sub       Image: Description Sub	Ok Cancel Help

- If the selection contains an FB operation related to an FB Configuration, and is imported into an application containing an FB Configuration of the same name, the links will be retained.
   If, for example, you export a subroutine containing an SMS Send FB linked to SMS Configuration 'Denmark' and then import this subroutine into another application containing an SMS Configuration 'Denmark', the SMS Send FB will automatically link to 'Denmark'.
- If the selection contains FBs, and no FBs of that type currently exist in the target project, the pasted FBs will be the version currently in VisiLogic FB library--in other words, if the source selection contains older FB versions, they are automatically updated during the Paste operation.
- If the selection contains FBs, and FBs of that type currently exist in the target project in a different version, Paste cannot be completed.
- If your selection contains only Jumps, without the attendant Labels, they will be marked as missing, even if the target project contains Labels of the same name. Note that you can reassign the references.



• If the selection contains Jumps and Labels with the same name as those in the target project, the Jump, Label and link between them will be automatically recreated by VisiLogic when they are pasted.

In this way, VisiLogic maintains the integrity of the links between Jumps and their corresponding Labels.

	Skip initialization
Since these 2 labels have the same name, the number 2 was	
automaically added to the pasted selection.	MISSING (1611)
	01.5.535.6.455.00
	Skip initialization(2)

Note that the following symbols cannot be used in subroutine names:
 /\|\*:!"<>.

When importing/exporting from older VisiLogic programs containing such symbols, they will be automatically replaced by underscore characters.

### Ladder Logic

You use Ladder Logic to write your project application. Ladder is based on Boolean principals and follows IEC 1131-3 conventions.

Ladder Diagrams are composed of different types of contact, coil and function block elements. These elements are placed in nets.

In any Ladder Diagram, the contacts represent input conditions. They lead power from the left rail to the right rail. Coils represent output instructions. In order for output coils to be activated, the logical state of the contacts must allow the power to flow through the net to the coil.

## **Toggling between PLC and HMI Editors**



# **Getting Started with Displays**

## **Text in HMI Displays**

Displays can contain both fixed and Variable text. Fixed (constant) text does not change according to run-time conditions. Variable text can show run-time values, such as timer values, or display operating instructions according to system status.

## **Graphic Images in Displays**

Simple geometric shapes can be drawn on a Display.

Graphic images can be imported from the Image Library, or created with a program such as Microsoft Paint and then imported.

- Fixed graphic images This type of image stays on the screen and does not change until a different Display is loaded by the program.
- Variable graphic images
   Variable images change according to the value of a linked operand. Binary Image Variables are linked to bit operand status (MB, SB, I, T, O). List Image Variables are linked to integers (MI, SI, ML, SL)

You can draw graphic images directly on a Display, or import images.

- **Note** Although an imported image can be resized, resizing may result in some degree of distortion. To avoid this, use images that are created to match the required size.
  - The HMI display uses a grid which spaces the lines 8 pixels apart. To optimize Displays and shorten the PLC cycle time, images and variables should be aligned to grid.



### **Copy & Paste Displays**

You can copy and paste Display elements.

1. Copy the Display element(s) or select all of the elements in a Display.



2. Paste the elements into the Display.



-or-

Select Paste from the Edit menu.

Note •

- When you paste elements into a Display, the elements paste into the same relative area in the new net. The elements 'remember' their original location. Therefore, before you paste elements into a Display that already contains elements, move any elements that occupy the same position as the paste selection.
  - If you paste variables that are linked to named constant values, note that the constant's description is lost during the paste operation.
  - Variables do not retain their descriptions; they are renamed as Variable 1, Variable 2, etc..
  - To copy elements between projects, copy your selection from the source project, then open a target project without closing VisiLogic, either by using the New Project or Open project buttons or via these options on the Project menu. If you close VisiLogic, the selection will be lost.

## **Getting Started with Variables**

Variables enable you to show run-time values, text, images, and bar graphs on the controller's screen in response to run-time conditions. Bit, or binary text variables, for example, display text messages on the controller's LCD screen according to the status of a bit operand.

A Display may contain up to 24 variables.

You can also use Keypad Entry Variables to enable an operator to enter a password, or data such as setpoints from the controller's keyboard.

#### Variable Editor

When you insert a variable into a display, the Variable Editor opens, showing you the options that are relevant for that type of Variable.



After you have inserted Variables into a display, they are shown with that display in the Project tree.



## Inserting a Variable into a Display

To show variable data, you first create a field in the Display. The field is a container that holds the data.



#### Getting Started



A field that is not big enough to contain its data is red. To resize a field, click it and drag the edges.



# Hardware Configuration

Hardware Configuration opens automatically when you first create a new project. In order to open Hardware

Configuration in an existing project, either select Hardware Configuration from the View menu or click the **m** button on the toolbar.

Click on the appropriate icon to select the model Vision, the Snap-in I/O module, and any I/O Expansion modules required by your application.

After you select the Snap-in or Expansion I/O modules connected to the controller, you can configure inputs: analog, digital, and high-speed counter/shaft-encoder/frequency measurers and PT100; and outputs: analog, digital, and PWM high-speed outputs.

**Note** • You must select the correct Vision model and Snap-in I/O modules before downloading your project.



# I/O Expansion Modules

**Configuring a PT100 Input** 



#### **Getting Started**

3. Select Op type and a	erand ddress. 41 6 Selected	An 4 64 1 5. Select Hexac	Assign descrip fempera Hi t Decimal.	n a otion. ature Gaug	e Cancel Cancel 6. To assign a Power-up value, click on the check box to enable the Power-up field, then enter the value.
data appea	ars in place.			-	
1100	AKI	Op  /	Addr	€	Description
1	Selected 🎽	MI I	64	H-0320	Temperature Gauge

## **Configuring I/O Expansion Modules**

<b>Note</b> • I/O Expansion Modules may require an adapter. Check with your distributor for additional detail	s.
Vision       IO-DIB-TOE       Navigate between the different types of ID-S by clicking on the tabs.       X         Vision       Snapiri ND       IO-DIB-TOE       ID-S by clicking on the tabs.       X         IVD Expansion Module, or different types of ID-DIB-TOE       ID-DIB-TO	

## High-Speed Counters: I/O Expansion Modules

Certain digital inputs on certain I/O Expansion Modules are high-speed inputs that can be used as a 16-bit high-speed counter of the following types:

- High-Speed Counter
- High-Speed Counter with Reset
- Frequency Measurer

### **Configuring a High-Speed Counter**



The linked operand contains the counter value which is current at the last program scan. Use this operand in your program like any other.

# Snap-in I/O Expansion Modules

## Configuring Snap-in I/O Modules

🦉 Hardware Configuratio	X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Navigate between the different types of I/Os by clicking on the tabs.
Vision	unseen tabs.
Click to select and	🚽 🕂 Digital Inputs 🚽 Digital Ourputs 🕖 Analog Inputs 🎇 High Speed Inputs 🛄 Hi
open the Snap-in	
I/O Module.	Op Add: Description
- None	
	I 2
V200-18-E1	PNP I 3
V200.18.518	1 7
20010-10	
V200-18-E2B	
ALCONOMIC AND A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIP	
	I 15
S de la compañía de la	
1 1 1 1 1 1 S .	INPUT
×***	
NO Expansions	
Number	of Inputs: 0 - Number of Outputs: 0

## High-Speed Counters: Snap-in I/O Modules

Certain digital inputs on Snap-in I/O Modules are high-speed inputs that can be used as a 32-bit high-speed counter of the following types:

- High-Speed Counter
- High-Speed Counter with Reset
- Frequency Measurer
- Shaft Encoder

## Configuring a High-Speed Counter



The linked operand contains the counter value which is current at the last program scan.

To measure frequency, click the second input field and select the sample rate.

Digital Inpu	ts 🛛 -{} Digital Outputs 🛛 🛷 Ar	ialog Ir	nputs	쌢 High	Speed Inputs	ні т
	1	Op	Addr	i) 🗘	Description	
1. Select the sample rate	Speed Counter with Reset (I1 Active L	М	32		Flow meter	
	<b>-</b>					
123 17	e Nencu Measurement 100 msec					
Free	uency Measurement 500 msec					
Free	uency Measurement 1000 msec 🛝					

2. Link an operand to contain the frequency value.	j Address		×		
MI 33	Frequency Value	•	Ol Cance	Speed Inputs	
20				Description	
LO1 High S	peed Counter with Reset (I1 Active L	MI 32		Flow meter	
Freque	ncy Measurement 500 msec				

#### High-Speed Counter: Reload

Reload enables you to immediately load 0 into a high-speed counter when the counter value reaches a target value.

This is the current counter value.	🛷 Analo	g Inputs High Speed Inputs	🌺 Higi	h Speed	l Inputs (Rel	load)
This is the target	Aduress	Туре	Op	Addr	(i)	Description
value.		High Speed Counter	MI	1		Counter Value
This MB turns ON for			D#		1000	Counter Target Value
a single scan when			MB	1		Reload Event
Reload occurs.			MB	2		Enable Reload
This MB is used to		None				
Enable Reload mode	122	None				
	12,3	None				
	145	None				
	14,5	None				

## **Configuring a High-Speed Counter**

Certain digital inputs on both Snap-in I/O and I/O Expansion modules can be used as high-speed counters in the following modes:

- High-Speed counter
- High-Speed counter with Reset
- Shaft encoder
- Frequency Measurer

**Note** • When you select High-Speed Counter with Reset, the controller uses an additional input for reset; shaft encoders also require the use of two inputs.

High-speed counters are built into the hardware, you define them as part of the controller's hardware configuration by first selecting the counter type and then linking it to an operand that contains the counter value.

Compare Functions and Counter Values

The high-speed counter value is read once during every program scan. For this reason, do not use the Equal (=) function together with high-speed counter values. If the counter does not reach the value required by the Equal function during the actual program scan, the function cannot register that the value has been reached. Use functions Greater Than Or Equal To ( $\geq$ ) and Lesser Than Or Equal To ( $\leq$ ).

# Configuring a High-speed Output (PWM)

You can use certain outputs as High-speed Outputs (HSO) via PWM (Pulse Width Modulation). When you select a High Speed Output in the Hardware, the Select Operand and Address dialog box appears three successive times, allowing you to link operands for the following values:

Duty Cycle

The ratio of the "on" period of a cycle to the total cycle period. This value may be from 0-1000, and is expressed as a percentage.

If, for example, the constant 750 is stored into the Duty Cycle operand, the duty cycle is equal to 75.0% This means that the pulse will hold a positive state during 75.0% of the total cycle.

Frequency (F)

Note that F=1/T, where T is the duration time of a complete cycle. Frequency settings differ from npn to pnp output type.

- npn: You can use a value of 0, or a value from 8-50000Hz ( 50kHz).
- pnp: You can use a value of 0, or a value from 8-1500HZ.

Other frequency values are not supported.

Run

Changes the operating mode of the output from normal output mode to HSO mode:

0 (SET)=Normal Mode, 1 (RESET): HSO Mode.

In the figure below, MI 22 Duty Cycle Value is equal to 250. This results in the duty cycle being 25% of the total cycle time.





If values out of range enter the Duty Cycle and Frequency operands, their values remain unchanged—the operands retain the last legal values stored.

### **Configuring the HSO**



Address T	уре	Op	Addr	(	Description
2. Select PVVM	ne				
mode.	ine 💌				
	ane				
H	igh Speed Output (PWM)				

#### Getting Started

3. Select Operand type and address. 4. Assign a description MI 22 Duty Cycle Value DEC C C 5. Select Decimal or Hexadecimal.	50 6. To vs bo fie	assign lue, clid x to en ld, ther	Ok Cancel a Power-up on the che able the Pow n enter the va	×I ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓
7. Link an operand to contain the Frequency Value.	<b>3</b>	<b>.</b>	Ok Cancel	
8. Link an operand to turn the PVM on and off. MB Stepper	SET NONE RESET SET		Ok Cance	
9. The output appears with all three linked operands.	00	Addr	Œ	Description
0 12 None				
High Speed Output (PWM)	MI	22	50	Duty Cycle Value
0 13	MI	23	180	Frequency Value
	MB	22	2	Stepper

# **Configuring an Analog Input**

Before you can use an analog input in your program, you must link it to an operand. An analog input value can be contained in an MI, ML, or DW.

	Inputs
1. Click on a line. Type Op Addr 🥶 Description	
2 None 3 None	
No. Type Op Addr 🕥 Description	
2. Select a range. None ▼ None 0-10V 0-20MA	
4-20mA PS	×
3. Select Operand type and address.	
MI 🔽 1 Level Sensor: Tank 1	Cancel
2     0-20mA     6. To assign a value, click box to enab field, then e	Power-up on the check ile the Power-up inter the value.
7. The analog input	
data appears in place, e Op Addr 🕥 Description	
2 0-20mA MI 1 12 Level Sensor: T	ank 1
3 None	

# **Analog Filters, PLC**

Analog filter options, defined in Hardware Configuration, are available in Vision120, V200-18-E3B, and certain I/O expansion models that offer analog inputs, such as the IO-ATC8. Note that 10-bit inputs do not offer filters.

Using a filter can help protect your system from fluctuating input readings. The filter processes values on a FIFO (First In First Out) basis. The filtering process is run after each new analog reading. Values can be processed further via the Filter FB.

The Filter field, shown below, is activated after you define the analog input.

## Getting Started

🌦 Hardware 🕻	onfi	gura	ation							
Vision	V	120	D-22-UA2	2	000000					
Snap-in I/O	•	IF	Digital Inputs	-() Digit	al Output:	s 🟹	D Ar	alog Inputs	Ľ	Analog Outputs
		No.	Туре	Filter	Mode	Op	Addr	<b>(</b>	Descript	ion
V120-22-UN2		0	4-20mA	Medium strer		м	1	1	nput 1	
		1	4-20mA	No filter 💌		MI	2	I	nput 2	
V120-22-R1				No filter Low strength	filter ath filter					
			Į	High strength	filter					
V120-22-R2C										
V120-2241A2										

Note •	Details regarding an I/O's specific resolution, conversion methods, and rates are given in the technical specifications supplied with Unitronics' controllers and I/O modules.
•	When you configure an analog input for use with the PID function, ensure best results by using the highest strength filter.

Filter Types	
Low	Calculates the average of the last two readings
Medium	Takes the last 4 readings, eliminates the lowest and highest values, then calculates the average of the 2 remaining values.
High	Takes the last 8 readings, eliminates the two lowest and the tow highest values, then calculates the average of the 4 remaining values.

# **Configuring an Analog Output**



# Analog I/O Ranges

Note that devices used in conjunction with the controller must be calibrated according to the available range. Below, Range refers to the value contained by the register that is linked to the I/O in Hardware Configuration.

Model number	Resolution	Range
V200-18-E1 (Snap-in I/O module) V120-12-R1, V120-12-R2C M90 controllers (analog input) M91-19-R1, M91-19-R2, R2C	10 bit (0-10V, 0-20mA, 4-20mA)	0-1023, 1024 units (except at 4-20mA) 204 to 1024, 820 units (at 4-20mA)
V120-12-UN2 M90-19-UN2 M91-19-TC2	14 bit (0-10V, 4-20mA) Temperature ranges appear in the	0-16383, 16384 units (except at 4-20mA) 3277-16383, 13107 units (at 4-20mA)

		following table	
IO-AI4-AO2	Input	12 bit (0-10V, 0-20mA, 4-20mA)	0-4095, 4096 units (except at4-20mA) 819 to 4095, 3277 units (at 4-20mA)
	Output	12 bit +sign (±10V, 0-20mA, 4-20mA)	0-+4095(except at4-20mA) 819 to 4095, 3277 units (at 4-20mA)

Model number	Туре	Input ranges	Analog Value
V120-12-UN2	mV	-5 to 56mV	-500 to 5600
M90-19-UN2 M91-19-TC2	Thermocouple type		
	В	200 to 1820°C (300 to 3276°F)	2000 to 18200 (3000 to 32760)
	Е	-200 to 750°C (-328 to 1382°F)	-2000 to 7500 (-3280 to 13820)
	J	-200 to 760°C (-328 to 1400°F)	-2000 to 7600 (-3280 to 14000)
	К	-200 to 1250°C (-328 to 2282°F)	-2000 to 12500 (-3280 to 22820)
	N	-200 to 1300°C (-328 to 2372°F)	-2000 to 13000 (-3280 to 23720)
	R	-0 to 1768°C (-32 to 3214°F)	-0 to 17680 (-32 to 32140)
	S	-0 to 1768°C (-32 to 3214°F)	-0 to 17680 (-32 to 32140)
	Т	-200 to 400°C (-328 to 752°F)	-200 to 4000 (-3280 to 7520)
IO-PT4		-50° to 460°C	-500° to 4600°C

# Working with Analog I/O Values

Analog values can be converted to physical values, for example Engineering Units (EU) such as degrees Celsius, by using the Linearization FB.

Note •

Analog I/O values are contained in the register that you link to the I/O in Hardware Configuration.

Linearizing an Analog Input Value

Hardware Con The analog inpu value is fed into Linearization FE	nfiguratio ut a 3.	n V12	-12-UN	2		57		8	
20-12	NUN2	No. 1 2	Type 4-20mA None	Filter Units No filter No filter	Iuts Dp Ac MI 2	Analog In 5000	puts High Sp	ee	
MI 2 Analog Inpu			MI1 Value in	Mbar .		0	3277 (4mA)	<b>16383</b>	×
Parame	Euro	Operand	Address		A.C.	Formal	Description	2011-1	
- Groms	X1	D#	3277		00	DEC L	Linear conversion: X1 Valu	e	
		D#	0	The linearized		DEC L	Linear conversion: Y1 Valu	e	
IN	×2	D#	16383	output is		DEC L	inear conversion: X2 Valu	e	
	Y2	D#	5000	stored in MI 1.		DEC L	inear conversion: Y2 Valu	e	
	X	MI	2		_	DEC /	Analog Input		_
	Y	MI	<b></b>			DEC	/alue in Mbar		
							OK Cancel	Help	

Linearizing an Analog Output Value



Working within the 4-20mA range

Available ranges, according to controller and I/O module, are shown in the topic Analog I/O ranges. Note that devices used in conjunction with the controller must be calibrated accordingly. In the examples below, the analog device is a pressure transducer; values are therefore translated to millibars.

10-bit Analog Input, V200-18-E1



12-bit Analog Input, IO-A14-AO2



		Operand	Address	٢	66	Format	Description	50
	X1	D#	819	-		DEC	Linear conversion: X1 Value	
	Y1	D#	0			DEC	Linear conversion: Y1 Value	
	X2	D#	4095			DEC	Linear conversion: X2 Value	
	¥2	D#	5000			DEC	Linear conversion: Y2 Value	
	X	MI	14			DEC	12-bit Analog Input: 10-AI4-AO2	
OUT	Y	MI	15			DEC	m8ar	



12-bit Analog Output, IO-A14-AO2

Lineariz	ation								y I	/
Params	Func	Operand	Address	G	66	Format	Description	<b>4095</b> (20mA)		
		D#	0	~		DEC	Linear conversion: X1 Value	` ´		
		D#	819			DEC	Linear conversion: Y1 Value			
	X2	D#	5000			DEC	Linear conversion: X2 Value			
		D#	4095			DEC	Linear conversion: Y2 Value			
		MI	12			DEC	mBar 0-5000	819	r	
OUT		MI	13			DEC	12-bit Analog Output IO-AI4-AO	(4mA)		
							Cancel		0 500	x 10

14-bit Analog Input, V120-12-UN2



# **Configuring Digital Inputs**

**Note** • PNP/NPN must be set within the hardware, as explained in the technical specifications supplied with the I/O module. The program settings do not influence the actual hardware input setting.

	-	Dig	ital Inpu	ts	-()- Digital Outputs	Enter the Input descriptions.	Speed Inputs Hit
		F N	I I I O PNI	0 1 2 3 4 •	ON Button OFF Buiton Level Sensor: Tank	1	
Set a group of inputs as PNP or NPN by clicking th bar as shown, then selecting a button.	ne	NPK		9 10 11 12 13 14 15			

You can also assign a single description to a several lines.



# **Configuring Digital Outputs**

Digital Outputs may be Relay or Transistor type.

**Note** • PNP/NPN must be set within the hardware, as explained in the technical specifications supplied with the I/O module. The program settings do not influence the actual hardware input setting.

To assign a Powe click on the Powe enable it, then ma	er-up v r-up fie ke you	alue, eld to r sele	ction.	<b>-()</b> Dig	gital -	Outputs	3	Enter	the Out	tput des	scription	IS.	nputs	<b>W</b> P	Hig	
				1		Descript Valve 11	ion Ifilet		-							
Relay Outputs	ſ	0	1	Set	-	Valve 2:	Outle	ət								
	RELAY	0	3	None Set												
		0	4	Resettiv	5											
	G	0	6													
	RELAY	0	7 8													
		0	9													
	E.	n	11													
	PNP	<u>,</u>	X													
			NP PN													
Transistor Output some I/O modules can be wired as e	s; in these either															

You can also assign a single description to a several lines.

# Assign a Description to Multiple Operands

To assign a Description to multiple operands, select a range of operands by dragging your cursor across them, then type a description and click OK.

You can also copy and paste text to and from other Windows applications.

Enter text		C P n d	lick Insert arameter t umberthe lescriptions	o
Description	🇯 Description	- MB O To MP	~	
Phone number 2	Add one descrip Phone number	tion for all the refecte	d operal	ок
Phone number 3 Phone number 4	Copy & Paste se	lected descriptions	1	
Phone number 5 Phone number 6	<b>B</b>	<u></u>		
Phone number 7			In	sert Parameter

# **Controller Settings**

# **Communication and OS-Controller Menu**

Via this menu, you can

- Set PC communication parameters (non-modem) to enable PC-PLC communication.
- Reset and initialize a PLC, enter Stop and Run modes, get RTC values as well as reset the RTC.
- Get COM Parameters and PLC status.
- Install an Operating System (O/S) in a PLC
- Check Network Status

## **Vision Communication PC Settings**

This defines the connection VisiLogic will use when downloading a program or carrying out other communication tasks. To display the current communication settings, select Communication & OS from the Connection menu.

Note that you can cause the Unit ID# to be permanently assigned to the project via Project Properties.

The default settings are shown below.

1

Select Communication Type	If your Vision contains an Ethernet port, you can select the Ethernet option. Serial is the default communication mode; note that if you select Ethernet and close the project, the setting reverts to Serial.
PC COM Parameters	Port, Retries and Time-Out are the communication settings between VisiLogic and the controller. Note that if you are working with a network, the TimeOut should be greater than 1 second.
Communicate with OPLC	Use these options to communicate with networked controllers. Direct Connection: select this to communicate with any controller that is connected to your PC via the download cable, including a network bridge. Within Network:select this to communicate with a controller that is integrated into a network, then select the controller's ID number Note • ID numbers 1-63 are reserved for controllers linked via CANbus; ID numbers 64-127 are reserved for controllers networked via RS485. Using this range of ID numbers prevents a polled controller from attempting to act as a CANbus bridge, preventing it from attempting to locate the requested controller.
Vision OPLC Information	Click Get OPLC Information to display information about the controller you have selected in Communicate with OPLC.

# Run, Reset, Initialize

When you click one of the buttons shown in the figure below, your PC will access the controller selected in Communicate with OPLC.

Set RTC	These are the values of your PC's clock. Click Set RTC to import these values into the RTC of the controller.
Get Vision RTC Current Values	Click to view the current PLC settings
Run	Click to run the current program in the PLC.
Stop	Click to stop the current PLC program.
Reset	Click to reset the PLC, and reinstall any values preset in the program, such as Timers.
Reset & Initialize	Click to reset, reinstall any preset values, and initialize all memory operands

## Get COM Parameters and PLC status

Select Get to view communication parameters and PLC status in the controller you are currently communicating with. This is the controller selected in Communicate with OPLC.

## **Downloading an OS**

Selecting an OS version via the drop-down arrow and clicking Download installs a new Operating System (OS, OS) into the controller.

Note that System Fonts are used to by the controller to show system messages that are not part of your program, such as a message that the controller is in Stop Mode. These fonts are part of the OS, and do not need to be downloaded separately.

The OS cannot be downloaded via a network connection. The controller's COM Port 1 must be directly connected to the PC via the programming cable, and Direct Connection must be selected in Communicate with OPLC. Only COM Port 1 can be used to download an OS.

When the controller is connected to the PC, clicking Check displays the currently installed OS.

To obtain the most recently released OS versions, run Live Update. Note that Live update does not install the new operating system, which must be installed as described above.

Connection Ladder H	MI Help	
ທີ່ຫຼ <sup>າ</sup> <u>O</u> nline Test	🔆 Vision Communication	n - PC settings 🛛 🗙
Download Upload Verify	Install Operating System	eg
PLC Flash Memory Alk	OS Version: Vision OS	- V2.50 (B06)
RC Modem Configurat	System Fonts: Vision FOI	NTS - V1.20 (B00)
Communication & OS	OS Loader Baud Rate: 5	7600 💌
⟨S⟩ ⟨R⟩	V120-12 0/S: 2	-R2C (A)
1+ 10 · · · · · · ·	1 0.0.2	
	Check	Download
<b>5</b>		Exit Help

Known Issue, Vision 120

Known issue: A power failure during OS download causes V120 models, installed with bootstrap (firmware)1.30 and lower, to enter bootstrap mode. The V120 will not be able to exit Bootstrap mode until it is physically turned off, and then powered on.

## **Check Network Status**

The network status is checked via the bridge. Access Check Network Status by opening the Connection menu, selecting Communication & OS, then clicking the network tab.


# Communications

# **COM Port: Init**

1

COM Init is located on the Com menu. Use this function block:

- To initialize serial communication port settings and enable the controller to communicate with networked controllers, using protocols such as MODBUS; or to communicate with external devices such as modems.
- To initialize the CANbus port.
- To synchronize port settings, enabling the controller to engage in inter-device communications via protocols such as MODBUS.

Note ●	COM Init is generally performed once in a program. It is usually a power-up task, however a one- shot transitional contact may also be used.
•	All Vision controllers comprise RS232 serial ports, RS485 ports are not. To learn how to implement RS485 with different Unitronics' controllers, refer to RS485 Options.
•	Note that an Ethernet port is initialized via the Ethernet Card Init FB located on the FBs menu under Ethernet.
•	Where appropriate, use the system operands that are connected to the COM ports and that service communications.
	Click the drop-down arrow to select a specific COM port and to access the CANbus port. Click the drop-down arrow to select either RS232 or RS485.
	Com Port: Data Bits: Standard: COM2

Ŧ

•

Flow Control

Ignore Break

**Restore Defaults** 

Click the drop-do wh	Modem Type: None	<b>Y</b>	L
arrow to initialize a	None	- Diel Tune -	L
modem and activate	PSTN	A Diditype	
modem options.	GSM N	- 💽 Auto	
	CMDAKS		
		A -	1

Ŧ

•

17

Parity:

None

1

Stop Bits:

Specific uses of the COM Init FB are detailed in the topics listed below.

Baud Rate:

RS232 Time Out:

Modern Settings

9600

2 sec

- Modems
- CANbus Networking

## <u>Examples</u>

The applications below use the COM Init function. To locate application examples, select Examples from the Help menu.

- SMS messaging.vlp
- GPRS.vlp
- MODBUS Slave.vlp
- MODBUS Master.vlp

# **RS232**

All Vision controllers comprise RS232 serial communication ports. RS232/RS485 adaptors are available by separate order. Certain models, such as the Vision120, support both RS232 and RS485. For details on communications hardware settings, refer to the User Guides and documentation supplied with relevant models.



# **RS485 Options**

The information in this topic is common to all Unitronics' controllers networked via RS485. Note that before you carry out any tasks associated with wiring, you must read and fully understand the safety guidelines.

## About RS485

RS485 is a balanced serial interface for the transmission of digital data, which enables you to create a multi-drop network containing up to 32 devices, or nodes

RS485 gives you 2 main advantages over RS232: longer cable lengths and greater immunity to noise. In comparison to RS232, RS485 uses lower voltage and differential signals. RS485 uses a differential voltage loop interface (balanced differential signal); differential data transmission reduces the effects of ground shifts and induced noise signals, even in an electrically noisy environment. The system is based on balanced circuits that rely on twisted-pair wires (A & B). Thus, the data conversion of logical 0 and 1 is made by converting the polarity of the two wires by reference to each other, instead of changing polarity of a single wire by reference to the "SG" (Signal Ground).

The noise immunity results from the fact that, when electromagnetic noise is induced over the differential signals, the same noise is induced on both signals. When the receiver subtracts the differential signals, the result is noise compensation.

The same 2 wires are used for transmitting and receiving; therefore, within RS485 networks, only one device can transmit while all of the other devices 'listen' (receive).

Unitronics' controllers offer different options for networking via RS485, according to the network series.

## **Network Topology & Wiring**

The network topology is multi-drop bus. Every RS485 network includes 2 types of nodes; node refers to every device that is physically connected to the network.

- End Nodes: The devices attached at both physical ends of the network, containing a network terminator.
- In-line Node: All devices connected to the network that are not end nodes.

To enable a rapid rate of communication over relatively long distances, the wires function as transmission lines. For this reason, the end nodes of the network must contain network terminators for the purpose of impedance matching. The method for setting network terminators is described individually for each device.

### **RS485 Network Wiring**

Use shielded twisted pair (STP) cables to network devices. Recommended cables types are:

- Twinax cable, type H8106 Control cable, type due 4001 (0.5mm2, twisted pair)
- Twinax cable, type H3094 Control cable, type V45551-F21-B5 (1.5mm2, twisted pair)

The combined total length of all network cables cannot exceed 1219 meters, as shown below.



## RS485 wiring considerations

- With the exception of the M90-19-R4, the RS485 signals are NOT isolated. If the controller is used with a non-isolated external device, avoid potential voltage that exceeds ± 10V. To avoid severely damaging the system, all non-isolated device ports should relate to the same 0V signal.
- Minimize the stub (drop) length leading from each device to the bus. The stub should not exceed 5 centimeters. Ideally, the main cable must be run in and out of the networked device as shown below. The connectors MJ10-22-CS66 (V120 and M91 series) and MJ10-22-CS65 (V2xxx series), shown below, enable this to be easily accomplished.



- Do not cross positive (A) and negative (B) signals. Positive terminals must be wired to positive, and negative terminals to negative.
- You must create network termination points by using the two end point devices integrated into your network. The method of creating termination points varies according to the controller series.

# RS485, by controller type

RS485 is implemented differently in Unitronics' controllers, according to model type. These options are summarized below.

Vision controllers are programmed using VisiLogic software. When Vision controllers are networked via RS485, the COM ports must be initialized to the RS485 standard as explained in COM Port: Init.

In addition, you must assign a unique Unit ID number to each controller, as explained in the Help topic: Assigning a Unit ID number. Note that there is a range of ID numbers reserved for RS485, numbers 64-127.

## Vision 230/260/280

May be ordered with or without RS485 ports. A V2xx controller that is ordered containing an RS485 port has a part number that ends in the number '1', for example: V2xx-1x-B21x1. If your V2xxx controller does not have an RS485 port, you can order a port module, V200-19-R4, and install it.

Note that the ports are not isolated. The connector type is RJ-45. RS485 termination settings are determined via jumper.

If your V2xxx controller does not have an RS485 port, you can order a port module, V200-19-R4, and install it. Installation instructions are provided together with the module when it is ordered separately. The information below applies whether or not the RS485 port was supplied with the V2xxx controller, or whether it is ordered and installed separately.



Network Termination Settings

The jumper settings shown above determine whether the controller can function as an end device in a RS485 network. Note that the factory default setting is YES, whether or not the RS485 port was supplied already installed in the controller. If the OPLC is not a network end device, set both jumpers to NO.

To open the controller in order to access the module and change the jumper settings, follow the relevant instructions listed below.



### RJ45 Connector Pin-out

Pin Number	Function		┟╴╌╷
8	A signal (+)		
1	B signal (•)	P In # 1	Ē.≡ŗ

## Vision 120/ M91

### Vision 120 series

Offers 2 serial communication ports. Each port can be adapted to either the RS232 or RS485 standard, via jumpers located within the controller and VisiLogic software settings. Note that the ports are not isolated. The connector type is RJ-11. RS485 termination settings are determined via jumper.

### M91 series

An M91 that contains an RS485/RS232port has a part number that includes the number '4', for example: M91-19-4UN2.

RS485 is via an RJ-11-type serial communication port. Each port can be adapted to either the RS232 or RS485 standard, via jumpers located within the controller. The M91 is programmed using U90 Ladder software. The port mode is determined by SI 64, Set COM Port Mode, as described in the U90 Ladder help topic: COM Port Mode: RS232/RS485 (M91 only).

Note that the port is not isolated. RS485 termination settings are determined via jumper.

### Vision 120/ M91 RS232/RS485 COM ports

The information below applies to both Vision 120 and M91 series controllers. The controllers in these series offer RJ-11-type serial communication ports. Each port can be adapted to either the RS232 or RS485 standard, via jumpers located within the controller. In the case of the Vision 120, appropriate VisiLogic program settings are also required.

### RJ-11 type port

The pinout below is of the RJ-11 type port, when the port is used for RS485.

#### RJ11 Connector Pin-out



### RS232/RS485 Jumper Settings

Use the jumper settings shown below to change the functionality of the controller's COM port.

## **Getting Started**

COM 1		
To use as:	JP1	JP2
RS232*	А	А
RS485	в	в

COM 2		
To use as:	JP5	JP6
RS232*	А	A
RS485	B	B

To open the controller and access the jumpers, refer to the instructions below.

## **RS485 Network Termination Settings**

The jumper settings shown below determine whether the controller can function as an end device in a RS485 network. Note that the factory default setting is ON. If the OPLC is not a network end device, set both jumpers to OFF.

COM 1		
Termination	JP3	JP4
ON*	А	А
OFF	в	в

\* Default factory setting.

## **Opening the Controller**



COM2		
Termination	JP7	JP8
ON*	А	А
OFF	в	B

- Before opening the controller, touch a grounded object to discharge any electrostatic charge.
- Avoid touching the PCB board directly by holding the PCB board by its connectors.



- 4. Gently remove the top PCB board:
- Use one hand to hold the topmost PCB board by its top and bottom connectors as shown.
- With the other hand, grasp the controller, while keeping hold of the serial ports; this will keep the bottom board from being removed together with the top board.
- Steadily pull the top board off.

- 1. Turn power off before opening the controller.
- 2. Locate the 4 slots on the sides of the controller.
- 3. Using the blade of a flat-bladed screwdriver, gently pry off the back of the controller as shown.





5. Locate the jumpers shown in Figure 9, then change the jumper settings as required.

- 6. Gently replace the PCB board as shown. Make certain that the pins fit correctly into their matching receptacle.
- Do not force the board into place; doing so may damage the controller.
- 7. Close the controller by snapping the plastic cover back in its place. If the card is placed correctly, the cover will snap on easily.



## M90

These controllers are programmed via U90 Ladder.

RS485 communications are enabled via an external RS232/RS485 converter, such as Unitronics' M90-19-R4, which can be connected to the controller's RS232 port. No U90 Ladder software settings are required.

The M90-19-R4 RS485 port is isolated.

Note that since the M90-19-R4 is an external converter, it is also compatible with other devices, such as PCs.

## Vision / M91 RS485 Port Specifications

The specifications below apply to RS485 ports for all Vision and M91 controllers.

Input Voltage -7 to +12V differential max.

Cable type Shielded twisted pair, in compliance with EIA RS485

Cable length 1200m maximum (4000 feet)

Galvanic Isolation No

Baud rate 110 - 57600 bps

Complete specification for the M90-19-R4, which converts serial data from the RS232 standard to either RS422 or RS485, is located on the Setup CD. It is also available from your local Unitronics distributor. This module is recommended for use with M90 controllers and other devices.

## User safety and equipment protection guidelines

This information is intended to aid trained and competent personnel in the installation of this equipment as defined by the European directives for machinery, low voltage, and EMC. Only a technician or engineer trained in the local and national electrical standards should perform tasks associated with the device's electrical wiring.

Before using a Unitronics' product, it is the responsibility of the user to read and understand this document and any accompanying documentation.

Symbols are used to highlight information relating to the user's personal safety and equipment protection throughout this document. When these symbols appear, the associated information must be read carefully and understood fully.

Symbol	Meaning	Description
À	Danger	The identified danger causes physical and property damage.
Â	Warning	The identified danger can cause physical and property damage.
Caution	Caution	Use caution.

- Under no circumstances will Unitronics be liable or responsible for any consequential damage that may arise as a result of installation or use of equipment, and is not responsible for problems resulting from improper or irresponsible use of Unitronics devices.
- All examples and diagrams shown are intended to aid understanding. They do not guarantee operation.
- Unitronics accepts no responsibility for actual use of a product based on these examples.
- Only qualified service personnel should open a device or carry out repairs.
- Please dispose of this product in accordance with local and national standards and regulations.

<u>\$</u>	<ul> <li>Failure to comply with appropriate safety guidelines can result in severe personal injury or property damage. Always exercise proper caution when working with electrical equipment.</li> </ul>
Â	<ul> <li>Check the user program before running it.</li> </ul>
Note 🕰	<ul> <li>Do not attempt to use a device with parameters exceeding permissible levels.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Install an external circuit breaker and take appropriate safety measures against short-circuiting in external wiring.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>To avoid damaging the system, do not connect or disconnect a device when the power is on.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Do not touch live wires.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Double-check all the wiring before turning on the power supply.</li> </ul>

# **PLC-side Modems**

## How to enable a Vision controller to communicate via landline, GSM, or CDMA modem.

- 1. Connect the modem to a PC, using the cable supplied by the modem manufacturer.
- 2. Prepare the PLC modem.

- Open Connection>Modem Services, and select the modem type and COM port.
- Click the Prepare PLC-side Modem button; that dialog box opens.
- Click the Init Modem button; the modem is initialized for PLC use.



3. Initialize the PLC port using a COM Init FB, located on the FBs menu.



COM Init is generally performed once in a program. It is usually a power-up task, however a one-shot transitional contact may also be used.

•	Communications cannot flow through the port during initialization.
•	The PLC cannot answer incoming calls when it is in bootstrap mode.
•	The Answer Settings parameter, by default, enables the modem to answer incoming calls. This enables you to download an OS to the PLC via modem. However, you can enable the PLC to answer instead. To do this, locate the initialization string ATS0=1 and enter 0(ATS0=0). When ATS0=0, an OS cannot be downloaded.
	<ul> <li>To increase the number or rings before the modern will answer, enter a number highter than 1.</li> <li>To enable the PLC to answer, enter 0.</li> <li>To set the number of rings before the PLC will answer, click Answer Settings</li> <li>Time Out Repty:</li> </ul>
	18  Answer Settings

- 4. Build a Ladder program containing the correct conditions and elements.
  - Communications cannot flow through the port during initialization. To avoid conflicts in your program, use the COM Port initialization SBs 80-85.



- 5. Download the application to the PLC.
- 6. Connect the modem to the PLC.

Note •

After the modem is enabled and successfully initialized by the PLC (SBs 80, 82, 84 turn ON), the controller can either be accessed via modem or can dial a remote modem to establish a data link.

## How to enable a PLC to dial a remote modem (Ladder)

Landline modems

Note •

In the conditions used to activate the Dial function, include the appropriate Modem Initialized System Bit: SB 80, SB 82, or SB 84.

For more information regarding Ladder conditions and other details, refer to the topic Dial and Hang-up.

Initialize the Com Port connected to the mode a Modem Initialized SB as one of the Dial cor	em, then use nditions								
SB 2 Power-up bit CO M INIT 1 Enter a phone number.		r byte contains or	e chara	acter)					
Modern Alarm	Stad of Master	MI	- 4		5	6	6	7	
Inhalized: CUM	Start or vector								
P EN ENO	MI4 · Call site from keypad	ASCII value	57	52 4	9 55	55	49	55	
	MI 4 · Call site from keypad	ASCII value Decimal	57 9	52 4 5 1	9 55 1 7	55 7	49 1	55 7	

# GSM/CDMA modems

**Note** • SMS operations can conflict with applications that use the modem for other data communication processes. To prevent conflicts, use the Modem Busy (GSM) MB, and use an MB to indicate when the modem is in use by another data communications process.

For more information on SMS messaging, refer to the SMS topics.

## How to terminate the link--Hang-up

This enables you to use Ladder conditions to break the connection.

Note • Before activating Hang-up, check whether the connection exists, via the appropriate Modem Connection Status System Bit: SB 86, SB 87, or SB 88

SB Mo Conn	86 dem ection     MB 2 Terminate connection     Image: Mangup       Image: Mangup     Image: Mangup <t< th=""></t<>
Note •	If calls are routed via a switchboard, note that the switchboard settings may interfere with communications. Consult with your switchboard provider.
•	PC/PLC modem communications: Both PC and controller must use the same type of modem: either landline, GSM, or CDMA. Internal PC modems must be used in conjunction with the drive provided by the modem's manufacturer.

## **Modem Tips**

To avoid compatibility problems, use modems produced by the same manufacturer and of the same model. This is due to lack of standardization between modem manufacturers, which may result in communication conflicts.

# **PC-Side Modems**

Once you have configured a PC-side modem, you can use a PC modem to access a remote, modem-linked controller and perform any task, just as you would if the PLC were directly connected to your PC. For example, you can

- Download, upload, and edit the controller program via the modem connection.
- Run Online test mode.
- Download an OS to the controller via modem.
- Use OnLine test and Information Mode to troubleshoot problems in remote controllers and applications.
- Read and write data to/from controllers via Remote Access or Unitronics' communication .dll utilities.

## How to Configure a PC-side Modem

Select and enter the appropriate parameters in Connection>Modem Services

🛎 Modem Services 🛛 🛛 🔀									
🗟 PSTN 🌃 GSM 🌃 CDMA 🥔 TAPI									
Modem Type: TC35		<u>.</u>							
AT&F ATE0&C1&D0&S0X4Q0S0= AT&W0	0v1	Com Port:	Time Out 65	Diat.					
<	>	Baud Rati 9600 💌	Time Out 2.4	Reply:					
Restore Defaults									
After connecting the modem to the PC, click to initalize the modem.	Hang-Up	Wait for incoming C	Dial M T C P all C A	fode one tulse uto					
Initialize PC-side Modern	Prepa moder	ne PLC-side	SM Opt	S ions					
			Help	OK					

#### **PC Modem Configuration Parameters**

 Initializing a PC Modem
 Select a tab; the Modem Type selection box shows the options.
 Select the PC modem type; the initialization strings change accordingly. To edit strings, click in the field and enter text. Selecting TAPI displays the settings of telephony devices that appear in Windows>Control Panel>Phone and Modem Options.
 Edit other options as required. If your GSM modem requires a PIN code, enter the number.
 When all parameters are set, initialize the PC modem by clicking Init Modem. Note• Default strings and baud rate enable OS download via modem.

Phone Book	<ul> <li>Click a line to enter a number and description.</li> <li>To access outside lines, enter the access number required, a comma, then the phone number.</li> </ul>
Dial & Hang-Up	<ul> <li>To dial, highlight the desired number and click Dial.</li> <li>To break the data link, click Hang-Up.</li> </ul>
Send SMS	<ol> <li>This option is available if you have selected GSM or CDMA modem.</li> <li>Select the destination number.</li> <li>Enter the SMS text, then click Send SMS.</li> <li>Note• An SMS can be used to cause the PLC to call the PC.</li> </ol>
Wait for Incoming Call	Places the PC modem in auto-answer mode.
Prepare PLC Modem	This is used to initialize a PLC-side modem. Full instructions are in the topic PLC-side Modems.

## How to use the PC modem to access a PLC

- 1. Prepare and connect the PLC-side modem as described in the topic PLC-side Modems, in the section 'How to enable a Vision controller to communicate via landline, GSM, or CDMA modem's.
- 2. In Connection PC-Modem Configuration, dial the remote PLC's controller to establish the data link, then enter OnLine mode.

You can now perform any task that can be performed via a direct PC-PLC connection.

Note •	The PC to modem cable is not the same type of cable that connects the controller to the modem. The PC to modem cable must provide connection points for all of the modem's pins.
•	The initialization commands for PC modems, and those found in the COM Init FB used to initialize the PLC's modem are different.
•	If calls are routed via a switchboard, note that the switchboard settings may interfere with communications. Consult with your switchboard provider
•	If the modem initialization string parameter S7, TimeOut, is to short to permit the PLC's modem to answer, an error will result. For example, if this parameter is S7=30, the PC modem waits 3 seconds to receive an answer from the PLC's modem. If, however, the PLC program's COM Init FB Answer Settings are set to 'Answer after 6 rings,' the PLC modem will not be able to answer before the 3 seconds have elapsed. In this case, the TimeOut parameter is exceeded, and the PC modem will return the No Carrier error.
•	PC/PLC modem communications: Both PC and PLC must use the same type of modem: landline or GSM\CDMA. Internal PC modems must use the driver provided by the modem's manufacturer.

# **Dial & Hang-up**

These functions are located on the Commenu. Via the Ladder application, they enable a PLC connected to a modem to establish or terminate a data link to another remote modem.

Before you dial, you must enable the Vision controller to communicate via modem.

Dial

This enables you to use Ladder conditions to dial a modem.



Initialize the Com Port connected to the mod a Modem Initialized SB as one of the Dial co	em, then use Inditions								
SB 2 Power-up bit COM INIT 1 Enter a phone number.	Com Port 2 Phone Number 9517717 Indirect Vector (Each register byte)	contains on	e chara	×					
Modem Alarm	Start of Vector	MI	4		5	E	6	7	
PI EN ENO	MI4 · Call site from keypad ASC	CII value	57 5	2 49	55	55	49	55	
DIAL DIAL	l Dec	imal	9   3	5   1	7	7	1	7	
COMI									

#### Hang-up

This enables you to use Ladder conditions to break the connection.

**Note** Before activating Hang-up, check connection status via a Modem Connection SB: 86, 87, or 88.

SB 86 MB 2	Hangup
Modem Terminate Connection	Com Port 1
	HANG UP
	COM 1OKCancelHelp

# Downloading an OS via Modem

By following the recommendations given below, you can successfully download an OS to a Vision controller via modem. Download via modem is supported by OS V3.70, B50 and higher.

In order to download an OS via modem:

- 1. Prepare and connect the PLC-side modem as described in the topic PLC-side Modems, in the section 'How to enable a Vision controller to communicate via landline, GSM, or CDMA modems'. These procedures initialize the modem with the parameters required to download an OS.
- 2. Connect the modem to COM port 1 on the PLC.

If power failures occur, or if the modem communication link is broken, the OS download stops. Controllers V230, 260, and 280 can recover without any intervention; as can V120 controllers installed with bootstrap Version 1.30 or higher.

However, a V120 controller installed with bootstrap versions lower than 1.30 may require physical power-up (must be turned off, and then powered on.)

In all cases, it is recommended that someone be next to the PLC during the OS download in order to attend to any potential problems.

The PC-side and PLC-side modems must use the initialization defaults: baud rates must be set to 9600; and COM Init set to ATS0=1.

Once the PC-PLC modem connection has been established, proceed according to the instructions in Downloading an OS.

## **Modem Tips**

To avoid compatibility problems, use modems produced by the same manufacturer and of the same model. This is due to lack of standardization between modem manufacturers, which may result in communication conflicts.

# **Using Ethernet**

Unitronics currently supports both TCP and UDP protocols, as explained in the topic About Ethernet. This topic also contains general information about Ethernet, IP addressing, sockets, and ports.

Ethernet uses star topology.



In order to use Ethernet, your controller must comprise an Ethernet port.

V2xx Vision OPLCs can be ordered with or without an Ethernet port. The Ethernet port enables you to implement communications via TCP/IP, such as MODBUS over TCP. To check if your Vision controller was supplied with an installed Ethernet port, first check the device's model number. In addition, note that the Ethernet port is an RJ-45-type port that is lined with metal.

Model Number	V 2 x x - 1 x - B 2 x B	V 2 x x - 1 x - B 2 x <u>E</u> B
	Supplied <b>without</b> an Ethemet port.	Supplied <b>with1</b> an Ethernet port

Via Ethernet, you can use the MODBUS IP FB to:

- Communicate data within a PLC network.
- Use a PC to access a PLC via MODBUS over TCP.
- Use MODBUS over TCP to enable non-Unitronics PLCs to access Unitronics PLCs, via MODBUS.

You can also use Ethernet to enable a PC running VisiLogic, Remote Access, or other communication .dll to access a networked PLC.

The default socket configuration enables you to implement these communication options as shown below:



# **Default Socket Configuration**

Vision controllers currently offer 4 sockets. The default socket configuration includes:

Socket	Protocol	Port Number	Function
0	UDP	20,000	Enables data to be both transmitted and received within a PLC network, via MODBUS.
			Note• If you are using the default settings for Socket 0, note that data is sent via Unicast to IP: 255.255.255.255.255. port: 20,000 plus the last byte of the IP address originally assigned to the device. This is why Port numbers 20,000-20,255 are reserved for Socket 0.
1	ТСР	20,256	Enables PC to PLC communication via UnCmDrv1.dll, including VisiLogic, Remote Access, and other Unitronics communication applications.
2	ТСР	502	Set to 'listen' as slave (server), enables MODBUS applications such as OPC servers and SCADA systems which use MODBUS TCP over IP.
3	ТСР	20,257	Set to 'listen' as slave (server), enables non-Unitronics PLCs to access Unitronics PLCs, via MODBUS.

Note•	The default configuration means that, for most applications, you do not need to include a Socket Init FB in the ladder application. However, if, for example, your application requires 4 sockets for TCP, change the default configuration of Socket 0 from UDP to TCP via the Socket Init FBs.
•	When using the default socket configuration, Socket 0 cannot be used to communicate data between routers, and therefore cannot transfer data between Intranets as shown in the figure

below. This is because the default configuration for Socket 0 uses Unicast.



Note that when TCP is used, the formal 'handshake' required by the protocol means that, during each session occurring via a defined socket, other communications cannot flow through that socket until the current session has been terminated.

Such is not the case with UDP. Since there is no formal handshake, communications can continue to flow through a socket even when there are multiple requests.

## General

When using Ethernet, use the MODBUS IP FBs. For detailed information regarding MODBUS IP commands, refer to the MODBUS IP help topics.

Note ●	In order to implement Ethernet, a controller must be assigned an IP address. This is done via the Ethernet Card Init FB, which must be included in the Ladder applications of both master and slave controllers. Class C-type addresses are recommended, as explained in the topic About Ethernet.
•	When the Ethernet card finishes initialization, SB 142 rises. Use this as a condition before activating any Ethernet element, such as Socket Connect.
•	An activating condition must be placed before the Ethernet Card Init FB. This may be assigned as a power-up task; however a one-shot transitional contact may also be used.
•	Unitronics' proprietary COM Protocol FB, located on the FBs menu, which may ordinarily be used to access external slave devices, is not currently compatible with Ethernet.

## **Examples**

## PLC networks, PLC to PLC

Any controller within the network can be both master and slave. In order to be read by the master, a slave's application must contain the MODBUS IP Scan FB.

## Using UDP to implement controller-to-controller communication

In order to communicate via Ethernet throughout your controller network, you must include an Ethernet Card Init FB in the ladder application of each networked controller. Remember that, when using UDP, do not use the Socket: Connect or Socket: Close elements; these are only required by TCP applications.

Master

The master PLC Ladder application must include the elements shown below.

Step 1: Initializing the Ethernet card and configuring MODBUS

The MODBUS Configuration is linked to Socket 0, which is by default set to UDP.

An activating condition is required, usually Power-up.	EN ENO ETHERNET CARD INIT Socket 0 MODBUS I MODBUS I Function in
Local IP D# - 192.168.192.5	Network ID 255
Sub Net Mask D# - 255.255.255.05	D# 100 TimeOut Params Type Add C Format Description D# 0 DEC Socket 0 D# 255 DEC Network ID 255 IN D# 100 DEC Network ID 255
OK Cancel Help	These are the properties of the target devices.  D# 3 DEC Retries  UUT MB 0 Function in Progress  Slaves
The Local IP is the address of the master PLC.	To enable the master to access the slave: - This IP must be defined in the slave device's application within the Ethernet Card Init FB. - The Slave port must be set as 20,000.

**Note** • A PLC defined as a UDP master can communicate with a number of slave devices.

## Step 2: Using MODBUS Commands

**Note** • Note that the operand addresses in slave PLCs are indirect addresses (pointers). In the figure below, the Slave: Start of Vector parameter is 15. This means that the master will begin reading from MI 15 in the slave PLC. Since the Read: Vector Length parameter is 3, the function takes the values in MI 15, 16 and 17.

The Master: Start of Vector parameter is 17; therefore the values will be written into MI 17, 18, and 19 in the master device.



## Slave

The slave PLC Ladder application must include the elements shown below.

Step 1: Initializing the Ethernet card and configuring MODBUS



## Step 2: Scan

To enable the master PLC to access the slave, include a MODBUS Scan FB in the slave's application.

E۴	SB herr Init	14 net iali	2 Cl	ard	-		SB Eth So	i 14 nen ck/	49 net: et 2		:	:	ł	:	1	:	
	Η		-				-					Ē	NN M0	DB	E 3U5	NO 5 IP	$\vdash$
	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷			SC	ΑN		ł
• •	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	1	÷	1	1	÷	1		MO	DB	US	б I	ł
			÷									Ľ	MO				

## Using TCP to implement controller-to-controller communication

Master

The master PLC Ladder application must include the elements shown below.

Step 1: Initializing the Ethernet card, Socket, and Configuring MODBUS

In the figure below, the socket is configured to use TCP.



Step 2: Establishing the Ethernet Connection: Connect Socket



Note •

It is recommended that there be a time elapse of a few seconds after the Ethernet Card Initialization and before activating Socket Connect. A timer may be used for this purpose.

## Step 3: Using MODBUS Commands

Note • Note that the operand addresses in slave PLCs are indirect addresses (pointers). In the figure below, Below, the Slave: Start of Vector parameter is 15. This means that the master will begin reading from MI 15 in the slave PLC. Since the Read: Vector Length parameter is 3, the function takes the values in MI 15, 16 and 17.

The Master: Start of Vector parameter is 17; therefore the values will be written into MI 17, 18, and 19 in the master device.

Socket connect that the connect establis	3 is sted, m e Ether stion is shed.	neanii rnet s	ng	SB 150 Ethernet: Socket 3	Fu	MB 0 notion in rogress I \ I 0 - slave1; IP=192.168.192 MODBUS I.	MI 101 Master: Start Of
To enal the slav in the s within t	ble the /e, this lave d he Eth	e mast s IP mi levice iernet	er to a ust be 's appl Card I	iccess defined ication Init FB.		D# 5610 Slave: Start Of D# 10 Read: Vector	MI 3 Error Status DW 2 Total Sessions
Select N	BUS IF lame: US IP_1	P Rea	d how	eiste	ers (3)		DW 3 Acknowledgeme
Patams	Type	Add	(i)	66	Eormat	ÍD escripto -	
	D#		0		DEC	0 - Slave 0: IP=198 168 192 10: PO=200	
IN	D#		15		DEC	Slave: Start Of Vector	
	D#		3		DEC	Read: Vector Length	
	MI	17	2		DEC	Master: Start Of Vector	
0.117	MI	0			DEC	Error Status: Read	
001	DW	0	0		DEC	Tiotal Sessions: Read	
	DW	1	0		DEC	Acknowledgements: Read	
					Ok	Cancel Help	

Step 4: Terminating the Ethernet connection: Close Socket

When you terminate the connection, use the 'Function in Progress' MB to ensure that you do not terminate the connection while data is being communicated.



Slave

The slave PLC Ladder application must include the elements shown below. Step 1: Initializing the Ethernet card, Socket, and Configuring MODBUS

In the figure below, the socket is configured to use TCP.



## Step 2: Scan

To enable the master PLC to access the slave, include a MODBUS Scan FB in the slave's application.



## PC to PLC: Accessing PLC via SCADA

To enable the SCADA application to access the PLC, the PLC is defined as a slave device. The slave PLC Ladder application must include the elements shown below.

Step 1: Initializing the Ethernet card and configuring MODBUS

Port 502 is the well-known port for MODBUS applications.



### Step 2: Scan

To enable the SCADA application to access the slave, include a MODBUS Scan FB in the slave's application.

	SB 142 Ethernet: Card Initialized						SB 149 Ethernet: Socket 2					:		į	:	Ì	:	
ł	_	-		-	_	_	_	Η		I—	_	_	Ē	N	0.0	E	N(	ł
t											1	1	11	мu	UB	03		T.
ł	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1				SC	ΑN		ł
ł		-	÷	-	÷	-		-	÷	-		-	1	40	DB	US	i I	Ł
ł									1									

Ethernet Operations

The Ethernet FBs are grouped under Ethernet on the FB's menu.



Ethernet: Card Init

Ethernet: Socket Init

Ethernet: TCP Connect \ TCP Close

# **PC-PLC** Communications

## Remote Access: Accessing a PLC via PC

You can use a PC to access a remote Vision and download, upload, and edit programs. You can access:

- Stand-alone controllers that are directly connected to the PC via a cable.
- Controllers within a network
- Either stand-alone or networked controllers via GSM/CDMA or landline modem.



When you run On-line Test mode, you can use the Remote Access utility to display the remote controller on your PC screen. During a Remote Access session, you can:

- 'Press' keypad keys and touch-screen objects (relevant models) by using your cursor, to click the controller keypad touch-screen objects on-screen, or via your PC keyboard, by pressing numeric keys and function keys <F1> to <F8>). Note that the Vision <ESC> key is <E> on the PC keyboard, and that <F9> is reserved for activating Online mode.
- Enter Information Mode by pressing the <i> key on your PC keyboard, or by clicking it onscreen with your cursor.



When you are in Online mode, you can toggle Remote Access on and off via <Shift>+<F9>.

## Accessing a Controller

### Direct Connection: PC-Controller

Connect your PC to any controller using the programming cable supplied with the controller kit.



### Accessing a Networked Controller

1. Connect your PC to any controller in the network using the programming cable supplied with the controller kit.



- Note Different PCs can access a network at the same time, using different controller units as bridges. However, 2 different PCs cannot simultaneously access the same controller unit.
- 2. Select a networked controller by opening Communication & OS from the Connection menu, and then entering the Unit ID number.



Accessing a Controller via Modem



- 1. Prepare and connect your PLC-side modem as described in the topic PLC-side Modems, in the section 'How to enable a Vision controller to communicate via landline, GSM, or CDMA modem'.
- 2. Prepare the PC-side modem as described in the topic PC-Modem Configuration, in the section 'How to Configure a PC-side Modem'.
- 3. In Connection PC-Modem Configuration, dial the remote PLC's controller to establish the data link, then enter OnLine mode.

Note •	The Zoom option on the Remote Access Options menu can be activated only if you select Hide Keys. Zoom cannot be used with M90/91 or V280 controllers.
•	<ul> <li>Improving Remote Access run times:</li> <li>To improve VisiLogic's Remote Access run times, select Create HMI Display Cache from the Build menu.</li> <li>To create a .ura file containing static displays, select Export Displays to Remote Access, a stand-alone utility provided by Unitronics.</li> </ul>



## **Vision Communication PC Settings**

This defines the connection VisiLogic will use when downloading a program or carrying out other communication tasks. To display the current communication settings, select Communication & OS from the Connection menu.

Note that you can cause the Unit ID# to be permanently assigned to the project via Project Properties.

The default settings are shown below.

.

Select Communication Type	If your Vision contains an Ethernet port, you can select the Ethernet option. Serial is the default communication mode; note that if you select Ethernet and close the project, the setting reverts to Serial.
PC COM Parameters	Port, Retries and Time-Out are the communication settings between VisiLogic and the controller. Note that if you are working with a network, the TimeOut should be greater than 1 second.
Communicate with OPLC	Use these options to communicate with networked controllers. Direct Connection: select this to communicate with any controller that is connected to your PC via the download cable, including a network bridge. Within Network:select this to communicate with a controller that is integrated into a network, then select the controller's ID number Note • ID numbers 1-63 are reserved for controllers linked via CANbus; ID numbers 64-127 are reserved for controllers networked via RS485. Using this range of ID numbers prevents a polled controller from attempting to act as a CANbus bridge, preventing it from attempting to locate the requested controller.
Vision OPLC Information	Click Get OPLC Information to display information about the controller you have selected in Communicate with OPLC.

# Ethernet

## **About Ethernet**

General information regarding the parameters required to implement Ethernet is given below. A glossary of Ethernet terms is included at the bottom of this topic. To learn how to specifically define parameters within the VisiLogic Ethernet FBs, refer to Using Ethernet.

Unitronics' Ethernet uses star topology.



## About Networks

Generally, controllers are part of a closed, internal control network. A closed network may be referred to as a LAN (Local Area Network) or an Intranet. When Intranets are connected via gateway devices, they form a WAN (Wide Area Network). The Internet, which is made up of connected Intranets or LANs, is a form of WAN. Internet communications are via the TCP/IP protocol.

Large manufacturing companies, for example, may be made up of a number of factories, each of which contains its own LAN, closed control network. Within the company, all of these LANs may be connected by gateway devices, forming a proprietary WAN--a company Internet, which in turn may be connected to the Internet--the World Wide Web.

Within closed controller networks, Ethernet is becoming a common protocol. Ethernet communications are also via the TCP/IP protocol.

## What is an IP address?

In order to enable a controller to communicate over Ethernet, you must assign it an IP address.

An IP address is a unique number which identifies a computer or controller on a TCP/IP network. These networks use the IP address to route messages to their destination. An IP address is a 32-bit numeric address which is divided into four numbers (octets). Each octet is separated by a period formatted as follows: 1.160.10.240. The decimal value in each octet can range from zero to 255, or 00000000 - 11111111 in binary notation.

Note • The values '0' and '255' are restricted and should not normally be used.

Internally, within an Intranet, you can assign IP addresses at random as long as each one is unique within the Intranet. The common IP may be: 192.•.192.xx, where the last octet is the identifies the device on the network.

Note • In the majority of cases, controllers are part of a closed control network (Intranet). The controllers' IP addresses are unique only within the Intranet, and cannot be accessed via the Internet--unless an valid Internet IP address is purchased from a ISP and assigned to the controller.

### **IP Addresses and Networks**

In binary form, the IP address 68.212.226.204 is 10101000.11010100.11100010.11001100.

The 4 octets of the address are used to create classes of IP addresses. Networks are divided into 5 classes, according to size, as explained below. The octets are split into two sections: Net and Host. The Net section is represented by the first octet. It is used to identify the network that a device belongs to. The Host (sometimes called Node) section identifies the actual device on the network. The Host section is always contains by the final octets; how many octets is determined by the network class. There are five IP classes plus certain special addresses.

Although decimals are generally used to represent IP addresses, it is the binary value which determines which class of network the IP address belongs to. All nodes on a given network share the same network prefix but must have a unique host number.



Default Network	The IP address of 0.0.0.0 is used for the default network.
Class A	This class is for very large networks.
Network	Binary address start with '0', meaning that the decimal value can be anywhere from 1 to 126.
	The first octet bits identify the network as Class A ; Octets 2, 3, and 4 (the next 24 bits) indicate the host within the network.
	An example of a Class A IP address is 102.•.212.226, where "102" identifies the network and "•.212.226" identifies the host on that network.
	Note • The IP address 127.0.0.1 is used as the loopback address. This means that it is used by the host computer to send a message back to itself. It is commonly used for troubleshooting and network testing.
Class B	This class is used for medium-sized networks.
Network	The first two octets identify the network as Class B; Octets 3 and 4 (the remaining 16 bits) indicate the host within the network. Binary addresses start with '10', meaning that the decimal value can be anywhere from 128 to 191.
	An example of a Class B IP address is •.212.226.204 where "•.212" identifies the network and "226.204" identifies the host on that network.
Class C Network	This class is used for small to medium-sized networks. This is the most common type of network. The first three octets identify the network as Class C; Octet 4 (8 bits) indicate the host within the network.
	Binary addresses start with '110', meaning that the decimal number can be anywhere from 192 to 223.
	An example of a Class C IP address is 200.•.212.226 where "200.•.212" identifies the network and "226" identifies the host on that network.
Class D Network	This class is used for multicasting, where a node sends a packet addressed to a special group address. Binary addresses start with '1110', therefore the decimal number can be anywhere from 224 to 239.
Class E	This class is used for experimental purposes only.
Network	Binary addresses start with '1111', therefore the decimal number can be anywhere from 240 to 255. Class E networks are used for experimentation. They have never been documented or utilized in a standard way.
Broadcast	Messages that are intended for all computers on a network are sent as broadcasts. These messages always use the IP address 255.255.255.255.

## <u>Subnet</u>

A subnet is a part of a network.

All of the devices within a subnet share a common address component. On TCP/IP networks, subnets are defined as all devices whose IP addresses have the same prefix. Devices within a particular subnet might, for example, have IP addresses that start with 100.100.100.

Subnetting enables the network administrator to further divide the host part of the address into two or more subnets. In this case, a part of the host address is reserved to identify the particular subnet.



### Subnet Mask

One of the crucial tasks for any router is knowing when a packet of information stays on its local network. For this, it uses a 'subnet mask'.

A network mask indicates which portion of the address identifies the network and which portion of the address identifies the node. Class A, B, and C networks have default masks, also known as natural masks, as shown below.

Class B: 255.255.0.0 - binary - 111111111111111111100000000.00000000

Since class C networks are the most common type, the most commonly used subnet mask usually reads "255.255.255.xx.". This tells the router that all messages with the sender and receiver having an address sharing the first three groups of numbers are on the same network, and shouldn't be sent out to another network. For example: The computer at address 192.•.192.254 sends a request to the computer at 192.•.192.252. The router, which sees all the packets, matches the first three groups in the address of both sender and receiver (192.•.192.), and keeps the packet on the local network.

## <u>Gateway</u>

A gateway is special software, or a device running special software, that routes data between different networks.

In the case of control networks, the gateway is generally a PC. The gateway PC has its own IP address.



For example, a proxy server provides a gateway between a private network to the Internet. The proxy server is configured to enable a workstation to communicate with remote services on the Internet. In this case, the gateway acts as a barrier that allows a device to request information from the Internet and to receive information, but does not allow access to the host network by unauthorized users.

Note • The IP address assigned to the gateway device is generally the last available address.

### Socket

A software mechanism that connects an application to a network protocol. A program can, for example, send and receive TCP/IP messages by opening a socket and reading and writing data to and from the socket. Note that a socket is a software object, not a physical component.

Note that when TCP is used, the formal 'handshake' required by the protocol means that during each session occurring via a defined socket, other communications cannot flow through any of the other sockets until the current session has been terminated.

Such is not the case with UDP. Since there is no formal handshake, communications can continue to flow through a socket even when there are multiple requests.

## Protocols: UDP and TCP

UDP stands for User Datagram Protocol. It is a connectionless protocol that, like TCP, runs on top of IP networks. Unlike TCP/IP, UDP/IP provides very few error recovery services, offering instead a direct way to send and receive datagrams over an IP network. It's used primarily for broadcasting messages over a network.

Note • In Unitronics' implementation of Ethernet, UDP is a secure protocol. Here, UDP runs under MODBUS as well as under Unitronics' proprietary protocols; these additional layers provide the level of data security required by control applications.

TCP stands for Transmission Control Protocol. TCP is one of the main protocols in TCP/IP networks. Whereas the IP protocol deals only with packets, TCP enables two hosts to establish a connection and exchange streams of data. TCP guarantees delivery of data and also guarantees that packets will be delivered in the same order in which they were sent.

UDP takes messages from application process, attaches source and destination port number fields for the multiplexing/demultiplexing service, adds two other fields of minor importance, and passes the resulting "segment" to the network layer. The network layer encapsulates the segment into an IP datagram and then makes a best-effort attempt to deliver the segment to the receiving host. If the segment arrives at the receiving host, UDP uses the port numbers and the IP source and destination addresses to deliver the data in the segment to the correct application process. Note that with UDP there is no handshaking between sending and receiving transport-layer entities before sending a segment. For this reason, UDP is said to be connectionless.

TCP uses a three-way handshake before it starts to transfer data. UDP just blasts away without any formal preliminaries. Thus UDP does not introduce any delay to establish a connection. This is probably the principle reason why DNS runs over UDP rather than TCP -- DNS would be much slower if it ran over TCP. HTTP uses TCP rather than UDP, since reliability is critical for Web pages with text. But the TCP connection establishment delay in HTTP is an important contributor to the "world wide wait".

TCP maintains connection state in the end systems. This connection state includes receive and send buffers, congestion control parameters, and sequence and acknowledgment number parameters. UDP, on the other hand, does not maintain connection state and does not track any of these parameters. For this reason, a server devoted to a particular application can typically support many more active clients when the application runs over UDP rather than TCP.

The TCP segment has 20 bytes of header overhead in every segment, whereas UDP only has 8 bytes of overhead.

TCP has a congestion control mechanism that throttles the sender when one or more links between sender and receiver becomes excessively congested. This throttling can have a severe impact on real-time applications, which can tolerate some packet loss but require a minimum send rate. On the other hand, the speed at which UDP sends data is only constrained by the rate at which the application generates data, the capabilities of the source (CPU, clock rate, etc.) and the access bandwidth to the Internet. We should keep in mind, however, that the receiving host does not necessarily receive all the data - when the network is congested, a significant fraction of the UDP-transmitted data could be lost due to router buffer overflow. Thus, the receive rate is limited by network congestion even if the sending rate is not constrained.

## Local Port

In TCP/IP and UDP networks, a port is an endpoint to a logical connection and the way a client program specifies a specific server program on a computer in a network.

The port numbers are divided into three ranges: the Well Known Ports, the Registered Ports, and the Dynamic and/or Private Ports.

 The Well Known Ports, sometimes called the contact port, are those from 0 through 1023. The Well Known Ports numbers are assigned by the IANA and on most systems can only be used by system (or root) processes or by programs executed by privileged users. Note • Port 502 is reserved for SCADA.

- The Registered Ports are those from 1024 through 4915. The Registered Ports are listed by the IANA and on most systems can be used by ordinary user processes or programs executed by ordinary users.
- The Dynamic and/or Private Ports are those from 49152 through 65535

To the extent possible, these same port assignments are used with the UDP [RFC768].

Port Number Description 1 TCP Port Service Multiplexer (TCPMUX) 5 Remote Job Entry (RJE) 7 ECHO 18 Message Send Protocol (MSP) 20 FTP -- Data 21 FTP -- Control 22 SSH Remote Login Protocol 23 Telnet 25 Simple Mail Transfer Protocol (SMTP) 29 MSG ICP 37 Time 42 Host Name Server (Nameserv) 43 WhoIs 49 Login Host Protocol (Login) 53 Domain Name System (DNS) 69 Trivial File Transfer Protocol (TFTP) 70 Gopher Services 79 Finger **80 HTTP** 103 X.400 Standard 108 SNA Gateway Access Server 109 POP2 110 POP3 115 Simple File Transfer Protocol (SFTP) 118 SQL Services 119 Newsgroup (NNTP) 137 NetBIOS Name Service 139 NetBIOS Datagram Service 143 Interim Mail Access Protocol (IMAP) 150 NetBIOS Session Service 156 SOL Server 161 SNMP 179 Border Gateway Protocol (BGP) 190 Gateway Access Control Protocol (GACP) 194 Internet Relay Chat (IRC) 197 Directory Location Service (DLS) 389 Lightweight Directory Access Protocol (LDAP) 396 Novell Netware over IP **443 HTTPS** 444 Simple Network Paging Protocol (SNPP)

445 Microsoft-DS
458 Apple QuickTime
502 MODBUS
546 DHCP Client
547 DHCP Server
563 SNEWS
569 MSN
1080 Socks

## **Glossary**

### ARP

Address Resolution Protocol associates an IP address to a hardware address by requesting the sending machine for additional information called a MAC address. This only applies to Ethernet based networks.

Client

The client is generally an application that runs on a personal computer or workstation and relies on a server to perform some operations. For example, an e-mail client is an application that enables you to send and receive e-mail.

## Client/server architecture

In this type of network architecture, each computer or process on the network is either a client or a server. Servers are powerful computers or processes dedicated to managing disk drives (file servers), printers (print servers), or network traffic (network servers). Clients are PCs or workstations on which users run applications. Clients rely on servers for resources, such as files, devices, and even processing power.

Another type of network architecture is known as a peer-to-peer architecture because each node has equivalent responsibilities. Both client/server and peer-to-peer architectures are widely used, and each has unique advantages and disadvantages.

### DHCP

Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol is a protocol for organizing and simplifying the administration of IP addresses for local machines. In many cases (such as with WinRoute) A DHCP server is built into the gateway for further simplification.

### DNS

Domain Name System is a naming scheme for IP addressing. For example www.kerio.com is a domain name and has an associated IP address. A DNS server matches domain names to an IP address. We use the domain name system because it is easier to remember a domain name than a string of numbers.

#### Firewall

A filtering module located on a gateway machine that examines all incoming and outgoing traffic to determine if it may be routed to its destination. WinRoute Lite is a simple Firewall based on Network Address Translation.

### Gateway

The point of entrance from one network to another. A gateway is responsible for the proper distribution of data coming in and going out of a local area network. WinRoute must be installed on the gateway machine, also referred to as the host computer or network router.

### ICMP

Internet Control Message Protocol uses datagrams to report errors in transmission between the host and gateway.

#### IP address

### Getting Started

An IP address is the unique 32-bit number, which identifies a computer in a network. In order to communicate across wide area networks, each computer must have a unique IP address. Local area networks cannot directly communicate across wide area networks because they are defined by a private class of IP's.

#### Local Area Network

A Local Area Network (LAN) is a group of interconnected computers with the ability to share resources without having to access a wide area network.

#### MAC Address

A Media Access Control (MAC) address is a hard-coded interface identification used by layer 2 devices (switch or bridge) for proper forwarding of frames between computers on a network.

#### NAT

Network Address Translation is an Internet standard that enables a local-area network (LAN) to use one set of IP addresses for internal traffic and a second set of addresses for external traffic. A NAT box located where the LAN meets the Internet makes all necessary IP address translations.

NAT serves three main purposes:

- Provides a type of firewall by hiding internal IP addresses
- Enables a company to use more internal IP addresses. Since they're used internally only, there's no possibility of conflict with IP addresses used by other companies and organizations.
- Allows a company to combine multiple ISDN connections into a single Internet connection.

#### Network interface

A network interface may be an Ethernet card, modem, ISDN card, etc. The computer sends and receives packets by means of the network interface.

#### Network Mask

A Network mask is used to group IP addresses together. Routers use a subnet mask to define the group (or IP subnet) to which an IP address belongs so that it can identify the correct interface from which it should forward an IP packet.

#### Packet

When data is transmitted over the network it is broken up into smaller pieces called packets and individually routed to their destination. This way if one packet is not properly received, the receiving party can request resubmission of the single packet, as opposed to the entire piece of data. Each packet contains headers, which are responsible for the successful transmission of the packet, and a data part, which contains a portion of the original data being transmitted over the network. The term packet is used when referring to layer 3 devices (i.e. a router). A frame is the term used when referring to layer two devices (i.e. a switch).

#### Peer-to-peer architecture

A type of network in which each workstation has equivalent capabilities and responsibilities. This differs from client/server architectures, in which some computers are dedicated to serving the others. Peer-to-peer networks are generally simpler, but they usually do not offer the same performance under heavy loads.

#### Port

A port, in terms of TCP/IP, is a 16-bit number (the allowed range being 1 through 65535) used by the protocols of the transport layer - the TCP and UDP protocols. Ports are used to address applications. In other words, when a packet is received by the computer, the operating system uses port information to determine which application will receive the data within the packet.

#### Port Mapping

Port mapping is an advanced feature of WinRoute that allows servers to be hosted securely behind NAT. When a packet is received by the WinRoute host it can be forwarded (by translating the destination information in the packet header) to another computer in the local network.

## Protocol

Defines rules for the transmission of data.

## RAS

Remote Access Service refers to the ability to dial into another computer or network remotely. In the context of WinRoute, RAS simply refers to a dial-up connection.

## TCP/IP

TCP/IP is a suite of networking protocols used for communication across networks. It is the standard form of communication over the Internet. The two most significantly used Internet Protocols are TCP and UDP. Transmission Control Protocol (TCP) is a connection oriented protocol intended to provide reliability and to ensure that all data is transferred successfully from one computer to another. User Datagram Protocol (UDP) is a connectionless protocol that does not require any confirmation from the receiving party. UDP is more commonly used for multimedia and streaming applications.

# Using Ethernet

Unitronics currently supports both TCP and UDP protocols, as explained in the topic About Ethernet. This topic also contains general information about Ethernet, IP addressing, sockets, and ports.

Ethernet uses star topology.



In order to use Ethernet, your controller must comprise an Ethernet port.

V2xx Vision OPLCs can be ordered with or without an Ethernet port. The Ethernet port enables you to implement communications via TCP/IP, such as MODBUS over TCP. To check if your Vision controller was supplied with an installed Ethernet port, first check the device's model number. In addition, note that the Ethernet port is an RJ-45-type port that is lined with metal.

```
      Model Number
      V 2 x x - 1 x - B 2 x B
      V 2 x x - 1 x - B 2 x E B

      Supplied without
      Supplied with

      an Ethemet port.
      Supplied with
```

Via Ethernet, you can use the MODBUS IP FB to:

- Communicate data within a PLC network.
- Use a PC to access a PLC via MODBUS over TCP.
- Use MODBUS over TCP to enable non-Unitronics PLCs to access Unitronics PLCs, via MODBUS.

You can also use Ethernet to enable a PC running VisiLogic, Remote Access, or other communication .dll to access a networked PLC.

The default socket configuration enables you to implement these communication options as shown below:



## **Default Socket Configuration**

Vision controllers currently offer 4 sockets. The default socket configuration includes:

Socket	Protocol	Port Number	Function
0	UDP	20,000	Enables data to be both transmitted and received within a PLC network, via MODBUS.
			Note• If you are using the default settings for Socket 0, note that data is sent via Unicast to IP: 255.255.255.255.port: 20,000 plus the last byte of the IP address originally assigned to the device. This is why Port numbers 20,000-20,255 are reserved for Socket 0.
1	ТСР	20,256	Enables PC to PLC communication via UnCmDrv1.dll, including VisiLogic, Remote Access, and other Unitronics communication applications.
2	ТСР	502	Set to 'listen' as slave (server), enables MODBUS applications such as OPC servers and SCADA systems which use MODBUS TCP over IP.
3	ТСР	20,257	Set to 'listen' as slave (server), enables non-Unitronics PLCs to access Unitronics PLCs, via MODBUS.

Note •

The default configuration means that, for most applications, you do not need to include a Socket Init FB in the ladder application. However, if, for example, your application requires 4 sockets for TCP, change the default configuration of Socket 0 from UDP to TCP via the Socket Init FBs.
When using the default socket configuration, Socket 0 cannot be used to communicate data between routers, and therefore cannot transfer data between Intranets as shown in the figure below. This is because the default configuration for Socket 0 uses Unicast.



Note that when TCP is used, the formal 'handshake' required by the protocol means that, during each session occurring via a defined socket, other communications cannot flow through that socket until the current session has been terminated.

Such is not the case with UDP. Since there is no formal handshake, communications can continue to flow through a socket even when there are multiple requests.

### <u>General</u>

•

•

When using Ethernet, use the MODBUS IP FBs. For detailed information regarding MODBUS IP commands, refer to the MODBUS IP help topics.

Note ●	In order to implement Ethernet, a controller must be assigned an IP address. This is done via the Ethernet Card Init FB, which must be included in the Ladder applications of both master and slave controllers. Class C-type addresses are recommended, as explained in the topic About Ethernet.
•	When the Ethernet card finishes initialization, SB 142 rises. Use this as a condition before activating any Ethernet element, such as Socket Connect.
•	An activating condition must be placed before the Ethernet Card Init FB. This may be assigned as a power-up task; however a one-shot transitional contact may also be used.
•	Unitronics' proprietary COM Protocol FB, located on the FBs menu, which may ordinarily be used to access external slave devices, is not currently compatible with Ethernet.

### **Examples**

### PLC networks, PLC to PLC

Any controller within the network can be both master and slave. In order to be read by the master, a slave's application must contain the MODBUS IP Scan FB.

### Using UDP to implement controller-to-controller communication

In order to communicate via Ethernet throughout your controller network, you must include an Ethernet Card Init FB in the ladder application of each networked controller. Remember that, when using UDP, do not use the Socket: Connect or Socket: Close elements; these are only required by TCP applications.

Master

The master PLC Ladder application must include the elements shown below.

Step 1: Initializing the Ethernet card and configuring MODBUS

The MODBUS Configuration is linked to Socket 0, which is by default set to UDP.

An activating condition is required, usually Power-up.	EN ENO ETHERNET CARD INIT Socket 0 - MODBUS I MB 0 Function in
Local IP D# - 192.168.192.5 Sub Net Mask D# - 255.255.255.0 Gateway D# - 192.168.192.254 OK Cancel Help	Network ID 255     MODBUS IP Configuration       D# 100 TimeOut     Name:       D# 100 TimeOut     Params       D# 3 Retries     D# 255       D# 3 D# 3 Retries     D# 255       D# 3 D# 3 D# 3 D# 3 D# 3 D# 3 D# 3 D# 3
The Local IP is the address of the master PLC.	Inese are the properties of the target devices.       Image: Constraint of the target devices.         To enable the master to access the slave:       Slaves         This IP must be defined in the slave device's application within the Ethernet Card Init FB.       Slave port must be set as 20,000.

**Note** • A PLC defined as a UDP master can communicate with a number of slave devices.

### Step 2: Using MODBUS Commands

**Note** • Note that the operand addresses in slave PLCs are indirect addresses (pointers). In the figure below, the Slave: Start of Vector parameter is 15. This means that the master will begin reading from MI 15 in the slave PLC. Since the Read: Vector Length parameter is 3, the function takes the values in MI 15, 16 and 17.

The Master: Start of Vector parameter is 17; therefore the values will be written into MI 17, 18, and 19 in the master device.



### Slave

The slave PLC Ladder application must include the elements shown below.

Step 1: Initializing the Ethernet card and configuring MODBUS



### Step 2: Scan

To enable the master PLC to access the slave, include a MODBUS Scan FB in the slave's application.

SB 142 Ethernet: Card Initialized			-	SB 149 Ethernet: Socket 2					:		1	:	1	:			
	-		-				-		-			F	<u>ен</u> М0	DB	E US	NC 5 IP	t
	t	ł	ł	ł	1	1	ł	1	1	t	1			SC	AN		ŀ
	1	1	1	1	2	ŝ	2	ŝ	1	÷.	1	Ľ	MU	DB	05	1	Į.

#### Using TCP to implement controller-to-controller communication

Master

The master PLC Ladder application must include the elements shown below.

Step 1: Initializing the Ethernet card, Socket, and Configuring MODBUS

In the figure below, the socket is configured to use TCP.



Step 2: Establishing the Ethernet Connection: Connect Socket



Note •

It is recommended that there be a time elapse of a few seconds after the Ethernet Card Initialization and before activating Socket Connect. A timer may be used for this purpose.

### Step 3: Using MODBUS Commands

Note • Note that the operand addresses in slave PLCs are indirect addresses (pointers). In the figure below, Below, the Slave: Start of Vector parameter is 15. This means that the master will begin reading from MI 15 in the slave PLC. Since the Read: Vector Length parameter is 3, the function takes the values in MI 15, 16 and 17.

The Master: Start of Vector parameter is 17; therefore the values will be written into MI 17, 18, and 19 in the master device.

Socket connect that the connect establis	3 is sted, m e Ether stion is shed.	neanii rnet s	ng	SB 150 Ethernet: Socket 3	Fu	MB 0 notion in rogress I \ I I \ I \ I I \ I	MI 101 Master: Start Of
To enal the slav in the s within t	ble the ve, this lave d the Eth	e mast s IP mi levice iernet	er to a ust be 's appl Card I	iccess defined ication Init FB.		D# 5610 Slave: Start Of D# 10 Read: Vector	MI 3 Error Status DW 2 Total Sessions
Select N	BUS IF Name: US IP_1	P Rea	d ho	eiste	ers (3)		DW 3 Acknowledgeme
Patatos	Tupe	Add	( <b>1</b> )	- A-C	Eormat	Description	
T didinio	D#	1100	0	00	DEC	0 - Slave 0: IP=198 168 192 10: PD=200	
IN	D#		15		DEC	Slave: Start Of Vector	
	D#		3		DEC	Bead: Vector Length	
	MI	17			DEC	Master: Start Of Vector	
0.117	MI	0			DEC	Error Status: Read	
	DW	0	0		DEC	Tiotal Sessions: Read	
	DW	1	0		DEC	Acknowledgements: Read	
					Ok	Cancel Help	

Step 4: Terminating the Ethernet connection: Close Socket

When you terminate the connection, use the 'Function in Progress' MB to ensure that you do not terminate the connection while data is being communicated.



Slave

The slave PLC Ladder application must include the elements shown below. Step 1: Initializing the Ethernet card, Socket, and Configuring MODBUS

In the figure below, the socket is configured to use TCP.



### Step 2: Scan

To enable the master PLC to access the slave, include a MODBUS Scan FB in the slave's application.



### PC to PLC: Accessing PLC via SCADA

To enable the SCADA application to access the PLC, the PLC is defined as a slave device. The slave PLC Ladder application must include the elements shown below.

Step 1: Initializing the Ethernet card and configuring MODBUS

Port 502 is the well-known port for MODBUS applications.



### Step 2: Scan

To enable the SCADA application to access the slave, include a MODBUS Scan FB in the slave's application.

	SB 142 Ethernet: Card Initialized					SB 149 Ethernet: Socket 2						;	:	:	i			
ļ		-		-				-		-			F	MO	DB	E 105	NC 5 IP	t
ł	1	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷			SC	ΑN		ł
ł		1	÷	1	÷	÷	÷	÷	1	-	÷	÷	1	40	DB	US	i I	Ł
ł										1.0								

Ethernet Operations

The Ethernet FBs are grouped under Ethernet on the FB's menu.



### Ethernet: Card Init

Ethernet: Socket Init

Ethernet: TCP Connect \ TCP Close

### TCP\IP: Card Init

This function is located on the Com>TCP/IP menu.

SB 2 Power-up bit I I	EN ENO TCP/IP Card Init	Click to assign an IP address. om Init	The IP a typed in provideo	ddress may be directly, or be d by a vector of MIs.
	Local IP	D# - 192.168.192.111		🇯 Local IP 🛛 🔀
	Suib Net Mask	D# - 255.255.255.0		IP Address     192-198-192-44
	Gateway	D# - 192.168.192.254		C Address of MI
		OK Cancel H	felp	OK Cancel

If you assign an IP address indirectly, via an MI vector, note that the vector is 4 MIs long. The low byte of each MI provides the number for an octet within the IP address.

If, for example, the IP address is linked to MI 0, and the low bytes of MI 0 to MI 3 contain the values 192, 198, 192, 45, the IP address will be 192.198.192. 45.

Note •	In order to implement Ethernet, a controller must be assigned an IP address. This is done via the TCP\IP Init FB, which must be included in the Ladder applications of both master and slave controllers. Information on IP addressing is given in the topic About Ethernet
•	When the Ethernet card finishes initialization, SB 142 rises. Use this as a condition before activating any Ethernet element, such as Socket: Connect.
•	An activating condition must be placed before the Ethernet Card Init FB. This may be assigned as a power-up task; however a one-shot transitional contact may also be used.
•	If you have linked the IP address to a vector of MIs, and this condition is not activated, the IP address will not be assigned to the controller. Make sure, for example, that if you have used a power-up condition, that the controller does go through power-up.

### TCP\IP: Socket Init

.

This function is located on the Com>TCP/IP menu.

Vision controllers currently offer 4 sockets.

The default configuration means that, for most applications, you do not need to include a Socket Init FB in the ladder application. However, if, for example, your application requires 4 sockets for TCP, change the default configuration of Socket 0 from UDP to TCP via the Socket Init FBs.

SB 2 Power-up bit PLC NAME TCP/IP Site 1 GNRL INIT	EN ENO- TCP/IP SOCK INIT Socket 2
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	🛎 TCP/IP Socket Init 🛛 🛛 🔀
	Socket Socket 0
	Protocol TCP 💌
	LocalPort D# · 10003
	Master\Slave Master
	OK Cancel Help

The default socket configuration includes:

Socket	Protocol	Port Number	Function
0	UDP	20,000	Enables data to be both transmitted and received within a PLC network, via MODBUS. Note • If you are using the default settings for Socket 0, note that data is sent via Unicast to IP: 255.255.255.255. port: 20,000 plus the last byte of the IP address originally assigned to the device. This is why Port numbers 20,000-20,255 are reserved for Socket 0.
1	ТСР	20,256	Enables PC to PLC communication via UnCmDrv1.dll, including VisiLogic, Remote Access, and other Unitronics communication applications.
2	ТСР	502	Set to 'listen' as slave (server), enables MODBUS applications such as OPC servers and SCADA systems which use MODBUS TCP over IP.
3	ТСР	20,257	Set to 'listen' as slave (server), enables non-Unitronics PLCs to access Unitronics PLCs, via MODBUS.

### Note • When TCP is used, the formal 'handshake' required by the protocol means that during each session occurring via a defined socket, other communications cannot flow through any of the other sockets until the current session has been terminated.

Such is not the case with UDP. Since there is no formal handshake, communications can continue to flow through a socket even when there are multiple requests.

### TCP\IP: TCP Connect \ TCP Close

TCP applications require you to use a TCP: Connect FB to establish the Ethernet connection after the Ethernet card is initialized and before activating any of the MODBUS IP commands.

To terminate the session, use the TCP: Close FB. Both elements are located on the Com>TCP/IP menu.

### Getting Started



### Ethernet TCP\IP: PC to Vision

In order to use a PC to access a Vision controller via Ethernet:

- 1. The Vision PLC must contain an Ethernet port.
- 2. Both the PC and PLC must be connected to an Ethernet network, and be assigned valid IP addresses; the PLC must be assigned a unique name via the Set PLC Name.
- 3. The PLC must be defined in either TCP\IP's Ethernet Project Settings or in TCP\IP Favorites .
- 4. In VisiLogic's Vision Communication PC Settings:
  Ethernet must be selected
  the target PLC must be selected from either Favorites or TCP\IP Project Settings.

These conditions enable VisiLogic to access a PLC via Ethernet in order to download programs and carry out other tasks.

### Vision Ethernet Port

V2xx Vision OPLCs can be ordered with or without an Ethernet port. The Ethernet port enables you to implement communications via TCP/IP, such as MODBUS over TCP. To check if your Vision controller was supplied with an installed Ethernet port, first check the device's model number. In addition, note that the Ethernet port is an RJ-45-type port that is lined with metal.

```
      Model Number
      V 2 x x - 1 x - B 2 x B
      V 2 x x - 1 x - B 2 x E B

      Supplied without
      Supplied with

      an Ethemet port.
      Supplied with
```

### **TCP/IP Project Settings**

TCP/IP Project Settings enable VisiLogic to access a Vision PLC via an Ethernet connection. Each PLC included in the project will be accessed according via the protocol and port number assigned to it.

TCP/IP Project Settings contain IP addresses and settings that are specific to a particular VisiLogic project. However, you can add any of the IP addresses it contains to the Favorites file, which is a common, global file that can be accessed from any VisiLogic project.

1. Select TCP/IP Settings from the Project menu.

Pro	ject Ed	it	View	Insert	<u>B</u> uild	Connection	Ladder	HMI	Help	
	<u>N</u> ew									Ctrl+N
B	Open									Ctrl+0
	Save									Ctrl+S
	Save <u>A</u> s	•••								
3	Print									Ctrl+P
	System	De	scription	5						,
•8	Import S	ub	routine							
9	Export 9	ub	routine							
	1 C:\Eth	err	net- Usir	ng VisiLog	jic to ac	cess Vision.vl;	>			
<b>P</b> 04	Etherne	: Pi	roject Se	ettings	R	5				
	Properti	es.								
Л	E⊻it									Alt+Q

2. Open the IP Address Selector in order to enter the IP of the PLC s in the project.

Onen the ID Address		thernet Project Se X 2   🍎 Add To 's	Use the PLC Name FB to assign a <u>unique</u> name to a PLC.			
Selector to define a		IP Address	Protocol		Port Number	PLC Name
PLC, either by	1	198.192.198.3	TCP		20257	PLC #3
clicking the button or	2	198.192.198.4	TCP		20256	PLC #4
double-clicking a line.	3	198.192.198.5	TCP		20256	PLC #5
	4		TCP		20257	
			0	к	Cancel	Help

- 3. Enter an IP address either by:
  - Typing it,

  - Importing any IP addresses you may have defined in your project within TCP/IP Init FBs
    Importing the IP of a PLC currently linked to your PC via a valid communication connection.

### **Getting Started**



- Note If you import a Vision's IP, its protocol type (UDP or TCP) and port number are also imported. If you have typed the IP address, you must also type the port number.
- 4. Before exiting TCP/IP Project Settings, you must set the PLC name. This is a unique name that is assigned to the controller via the Set PLC Name FB.

RIŲ E	thernet Project Se	ttings		×							
*	🛎 🔆 🖉 🎽 Add To Favorites 🛛 🚱										
- PL( 1 2 3 4	C's IP Address 198.192.198.3 198.192.198.4 198.192.198.5 198.192.198.6	You can edit the protocol type.	You can edit the port number and type in a PLC name. 20000 PLC # 6	C Name LC #3 LC #4 LC #5							
		UDP OK	Cancel H	lelp							



Highlight a defined PLC, and click to add it to the Favorites file.				
PLC's				
IP Address		Protocol	Port Number	PLC Name
1 198.192.198.	3	TCP	20257	PLC #3
2 198.192.198.	4	TCP	20256	PLC #4
3 198.192.198.	5	TCP	20256	PLC #5
4		TCP	20257	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
		OK	Cancel	Help

### **TCP/IP Favorites**

Favorites is a common, global file that can be accessed from any VisiLogic project, as well as by other programs such as Remote Access.

Favorites is a file that is created by VisiLogic after you have added a PLC to the favorites list. It is a global file stored in the Program\Common files\Unitronics folder as Eth\_Favorites.evb.

Ethernet Favorites is located on the Connection menu.

⊆or	nnection Ladder HMI Help		
ŵ	Online Test	F9	
	<u>D</u> ownload	٠.	
<b></b> >	Upload	Ctrl+U	
	Verify	Ctrl+Y	
Ð	PLC Flash Memory Allocation -		
5	PC Modem Configuration		
ó	Favorites (Ethernet Addresses)		
	Communication & OS	Ctrl+F9	
-			

۱.	Favorites (Ethern	et Addresse	s)	
-	* / 🖻 🗟	]	Favorites to the	nt e
	IP Address	Protocol	VVindows Clipb	oard <sub>lame</sub>
1	192.168.192.5	TCP	or a lixt file	\$ 200
2	192.168.192.2	TCP	20256	PLC #100
3	198.192.198.2	TCP	20257	PLC #2
			OK	Cancel

Once Favorites have been created, you can access them in order to:

- Import the definitions into TCP/IP Project Settings.
- Select a PLC listed in Favorites to enable VisiLogic to access a PLC via Vision Communication
   PC Settings.

### Vision Communication - PC Settings--Selecting the target PLC

Once the conditions above have been met, VisiLogic can access a selected PLC via Ethernet.

1. Select Communication and OS from the Connection menu.

2. Under Connection Type, select Ethernet, and then select the target PLC from either Project Settings or Favorites.

	🌦 Vision Communication - PC settings 🛛 🔀
Select Ethernet	🖬 🏥 🗱 🖾 🔡 🛛
communication.	Select Connection Type: Ethernet
Select the Terret	Project Settings: PLC # 1
PLC.	C Favorites:
	TimeDut: 2 sec 💌 Retries: 5 💌

VisiLogic is now ready to communicate via Ethernet.

### Ethernet TCP\IP: SBs & SIs

#	Description	Turns ON when:	Turns OFF when:	Reset by:	Comments
SB 141	Ethernet: Card Exists	Ethernet card is found	No Ethernet card is installed		When the Ethernet: Card Initialization FB runs, the PLC checks whether an Ethernet card is installed.
SB 142	Ethernet: Card Initialized	Ethernet card initialization succeeds	Ethernet card initialization fails		
SB 143	Ethernet: Socket 0 Initialized	Socket 0 initialization succeeds	Socket 0 initialization fails		
SB 144	Ethernet: Socket 1 Initialized	Socket 1 initialization succeeds	Socket 1 initialization fails		
SB 145	Ethernet: Socket 2 Initialized	Socket 2 initialization succeeds	Socket 2 initialization fails		
SB 146	Ethernet: Socket 3 Initialized	Socket 3 initialization succeeds	Socket 3 initialization fails		
SB 147	Ethernet: Socket 0 Connected	Connection established via Socket 0	Socket 0 is free		
SB 148	Ethernet: Socket 1 Connected	Connection established via Socket 1	Socket 1 is free		
SB 149	Ethernet: Socket 2 Connected	Connection established via Socket 2	Socket 2 is free		
SB 150	Ethernet Status: Socket 3 Connected	Connection established via Socket 3	Socket 3 is free		

SB 151	Ethernet Link: Communication established	A link exists	No link exists	
SB 152	Ethernet Link: 10baseT	When a 10baseT link is detected, during data transmit/ receive.	When a 10baseT link is not detected, during data transmit/ receive.	
SB 153	Ethernet Link: 100baseT	When a 100baseT link is detected, during data transmit/ receive.	When a 100baseT link is not detected, during data transmit/ receive.	
SB 154	Ethernet: data collision	More than one device is transmitting data over the Ethernet network	One or no devices are transmitting data over the Ethernet network	
SB 155	Ethernet: Socket 0 Send in Progress	Data is being transmitted via Socket 0	Data is not being transmitted via Socket 0	
SB 156	Ethernet: Socket 1 Send in Progress	Data is being transmitted via Socket 1	Data is not being transmitted via Socket 1	
SB 157	Ethernet: Socket 2 Send in Progress	Data is being transmitted via Socket 2	Data is not being transmitted via Socket 2	
SB 158	Ethernet: Socket 3 Send in Progress	Data is being transmitted via Socket 3	Data is not being transmitted via Socket 3	

Parameter	Description	Value	Comments
SI 141	Ethernet Socket 0: Protocol Type	• 0=PC application (default)	(Read-only) Sockets are set to Protocol Type 0 by
SI 142	Ethernet Socket 1: Protocol Type	• 1=MODBUS	default. Activating MODBUS Configuration changes the Protocol
SI 143	Ethernet Socket 2: Protocol Type		
SI 144	Ethernet Socket 3: Protocol Type		

Parameter	Function	SI value	Message
		0	Initialized to UDP, status: Closed
S1 145	Socket 0: Status		

### Getting Started

SI 146	Socket 1: Status	2
		14
SI 147	Socket 2: Status	15
SI 148	Socket 3: Status	

Initialized to TCP, status: Listen

Initialized to UDP, status: Ready

Parameter	Description	Value	Comments
SDW 14	Socket 0: Number of sent transmissions	Updated after each data transmission via Socket 0	
SDW 15	Socket 1: Number of sent transmissions	Updated after each data transmission via Socket 1	
SDW 16	Socket 2: Number of sent transmissions	Updated after each data transmission via Socket 2	
SDW 17	Socket 3: Number of sent transmissions	Updated after each data transmission via Socket 3	
SDW 18	Socket 0: Number of received transmissions	Updated after each data packet received via Socket 0	
SDW 19	Socket 1: Number of received transmissions	Updated after each data packet received via Socket 1	
SDW 20	Socket 2: Number of received transmissions	Updated after each data packet received via Socket 2	
SDW 21	Socket 3: Number of received transmissions	Updated after each data packet received via Socket 3	

### Ethernet TCP\IP: PC to Vision

In order to use a PC to access a Vision controller via Ethernet:

- 1. The Vision PLC must contain an Ethernet port.
- 2. Both the PC and PLC must be connected to an Ethernet network, and be assigned valid IP addresses; the PLC must be assigned a unique name via the Set PLC Name.
- 3. The PLC must be defined in either TCP\IP's Ethernet Project Settings or in TCP\IP Favorites .
- 4. In VisiLogic's Vision Communication PC Settings:
  - Ethernet must be selected
  - the target PLC must be selected from either Favorites or TCP\IP Project Settings.

These conditions enable VisiLogic to access a PLC via Ethernet in order to download programs and carry out other tasks.

Initialized to UDP, status: Engaged in Transmit/Receive

### Vision Ethernet Port

V2xx Vision OPLCs can be ordered with or without an Ethernet port. The Ethernet port enables you to implement communications via TCP/IP, such as MODBUS over TCP. To check if your Vision controller was supplied with an installed Ethernet port, first check the device's model number. In addition, note that the Ethernet port is an RJ-45-type port that is lined with metal.

### **TCP/IP Project Settings**

TCP/IP Project Settings enable VisiLogic to access a Vision PLC via an Ethernet connection. Each PLC included in the project will be accessed according via the protocol and port number assigned to it.

TCP/IP Project Settings contain IP addresses and settings that are specific to a particular VisiLogic project. However, you can add any of the IP addresses it contains to the Favorites file, which is a common, global file that can be accessed from any VisiLogic project.

- 1. Select TCP/IP Settings from the Project menu.
- 2. Open the IP Address Selector in order to enter the IP of the PLC s in the project.
- 3. Enter an IP address either by:
  - Typing it,
  - Importing any IP addresses you may have defined in your project within TCP/IP Init FBs
  - Importing the IP of a PLC currently linked to your PC via a valid communication connection.
- Note If you import a Vision's IP, its protocol type (UDP or TCP) and port number are also imported. If you have typed the IP address, you must also type the port number.
- 4. Before exiting TCP/IP Project Settings, you must set the PLC name. This is a unique name that is assigned to the controller via the Set PLC Name FB.
- **Note** You can add any PLC defined in TCP/IP Project Settings to the Ethernet Favorites file.

### **TCP/IP Favorites**

Favorites is a common, global file that can be accessed from any VisiLogic project, as well as by other programs such as Remote Access.

Favorites is a file that is created by VisiLogic after you have added a PLC to the favorites list. It is a global file stored in the Program\Common files\Unitronics folder as Eth\_Favorites.evb.

Ethernet Favorites is located on the Connection menu.

### **Getting Started**



Once Favorites have been created, you can access them in order to:

- Import the definitions into TCP/IP Project Settings.
- Select a PLC listed in Favorites to enable VisiLogic to access a PLC via Vision Communication
   PC Settings.

### Vision Communication - PC Settings--Selecting the target PLC

Once the conditions above have been met, VisiLogic can access a selected PLC via Ethernet.

- 1. Select Communication and OS from the Connection menu.
- 2. Under Connection Type, select Ethernet, and then select the target PLC from either Project Settings or Favorites.

	Sision Communication - PC settings	×
Select Ethernet	🖬 🏥 👪 🖾 😫	
Communication.	Select Connection Type: Ethernet	
Select the Target	Project Settings: PLC # 1	<b>904</b>
PLC.	C Favorites:	Ġ
	TimeDut: 2 sec 💌 Retries: 5 💌	

VisiLogic is now ready to communicate via Ethernet.

# Networks

# **About Networks**

Vision controllers offer different networking options:

### CANbus

You can create a decentralized control network of up to 63 controllers using CANbus. This is sometimes called a multi-master network. In such a network, CANbus enables inter-PLC data exchange. Technical specifications and wiring diagrams are given in the User Guide. Vision controllers also support data exchange via the MODBUS protocol



You can network M90 Micro-OPLCs and Vision OPLC controllers.



Via RS232 and RS485, you can implement communication protocols such as MODBUS.

### RS485

RS485 is a balanced serial interface for the transmission of digital data, which enables you to create a multi-drop network containing up to 32 devices, or nodes.



Network Access via Serial COM Ports

You can access a networked controller unit via its RS232/RS485 port using a PC, whether directly connected or via modem link. Using any networked controller as a bridge, you can view, read, and write data into any unit, as well as upload and download programs.



This feature can also allow you to view your network via a SCADA program.



# **CANbus Networking Operands**

CANbus enables inter-PLC data exchange. Via the CANbus port, you can:

- Network up to 64 controllers, where each unit can read information from up to 8 other controllers in the network.
- Connect one PC to 63 controllers.

Each networked PLC broadcasts specific data to the network, stamped with the controller's unique ID number. This data is contained in the following system operands:16 System Bits (SB 200 to SB 215( 16 Inputs (I 0 to I 15), and 2 System Integers (SI 200 and SI 201).

When the data in these operands is constant (unchanging), it is broadcast every 400mS. When the data is dynamic (changing) it is broadcast at a rate not exceeding 20mS. Even when the data changes are rapid, data is not broadcast at a rate exceeding 20mS; this avoids network overload.

### Implementing inter-PLC data exchange

Assigning each networked controller a unique Unit ID number

CANbus ID numbers range from 1 to 63. The ID number is contained in SI 8. You can assign an ID number by:

- Entering a value into SI 8 via Information Mode.
- Storing a value into SI 8 as shown below, either by storing a constant number or by linking a register value.



Linking a register value allows you to enable an end-user to enter an Unit ID number via the HMI panel. You can create a Display for this purpose as shown below.



### Initializing the CANbus port

The CANbus ports of all controllers in the network must be initialized. This is done via a COM Port Init FB as shown below.

EN ENC	Click the drop-down arrow to access the CANbus option.
CANbus	Com Port Standard: CANbus 8 RS232
Click the drop-down arrow to set	Baud Rate:     Parity:       500 Kb     Image: Stop Bits:       0.5 sec     Image: Stop Bits:         1     Restore Defaults
	Use Modem
	ATZ ATE0/100K4&D0&S0&C1 ATS0=0S10=15S7=30 AT&W C Pulse
	Time Out Reply:       1.2     Answer Settings
	Use GSM GSM Modem Type: PIN Code : M20T or compatible
	Auto-detect GSM Baud Rate     Clear SIM (all stored messages)
	Cancel Help

# Note • The baud rates of all controllers in the network must be set to the same rate. Baud rate is limited by cable length, as described in the CANbus Specifications section below.

• The COM Init FB used to initialize the CANbus port should be included in the Main Routine of the Ladder application.

Reading Data from a Networked Controller via Network Operands

When a controller is integrated into a CANbus network, the values in these operands are continually broadcast to the network: SB 200 to SB 215, I 0 to I 15, SI 200 and SI 201.

In order to enable a networked controller to read the values from another networked controller, place the desired function in the net. In the Select Operand Address box, click on the Network tab, then select the ID of the target controller and the desired operand.



SB 237: Enable/Disable Broadcast

By default, SB 237 is set to ON, enabling the controller to broadcast data. When this SB is OFF, the data is not broadcast. This can be used prevent network overload.

**CANbus Specifications** 

Power Requirements: 24VDC (±4%), 40mA max. per unit

Galvanic Isolation between CANbus and controller: Yes

Baud rate	Max. Network Cable Length:
1 Mbit/s	25 m
500 Kbit/s	100 m
250 Kbit/s	250 m
125 Kbit/s	500 m
100 Kbit/s	500 m
50 Kbit/s	1000 m
20 Kbit/s	1000 m
Note •	Cable lengths over 500 meters require an additional power supply.

#### Wiring Considerations

Use twisted-pair cable. DeviceNet® thick shielded twisted pair cable is recommended.

Network terminators: These are supplied with the controller. Place terminators at each end of the CANbus network. Resistance must be set to 1%,  $121\Omega$ , 1/4W.

Connect the ground signal to the earth at only one point, near the power supply.

The network power supply need not be at the end of the network.

Maximum number of controllers in a network: 63.

### Wiring Diagram



Unitronics' CANbus control network is run by a separate isolated power supply that is not part of the network power supply.

## Assigning a Unit ID number

When you create an controller network, you must assign a Unit ID number to each controller. A Unit ID number is unique. The same ID number must not be assigned to more than one device within a network.

You use this number for two purposes:

- To enable controllers to exchange data.
- To access a networked controller via your PC.

The ID number is contained in SI 8. You can assign an ID number by:

- Entering a value into SI 8 via Information Mode.
- Storing a value into SI 8 as shown below, either by storing a constant number or by linking a register value.



Linking a register value allows you to enable an end-user to enter an Unit ID number via the HMI panel. You can create a Display for this purpose as shown below.

Store the ID number into SI 8.	Start-Up Display Enter Unit ID -99
MI 5 Enter Unit ID A B Unit ID	Image     Image
	MS Sans Serii (8)  2  . Text After No Leading  Unsigned format  Description Unit ID number Link : MI 5 : Enter Unit ID number DK Cancel Help

Note •	The default ID # is 1.	
•	ID numbers 1-63 are reserved for controllers linked via CANbus; ID numbers 64-127 are reserved for controllers networked via RS485. Using this range of ID numbers prevents a polled controller from attempting to act as a CANbus bridge, preventing it from attempting to locate the requested controller.	Vision Communication - PC settings

# **Network Operands-Communicating Data Via CANbus**

When a controller is integrated into a CANbus network, the data contained in certain system operands is continuously broadcast to the network, together with the controller's unique ID number. The data is contained in 16 System Bits (SB 200 to SB 215( 16 Inputs (I 0 to I 15), and 2 System Integers (SI 200 and SI 201).

In order to enable a networked controller to read the values from another networked controller, place the desired function in the net. In the Select Operand Address box, click on the Network tab, then select the ID of the target controller and the desired operand.



# Accessing a Networked PLC via PC

Use a PC to access controllers within a network either via a direct connection, GSM or landline modem.



### Accessing a Networked Controller

1. Connect your PC to any controller in the network using the programming cable supplied with the controller kit.



### Note • Different PCs can access a network at the same time, using different controller units as bridges. However, 2 different PCs cannot simultaneously access the same controller unit.

2. Select a networked controller by opening Communication & OS from the Connection menu, and then entering the Unit ID number.



### Accessing a Networked Controller via Modem





The PC-modem cable is not the same type of cable used to connect between the controller and the

	modem. Ensure that the cable used to connect the PC to the modem provides connection points for all of the modem's pins.
•	In order to ensure successful operations, it is recommended that you use an external PC modem. Internal modems may not support communications.
•	Both PC and controller must use the same type of modem: either landline or GSM. Internal PC modems must be used in conjunction with the driver provided by the modem's manufacturer.
•	If calls are routed via a switchboard, note that the switchboard settings may interfere with communications. Consult with your switchboard provider.

### Modems: Setting Up

PLC-Modem Connection

The Unitronics' cable provided with modem kits does not provide a standard connection. This connection is adapted to support the fact that Unitronics controllers do not support the control lines. The cable shorts the DSR and the DTR together, which ensures that the terminal is always ready to receive data.

For more information, refer to the topic Modem Connection and Pinouts.

PC Modem Configuration

Open PC Modem Configuration from the Options menu.

🔚 Remo	te Access	×
Options	Help	
<b>റ്റ</b> ് Online	e	F9
Refresh Ctrl+R		
🛃 Hide Keys 🛛 🛛 Ctrl+H		
🚘 PC Me	odem Configuration	
Comm	nunication - PC settings $^{k\delta}$	
• Select	t OPLC Model	•
Exit		



Note • If, within the modem initialization strings, the parameter S7 TimeOut, is to short to permit the PLC's modem to answer, an error will result.

For example, if this parameter is set as S7=30, the PC modem will wait for 3 seconds to receive an answer from the PLC's modem. If, however, the PLC program's COM Init FB Answer Settings are set to 'Answer after 6 rings,' the PLC modem will not be able to answer before the 3 seconds have elapsed. In this case, the TimeOut parameter is exceeded, and the PC modem will return the No Carrier error.

### **Online Test Mode & Remote Access**

You can run Online Test mode and use Remote Access session to display the networked controller on your PC screen.

To do this, click the Online Test button on the toolbar, then click the Remote Access button.

Contacts r Co	estart 2. Click to display Test Mode. PLC.	Y
Lockder     Main Module     Main Routine     Main Routine     Main Routine     Main Routine     Main Routine     Wainble 1     Pisplay 1     Variable 2     Variable 2     Display 2     Other Tables	I     MB 0       IP     I       IP     ISSC       IP     ISSC	

The controller model that is shown on the display is the one selected in Hardware Configuration.

During a Remote Access session, you can:

- Use your cursor to operate the controller keypad and activate touch-screen objects (relevant models).
- Use your PC keyboard to operate the controller keypad (numeric keys, function keys <F1> to <F8>). Note that the Vision <ESC> key is <E> on the PC keyboard, and that <F9> is reserved for activating Online mode.
- Enter Information Mode by pressing the *<*i> key with your cursor.

## **Check Network Status**

The network status is checked via the bridge. Access Check Network Status by opening the Connection menu, selecting Communication & OS, then clicking the network tab.



## **CANbus Network Problems**

SB 236 indicates that there is an error in the CANbus network.

SI 236 CANbus Network: Failed Unit ID. Note that the first 3 bits turn ON only when the controller is unable to broadcast via the CANbus port. The value of SI 236 indicates the following messages:

Value	Message	May result from:
0	No Acknowledgement	CANbus power failure, crossed wires, incorrectly set termination points.
1	CANbus OFF	
2	CANbus Warning error	Poor transmission quality due to faulty wiring, or if the cable length exceeds recommendations.
4	One or more networked units cannot be read. If this bit is ON, check SI 238, SI 240-243.	

SI 237 CANbus Network Communication Error Code is a bitmap that indicates the LAST unit that cannot be read. Note that each controller can receive messages from up to 8 others. Example: Assume that there are 6

controllers in the network (3,6,8,13,17,34). Controller 3 is waiting for data from controllers 8 and 13 and 17. If the controller does not receive data from controller 13 (assume a 1 second timeout) then SI 237 will contain a value of 13. Bit 4 in SI 236 will also turn ON. Once controller 3 has received the data, Bit 4 turns OFF.

SIs 240, 241, 242, and 243 serve as a bitmap indicating which unit is in error. If, for example, the network includes unit ID numbers 8, 9 and 13, and PLC #9 cannot be accessed, then the ninth bit in SI 240 will turn ON. When the error is fixed, the bit falls to OFF.

CANbus troubleshooting

Problem	Possible cause	Recommended Action
Failed communication	Baud rate settings	<ul> <li>All controllers in the network must be set to the same CANbus baud rate.</li> <li>Baud rate may be set:</li> <li>By initializing a port via the COM Init FB.</li> <li>Temporarily via Info mode;however, note that the baud rate will be reset at the next power-up</li> </ul>
	Termination resistors	Termination resistor settings are provided in the chapter Communications in the controller's user guide.
	CANbus power supply	Check that the CANbus power supply is properly connected, and that the voltage is in the permissible range as described in the chapter Communications in the controller's user guide.
	Incorrect ID number	You may not have assigned the correct unit ID number in your operand addresses (between 1-63). Check the OPLC settings tab Communicate with OPLC.
PC cannot communicate with bridge	Incorrect setting	When you communicate with the controller unit that you are using as a bridge to the network, either enter the ID# of the bridge or select Direct Connection in the OPLC settings tab Communicate with OPLC.
PC cannot communicate with network	Communication settings	Make sure the current RS232 parameters in your project are the same as the parameters that are actually in the bridge. Check these topics:Check Network Status, Vision Communication PC Settings
	Incorrect baud rate	The bridge's RS232 port's baud rate cannot be set below 9600.

# Utilities

# Live Update from the Web

Live Update is available from the Help menu. To start Update, select a subject and follow the on-screen instructions.

Help			
ł 💰 He	lp F1		
- Ex-	amples		
- 😪 Liv	e Update 🔹 🕨 🕨	Function Blocks	
😻 Un	itronics On The <u>W</u> eb	・ Examples が	
Ab	out	💕 Help	
		冠 Operating System	
Note •	To enable Live Upda located on the Project Via the Project Prope via your Internet Exp	te, you may need to chang t menu. rties Download tab, you c lorer settings.	e the settings in Project Properties, which is an select to run Live Update via a proxy server, or
•	After downloading Fl the FBs menu. Check	Bs, you must close and the topic FB Library for	en restart VisiLogic. The new FBs will appear on more information.
•	After downloading a Connect the controlle The new Operating sy begin the installation	new Operating System to er to your PC, then open C ystem will appear in the Ir process.	your PC, you must install it in the controller. ommunication and OS from the Connection menu. Istall Operating System tab. Select Download to

# **Information Mode**

Information Mode is a utility that is embedded in the operating system of the controller. Via Information Mode, you can view data on the LCD screen, use the controller's keyboard to directly edit data, and perform certain actions such as resetting the controller. You can enter Information Mode at any time without regard to what is currently displayed on the LCD screen.

Enter Information Mode by pressing the  $\langle i \rangle$  key for a few seconds. The default password is 1111.



Viewing data does not affect the controller's program. Performing actions, such as initializing the controller, can influence the program.

Note that when you use Information Mode, the keyboard is dedicated to that purpose. The keys return to normal application functions when you exit Information Mode.

### **Using Information Mode**

- 1. To enter Information mode, press the  $\langle i \rangle$  key on the Vision's keyboard.
- 2. Enter your password. The default password is 1111. This password remains in effect until you change it via the Information Mode screen described in the table below.
- 3. The controller enters Information Mode, showing the first category, Data Types. Use the <Enter> key to enter a category.
- 4. Press the <ESC> key to exit a category, and to exit Information mode.



The controller will block entry into Information mode until the correct password has been entered. This is why you must record any password you set for your controller.

The data in Information Mode is arranged in Categories. Each Category contains several Subjects. You navigate Information Mode by using the keyboard buttons.

To exit Information mode, press the <ESC>button on the Vision's keyboard. Each press returns one level up. Press the number of times necessary to exit.

### **Note** • When you reenter Information Mode, the controller will return to the last Category viewed.

### V290 only

•

Note that in order enter Information Mode, you touch the V290's touchscreen in an area that is not occupied by a Keypad Entry variable or other screen object that has been assigned a Touch Property. Maintain contact for several seconds, until the controller enters Information Mode. The V290 displays Information Mode options on the touchscreen exactly as other Vision controllers display these options on their LCD screens.

To navigate through Information Mode, use touchscreen keys just as the keypad keys are used in other Vision controllers.

The table below shows the categories of information that can be accessed in this mode.

### Info System Operands

INFO mode, SB 36

#	Description	Turned ON	Turned Off	Comments
SB 36	INFO mode	By OS, Remote Access, or program	Turns OFF when user exits Info Mode	Delay time to enter Info Mode is 4 seconds, may be modified via SI 50

### INFO Delay time, SI 50

#	Description	Value	Comments
SI 50	INFO delay time	Default by O/S (every power up) = 4 seconds	<ul> <li>Units: seconds.</li> <li>Legal values: 0, 3 to 20.</li> <li>If you force or store '0' into equal Zero – INFO is disabled.</li> <li>For V290 – Touching the <i>key on the touch screen starts Info Mode – Touching a legal Ladder application variable clears the INFO time.</i></li> </ul>

Category	Subject	Possible Actions
Data Types	Memory Bits	• View bit status
	System Bits	Change bit status (Set/Reset)
	Memory Integers	• View integer/long integer/double word value.
	System Integers	Change values
	Memory Longs	• Toggle Base: view the value in decimal or hexadecimal form.
	System Longs	
	Memory Double Words	
	System Double Words	
	Inputs	• View input status.
		<ul> <li>Force input status to 1 (FR1) or 0 (FR0). Forced values stay in effect until Normal mode (NRM) is selected, or until the controller is initialized or reset.</li> <li>Note • Forced values do influence your program. This can be useful in testing the effect of an input condition on an output status.</li> </ul>
	Outputs	• View output status.

		• Force output status to 1 (FR1) or 0 (FR0). Note that forced output values do not affect your program.
		• Set/Reset output status.
	Timers	• Enter a Preset Timer value.
		• View the current timer value and status by selecting the R.T. option.
System	Model & O/S Ver	<ul><li>Check the controller's model number and operating system version.</li><li>Check whether the controller is in Run or Stop mode.</li></ul>
	Working Mode	Check whether the controller is in Run or Stop mode.
		• Reset the controller. This restarts your program; restoring power-up values to all data types except for those protected by the battery backup. The battery protects Real Time Clock (RTC), all operand, and Data Table values.
		• Initialize the controller. This restarts your program and initializes all values, restoring 0 values to all data types.
	Time & Date	• View the Real Time Clock (RTC) settings. Note that the RTC settings control all time-based functions.
		• Change the RTC settings via the controller's keyboard.
	Unit ID	The Unit ID number identifies a networked controller. You can:
		• Change the ID number. The new ID number will remain in effect until the controller is reset.
		• Burn the ID number into the controller's FLASH memory. This is a permanent change.
	Serial Port 1	View and edit communication settings.
	Serial Port 2	• Select to Change or Burn the new settings.
	CANbus Baud Rate	Change the CANbus baud rate.
Function Block	Reserved for future use	
Password	New	Set a New Password
Hardware Configuration		<ul> <li>Check if I/O Expansion Modules are installed. Note that I/O Expansion Modules are represented by letters. Identical module types are represented by identical letters as shown below.</li> <li>Shows if an I/O module is short-circuited.</li> </ul>
Identical letters signify identical I/O Expansion Module types		
--	------------------	---
FI	BW Configuration	Xno I/O Expansion Module installed
F2 Shows that I/Os on	Short 0000 + Sec	Shows that an I/O on Expansion Module #5 is short-circuited
Snap-in Module are not short-circuited		F6

# **On-Line Test Mode (Debug)**

To test a project, first connect the controller to your PC using the program download cable provided with the software package, then download the project and click the On-Line Test button. The Online Test toolbar opens, enabling you to:

- Switch between Run and Stop modes.
- Use Single Scan to run a single cycle of the ladder program for debugging purposes. You can stop the scan cycle at any point by placing OnLine Test Points, located on the More menu, in the Ladder.



When the scan reaches an OnLine test point that is active (receives RLO), Online Test freezes, enabling you to check element status and values, including Timer values, at that point during Ladder execution. Note that if more than one OnLine test point is activated, SB 35 turns ON.

• Measure the time interval between 2 points in the Ladder application, by placing Start and End Interval elements, located on the More menu, anywhere in the application. The time interval, in



micro-seconds, is stored in the DW linked to the End Interval element.

Open Remote Access to debug remote controllers via network or modem connections.



In Online Test mode, you can view the power flow, and view and force operand values and element status.





## Remote Access: Accessing a PLC via PC

You can use a PC to access a remote Vision and download, upload, and edit programs. You can access:

- Stand-alone controllers that are directly connected to the PC via a cable.
- Controllers within a network
- Either stand-alone or networked controllers via GSM/CDMA or landline modem.



When you run On-line Test mode, you can use the Remote Access utility to display the remote controller on your PC screen. During a Remote Access session, you can:

- 'Press' keypad keys and touch-screen objects (relevant models) by using your cursor, to click the controller keypad touch-screen objects on-screen, or via your PC keyboard, by pressing numeric keys and function keys <F1> to <F8>). Note that the Vision <ESC> key is <E> on the PC keyboard, and that <F9> is reserved for activating Online mode.
- Enter Information Mode by pressing the <i> key on your PC keyboard, or by clicking it onscreen with your cursor.



When you are in Online mode, you can toggle Remote Access on and off via <Shift>+<F9>.

# Accessing a Controller

#### Direct Connection: PC-Controller

Connect your PC to any controller using the programming cable supplied with the controller kit.



#### Accessing a Networked Controller

1. Connect your PC to any controller in the network using the programming cable supplied with the controller kit.



- Note •Different PCs can access a network at the same time, using different controller units as bridges.<br/>However, 2 different PCs cannot simultaneously access the same controller unit.
- 2. Select a networked controller by opening Communication & OS from the Connection menu, and then entering the Unit ID number.

Connection Ladder	(Help
66 Online Test	F9
Download	Cbl+D
Upload	Cpl+U
🛃 Verify	
+ PLC Flash Memory A	ation
🔚 PC Modem Configura	PC Com Parameters (non-Modem)
Communication & OS	PC Port: COM 1 TimeOut 1 sec T
(S) (Click to acces	Retries: 3 Baud Rate: 57600
(R) directly connective connectiv	Corrmunicate with OPLC Programming
1+ To access a networked controller clic	Within Network: CANbus unit ID 2
here and sele unit's ID numb	he Mcdet: When Unit ID 2 is selected,
↓ 1 1 1 1 1	Hardware Rev: Controller via the bridge. Bridge Unit ID 1 Unit ID 2
	Get OPLC Infomation
3	E.a.

#### Accessing a Controller via Modem



- 1. Prepare and connect your PLC-side modem as described in the topic PLC-side Modems, in the section 'How to enable a Vision controller to communicate via landline, GSM, or CDMA modem'.
- 2. Prepare the PC-side modem as described in the topic PC-Modem Configuration, in the section 'How to Configure a PC-side Modem'.
- 3. In Connection PC-Modem Configuration, dial the remote PLC's controller to establish the data link, then enter OnLine mode.

Note •	The Zoom option on the Remote Access Options menu can be activated only if you select Hide Keys. Zoom cannot be used with M90/91 or V280 controllers.
•	<ul> <li>Improving Remote Access run times:</li> <li>To improve VisiLogic's Remote Access run times, select Create HMI Display Cache from the Build menu.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>To create a .ura file containing static displays, select Export Displays to Remote Access, a stand-alone utility provided by Unitronics.</li> </ul>



## **Project (Vision) Downloader**

The Project Downloader utility is included in Unitronics Remote Access software, which is installed with VisiLogic. The Project Downloader makes it possible to install .dvi files in local or remote controllers without using VisiLogic.

.dvi files are complete applications in a compressed format. You create them when you download programs to a controller.

#### **Creating Download files**

- Note •
   Both the controller used to make the download file (source), and the controller that is installed with the .dvi file (target) should be installed with the same OS Version.

   •
   To avoid errors in the .dvi file, the Download process must run smoothly, without being aborted or
  - To avoid errors in the .dvi file, the Download process must run smoothly, without being aborted o affected by PC faults.
  - 1. Click Download, then select Create Download file.

⊆o	nnection Ladder HMI	Tools	Help	_		
ŝć	<u>O</u> nline Test		F9	٢	🎽 🔐 😫	
2	Download		•		Download	Ctrl+D
•	Upload		Ctrl+U		Stop - Download - Run	Alt+Ctrl+D
	Verify		Ctrl+Y	2	Stop - Download - Reset	Alt+Ctrl+R
Ð	PLC Flash Memory Allocat	ion		2	Download & Create download file	
-						

2. A dialog box opens, enabling you to select a Save location. Select a location, then click OK, a .dvi file is created.

#### Checking the integrity of the Download file

Although you do not need to have Remote Access installed on your PC in order to create .d90 files, you need to install it in order to check .dvi files.

- 1. After you have created the .dvi file, save the project from which it was downloaded.
- 2. Open a new, empty project and download it to the controller.
- 3. Start Remote Access and select the appropriate Vision model.



- 4. Click on the Project Downloader which is located on the Remote Access Tools menu.
- 5. Navigate to the .dvi file and download it into the controller.
- 6. Reopen the original Ladder project used to create the .dvi file.
- 7. Select Verify from the Controller menu; the Verify process will compare the project in your PC with the .dvi application installed in the controller.
- 8. If the Verify process is successful, the .dvi file is valid.

For more information regarding the Project Downloader, check the Remote Access Help.

## **Quick Navigation**

VisiLogic offers different tools for program navigation.

Program Tree



• Ladder Modules and subroutines can be moved via drag-and-drop, as can HMI Modules and Displays. Again, moving elements does not affect the order in which they run.

The Main Ladder Module, Main Subroutine, Start-up HMI Module and the Start-up HMI Display cannot be moved via drag-and-drop or erased. For easy identification, they are always marked in orange.

Accessing a Load Display Target



Accessing a Call Subroutine Target



Go To Label

Use labels as bookmarks to mark program sections, and then locate them using the Go To Label<Alt> + <Right/Left arrow> and List of Labels <Ctrl> + <L> utility.

Ladder HMI Help					
Connect Elements	🗐 60° 🛛	32			
Contacts	ck - S	tore • Vector •			
🙀 Coils 🔹	• • • • • • •				
📩 Compare 🔹 🕨	11111		Select Operand	And Address	Y
🖬 Math 🔹 🕨			Select operation	Allu Address	
👫 Logic 🔹 🕨			s≘ Label		
L, Clock			Label	SubRoutine	Ok
→∎ Stor <u>e</u>			PID: Heating	Execute	Cancel
www.Vec		Open the List of	Setpoint Heating	Heating step	Cancer
Call Use the function	on i i	Lables, then click	Setpoint Cooling	Cooling step	Help
📻 App keys to jump fi	rom	a label name to	PID PB: cooling	Looing step	
🚃 Instel to label .		at the label's			
🗘 Net		location.	P.		
🗭 Insert Comment			-		
E Insert New Label					
🚰 Go to Lable 🔹 🕨	💿 Next labe	el Alt+Right			
	Previous	label 🖊 Alt+Left			
	List of La	bels Ctrl+L			

The Find utility also enables you to easily locate, directly open, and edit most program elements.

In addition, shortcut menus that are relevant can be opened.

## **Operand View**

Use the Operands tab in the Output Window to see if operands and I/Os are used in a program, assign power-up and preset values, view current values when you run Test mode, change formats, assign descriptions (symbols), and view and edit Watch Folders.

×	1	Inputs		Operand	Address	In Use	۹	66	Format	Description
Ш	0	Outputs		MI	1				DEC	Actual Temp in C
Ш	Т	Timers	imers		2	<b>V</b>			DEC	PWM PID heating output
Ш	MB	4B Memory Bits		MI	3	<b>V</b>	10		DEC	HSO Frequency
Ш	SB	System Bits		MI	4	<b>V</b>			DEC	Program No./List driver
	MI	Memory Integer		MI	5	<b>V</b>			DEC	Program data pointer
	0	lperands 👧 W	/atches	: 💽 M	1emory 🏚	Find	0 😂	ompile	🍠 E	vent Log

### Watch Folders

Watch Folders enable you to:

- Arrange related groups of operands in folders.
- Name the folders.
- View these operands in the tabbed Output Window at the bottom of the screen.

To view a Watch folder, click the Watches tab at the bottom of the screen, then select the desired folder. Edit the folder by right-clicking a line, then selecting the appropriate function.



Adding Operands to a Watch Folder from a net

• To add a single operand to a Watch folder, right-click it in the Ladder or in the Operand Output Window.



×	1	Inputs		Operand	Addr 3. C	lick on the desir	ed Watch folde	r.	Elevator A Elevator B	rmat EC	Description Status Code
		1. Right-click the ope	erand.	M	1				Safety Sunctions	EC	A Value
	me	memory bits		< M	2			₽₽	Watch 4	EC	B Value
	SB	System Bits		M	3	<b>v</b>			Watch 5	EC	C Value
	MI	Memory Integer				Show In Us	e Only	<b>1</b>	Watch 6	EC	A+B
Ш	SI	System Integer	2. S	elect insert to V	Vatch.	Show All O	perands		Watch 7	EC	B+A
	ML	Memory Long		1411				Ĩ.	Watch 8	EC	A+B+C
Ш	SL	System Long	=1	MI	7	Insert "MI :	3" To Watch 🕒	ų-	Hataro	DEC	C+A+B
	PARZ.	President a Stational	'				. <u></u>				1
		Diperands 🗔 🕅	atches	độn Find	🔅 Compile	👂 Event Lo	og				

• To add all of the operands within a net to a Watch folder, right-click the right-hand rail of the desired net.

Quartic Var Quartic Var Quartic Var Quartic Var Quartic Var Quartic Var Quartic Var Quartic Var Quartic Var Quartic Var	Image: A set of the set	low	ENO DRE B Tank	23 [0] screen	e tank 
	3	Witch 2			
× Watch 1	Network	(Watch 4	Address	(je	
Watch 2	0	Watch 5	1		
Watch 3	0	Watch 6	20		
Watch 4	0	Watch 7	1		
Watch 6		Watch 8	20		
		watchio			
💾 Operands 👧 Wa	atches 🏘 Find 🔮	Compile 🦻 Event Lo	og		

×	I	Inputs _		Dperand MI	Addr 3. C	lick on the desir	ed Watch folde	r.	Elevator A Elevator B	rmat EC	Description Status Code
		1. Right-click the operand	l,	MI	1	<b>v</b>		1	Safety Sunctions	•EC	A Value
	mo	memory ous	765	MI	2	<b>V</b>		88 A	Watch 4	EC	B Value
	SB	System Bits		M	3	<b>v</b>		1	Watch 5	EC	C Value
	M	Memory Integer			·	Show In Us	e Only		Watch 6	EC	A+B
	SI	System Integer 2	. Selec	t Insert to \	Natch.	Show All Or	perands	12	Watch 7	EC	B+A
	ML	Memory Long		1911					Watch 8	EC	A+B+C
	SL	System Long	1	MI	7	Insert "ML	3" To Watch	1	1.0001.0	JEC	C+A+B
	PAGE -	Dana da la Africa da Canad				-			· · ·		·
	<b>E</b> (	Operands 😡 Watche	s <b>4</b>	ing Find	🔅 Compile	👂 Event Lo	)g				

# **Protecting Subroutines**

You can create a Ladder Password, then apply it to protect multiple subroutines. When a subroutine is protected, a user cannot export/import it. In addition, the user cannot open, copy, or print it without supplying the password.

#### **Creating and Using a Password**

1. To create a password, select File>Set Ladder Password; then fill in the password field.

🌦 Ladder Protection							
Password:	REFERENCE						
Verify:	800000						
C	OK Cancel Help						

2. To apply the password to a subroutine, right-click the subroutine's name in the Project Navigation window, then select Set as Protected; a small padlock icon is displayed nest to the subroutine's name.

You can also right-click a module's name and select Protect All Subroutines in Module.



Note •

Protection is applied after VisiLogic (not just the project) is closed and reopened.

3. To remove protection from a subroutine, right-click the protected subroutine's name, then select Set AS Unprotected; the padlock icon disappears.

1 / 1				
E 🛃 Ladder	^	-		
🖻 🔄 I Main Module		414		
I Main Routine		1/1		
Confirm Step-Defa				
Delete program		-iPi-		
Edit-Confirm step		Open	Subro	utine : Delete program
	Ð	Add N	ew Su	broutine
	Ŷ	Net H	sight	•
	4	Find S	ubrou	tine : Delete program
	-	Set as	unpro	otected
				6

You can remove protection from a module in the same way.





#### **Deleting a Ladder Password**

1. To delete a Ladder password from a project, select File>Unset Ladder Password.

### **Memory Tab**

Memory enables you to view a vector according to the length you set and in the format you desire. When ASCII is the selected format, you can click a line and force a string to the vector.

			🛐 On Line	)			
			Vector Prop	erties			
4	25185 MI 0 Input value X	EAR	MI 0 String	Operand - Input value X	Length 12	Size 8 BIT	Format ASCII
1					_		
	Operand	Length	Size	Format		Select	ASCII
MI O	- Input value X	12	8 BIT	ASCII	abcdef	format.	then click a
MI 1	- Output value Y	2	8 BIT	HEX	00 66 00	line to e	enter & force
MI 2	- Pointer X1,Y1		8 BIT	🔆 Delete Row		an ASC	listring
				Clear Row		annov	aronnig.
🗄 Op	Pictut of	Mer	nory	Elete All	<b>%</b> Ev	ent Log	
	add, de	lete, or es.					

### Find (& Replace)

Highlight an operand or Ladder Element and press <Ctrl> + <F>; the results will be displayed in the Output window at the bottom of the screen. Highlighting a function and pressing <Ctrl> + <F> will open a dialog box, enabling you to select the desired operand.

In addition, right-clicking most program elements will display the Find button.

In addition, VisiLogic offers the following Find functions:

Find

Use Find to locate operands, labels, subroutines and Displays.

<ol> <li>Click the Find icon; the Select Operand box opens.</li> </ol>	🍋 🕸 🔄 🔐 😵	
2. Select the tab containing the element you want to find; that type is displayed.	Select Operand and Address	
3. Click the element you want to find, then click OK; the View window displays the results.	Confirm Step-Default     Chimonics Logo     Program run     Step data proceed     Read DT to edit	
4. Double click a result; VisiLogic opens the project at that location.	Main Module         Main Routine           Image: Confirm step         Main Module           Main Module         Program edit           Image: HMI         Confirm step	Net: 3 Element: CALL Subroutine Net: 3 Element: CALL Subroutine Used in call SubRoutine.

You can also right-click an element or subroutine to display the Find icon on the right-click menu.

Note • Labels: Clicking on a found 'Label' will list the Jump to Label linked to that label in the Output Window.

Find Element

The Find Element utility enables you quickly locate any element that is used in a project.

- 1. Select Find Element from the Edit menu; the utility opens.
- 2. Click the desired element type in the left pane, then select the element from the right and click OK.

📕 Find Element	×
Contacts Coils Compare Math Float Logic Clock Store Vector Strings Call HMI Data Tables Com	COM INIT DIAL HANG UP ETH INIT ETH SOCKET INIT ETH TCP CONNECT ETH TCP CLOSE ETH GET LEDS ETH INIT UDP
To find Function Block View=>FB Information n	elements go to nenu.
	Ok Cancel

• Find & Replace Operand

The Find & Replace Operand utility enables you quickly replace any operand or vector of operands that is used in a project.

- 1. Select Replace Operand from the Edit menu; the Replace utility opens.
- 2. The Select Operand box opens; select the Source and Target operands.
- 3. To restrict the Replace operation to a specific subroutine, click the Subroutine field to open the selection box, then click the desired subroutine.
- 4. To replace a vector, enter its length..
- 5. To copy the operand descriptions, power-up values, and formats, select Copy Properties; select Clear Source to remove these from the source operands.
- 6. Click OK; the operands are replaced.

	🍄 Replace 🛛 🔀
	Source:   10
	Target: MB 100
Click to select	Subroutine: Fault message 🖉
a subroutine.	Master lawathy Inc.
Enter a vector	Vector length: 10
length.	Copy properties
	Clear source operand(s)
	OK Cancel Help

Find FB

Find FB enables you to locate the FBs in your project.



#### Find Font

This enables you to find fonts used in HMI Displays.



Finding a Load Display Target



• Finding a Call Subroutine Target

Right-click the element to open the menu.	
	e Ladder Element
This causes the Find utility to search for the	This opens the Call function's
Call function's target .  Search Results: Line Main Module Main Module Main Module Main Module	target. ain Module

#### Go To Label

To find Labels, use Go To Label<Alt> + <Right/Left arrow> and List of Labels <Ctrl> + <L> utility.

Ladder HMI Help		
Connect Elements	66 🕱	
Contacts	k - Store - Vector -	
🙀 Coils 🔹 🕨		
📩 Compare 🔹 🕨		
🔤 Math 🔹 🖬	Selecc Operand And Address	<u> </u>
🚛 Logic 🕕	E Label	
L: Clock	Label SubRoutine	
⇒≣ Store_	PID: Heating Execute	
www Vec	Open the List of Setpoint: Heating Heating step	Cancel
😋 Call	Lables, then click Setpoint Cooling Cooling step	Help
Use the function	a label name to PID FB: cooling Cooling step	
App Reys to jump in	, open the program	
	at the label's	
😯 Net	location.	
E Insert Comment		
The sect time taket		
🐑 Insert New Laber		
Go to Lable	Next label Alt+Right	
	Previous label Alt+Left	
	List of Labels Ctrl+L	

Find Constant Value

To find Constant values, either:

• Click on the Constant, then press <Ctrl> + <F>; the results appear in the Output window.

5				EN 1	ENO	_	SR /	41		ΕN	F	NO				
)ee	1			A =	B		Key:	#1			INC	, IA C				
5		w	MI14 ater type edit	A		L		·	_				w	M ater	I3 type	- List
4		1.1														
	3		D#0	8					1		: :	:		: :	Ĵ	: :
_		1.1	D#	0												· -
Ă		_	Dealch Hes	urs: D#O												
			Main Module	9	Edit	Select	step		Net:	16	Eler	ment	STO	DRE		
			Main Moduk	3	Edit-	Select	step		Net:	4	Eler	ment	: ST(	DRE		
			Main Moduk	3	Edit	Select	step		Net:	5	Eler	ment	: Les	s Th	an	
			Main Moduk		Edit	Select	step		Net:	2	Eler	ment	ST(	DRE		
			Main Moduk	•	Edit	Select	Wate	r type	Net:	2	Eler	ment	STO	DRE		
	<b>H</b>		Main Moduk	•	Edit-	Select	Wate	r type	Net:	3	Eler	ment	Equ	Ial		
	Elm	ĩ	Main Module		E dè.	Select	Wate	r lune	Net	4	Flee	ment	Eau	al.		

• Start Find, select the Constant tab and enter the value, then press OK ; the results appear in the Output window.

Select Op	erand and Address	⊡ Jmp <b>                                    </b>	🗐 Disp	×	
#     4     •     0k     413       DEC     •     •     •     •       N     •     •     •     •					
×	Search Results: D# 4				
	Main Module	Edit-Select Water type	Net 4	Element: STORE	
	Main Module	Edit-Select Water type	Net 3	Element: Greater Than	
(Hupp	Main Module	Edit-Confirm step	Net 14	Element: VEC. FILL	
	Main Module	Read DT to edit	Net 4	Element: Equal	
	Main Module	Write step to DT	Net 4	Element: Equal	
	Main Module	Read DT to execute	Net 4	Element: Equal	

# **Interrupt Routines**

Interrupt routines cause:

- A program to stop immediately, whenever the interrupt is activated, even if the program is in the middle of scanning a net in another subroutine.
- A jump to the Interrupt subroutine. An Interrupt subroutine must have the exact name shown in the examples below.
- When the interrupt routine is finished, the program returns to where it was interrupted, and continues from that point until the next Interrupt arrives.

Interrupt routines are generally used with Immediate elements, for example to turn an output ON in case of an alarm or emergency. To call an interrupt routine:



```
    Note If the name of the subroutine is incorrect, the subroutine will not function as an Interrupt routine.
    Interrupt features are not supported by the V120-12 series.
```

Sample applications showing how to use Interrupt routines in conjunction with Immediate elements may be located in :::\ProgramFiles\Unitronics\VisiLogic\Examples.

#### 2.5 mS Interrupt Routine

This function is timed-based. The interrupt function is called by naming a subroutine \_Interrupt 2.5 mS.

🇯 Interrupt Unitronic	VisiLogic OPLC	IDE - [Ladder Ap	plication (! Main	ModuleInterru	ipt 2.5 mS)]
Every 2.59mS, the Interrupt routine is executed without regard to the program scan.	mS 1 I IIO Read if ma	EN EN ReadInput	Read if machine down	(R) (R) (D) (R) (R) (D) (C) (C) (C) (C) (C) (C) (C) (C) (C) (C	EN ENO Write Output

Including a \_Interrupt 2.5 mS subroutine in the Ladder application causes:

- The program scan to pause every 2.509 mSec.
- A jump to the subroutine named \_Interrupt 2.5 mS. Note that the interrupt routine should be as short as possible, and must not exceed approximately 0.5 mSec.

When the interrupt routine is finished, the program returns to where it was interrupted, and continues from that point until the next Interrupt arrives.

**Note** • The Subroutine \_Interrupt 2.5 mS will run for the first time after the first Ladder scan is run.

#### **Interrupt HSC**

This function is called according to the current value of a high-speed counter. The program stops immediately and executes the subroutine when the Counter Value reaches the Counter Target Value.



The interrupt function is included in the program by naming a subroutine \_Interrupt x,x where the first x is the high-speed counter, and the second x is the reload. These subroutines must be named in accordance with your Hardware Configuration as:

- \_Interrupt HSC 0,1
- \_Interrupt HSC 2,3
- Interrupt HSC 4,5

When the interrupt routine is finished, the program returns to where it was interrupted, and continues from that point until the next Interrupt arrives.

## Search: Symbolic Name

Use Search: Symbolic Name to find operands by description. Within the Select Operand box, this is activated via  $<\!\!Ctrl\!\!>+<\!\!L\!\!>$  .

Sel	ect Operand	And A	ddress	×
	Direct	Netw	rork	
	SB 🗾		<b>-</b>	
Click in the Search Field and enter characters.			NONE	Cancel
100	)। जी			
Double click the desired	perand Type	Address	Description	
element, or press ESC to	SB	4	Divide by zero	
	∖ SB	31	Refresh current LCD screen display	

## **Deleted Unreferenced Operands**

To help manage your project, you can delete unreferenced operands.

⊻iev	W	Inser	t <u>B</u> uil	d <u>⊂</u> onnection	Ladder	1		
	La ⊟N	dder 11						
	HW Configuration							
2	Da	ata Tab	oles					
Ę.	FB	Infor	nation					
2	ΗN	/II Info	rmation	i				
봍	Öp	perand	s Nolt R	eferenced in Pro	iect			
2	PL	C - Sv	s Loa	l	Ś	1		
			🗄 Op	erands Not Re	eference	d in Pro	ject	
			I.	Inputs	Ad	dress	Description	^
			0	Outputs		72	Write/read teach offset x	-
			T	Timers		88	touch - confirm y offset column	
			MB	Memory Bits		149	SemiAutoX:GoToTanget	
			MI	Memory Integer		227	Unblocked/blocked (get all)	
			ML	Memory Long		228	Pallet block (get all)	
			DW	Double Word		229	Mismatch pallet (get all)	
			MF	Memory Float		230	Mixed Position (get all)	
			SB	System Bits		258	maintenance mode	
			SI	System Integer		259	handley mode	
			SL	System Long		261	change was made	~
			SDW	System Double	Word	000		
			C	Counters				
							Clear Operands	0K

## **Print Project**

Print Project is located on the Project menu.

Via the Print dialog box, you can print various aspects of your project. Print Preview is also offered.



## **Project Properties**

Located on the Project menu, Project Properties enables you to :

- Apply a password to your project.
- Select download options.
- Determine Live Update settings.

Set net height throughout a project.

- 1. Select Properties from the Project menu.
- 2. Click on the tabs to view and edit the various properties.

General

	🗯 Properties 🛛 🔀
Assign a Project name.	General Download Ladder Colors
Use password protection to require a password before project upload. Select the option to	Project Description Hello World!
field, then type the password you wish to apply.	Find Settings
Automatically sort Find results.	Recent Files
	Ok Cancel Help

Download



Parameters	Function
Disable Project upload	If you select this, no user will be able to upload the project from the PLC.
Rebuild, then Download	Select this if the project was originally created in another VisiLogic version.
Warn about Vision 120 Snap-in conflicts	If the Vision120 selected in Hardware Configuration is different from the one to which you are downloading, by default VisiLogic issues a warning. Select this option to disable such warnings.
Compiled Ladder	By default, the amount of memory allocated for the Ladder application in the PLC is 64k. If the

Allocation	application requires, you can select this option and enter a different amount.					
Back up and Restore PLC RAM Data	This enables you to backup a project together with all of the current values in Data Tables and all memory operand values.					
	If this option is selected:					
	• At project upload, the PC will upload all of the current values in Data Tables and all operandsexcept for system operands. To back up system operand values, store them to memory operands.					
	• At project download, the PC will download the complete project, including all of the current values in Data Tables and all memory operands.					
	Note that this option is not part of the project. Once selected, such files will be created for all of the projects downloaded from the PCuntil it is deselected.					
Save Unit ID in Project	When you select the Save Unit ID option, the ID number of the controller selected in Connection>Communication & OS>Vision-PC Communication Settings is saved together with the project. You will not be able to download the project to another controller until the number is changed.					
Display OnLine Tools	Keeps the Test Tool bar from being displayed during Test Run Cinline Test Stop Single Remote Access					
Check Digital Signature	Select this to check the digital signature of the project in a PLC every time PC-PLC connection is established.					

#### • Ladder

Auto-extend adds 5 grid points to each net, following the bottom edge of the lowest Ladder element.	General Download Ladder
Customise resolution of Page up / Page Down.	Mouse wheel Resolution
Defines the number of grid points that activate auto-snap. Auto-snap causes an element that is placed in the Ladder to snap to the output of the previous element in the rung.	Auto Horizontal Placing 3 Auto Vertical Placing 3 Hot keys F3 Load HMI Page Shit+F3 Jump To Label
Hot keys enable you to link frequently used functions to short-cut keys.	F4 Call Subroutine  Shit+F4 (none)
	Ok Cancel Help

#### Color

You can assign any color to show power flow during Test mode.

💭 Properties 🛛 🗙		
General Download Ladder Colors		
Power flow color (Online test mode):		
	Color	25
	Basic colors:	
	Custom colors:	
0k Cancel Help		Hue: 0 Red: 255
		Sat 240 Green: 0
	Define Custom Colors >>	Lunc 120 Blue: 0
	OK Cancel	Add to Custom Colors

# **Import/Export Subroutines**

You can export Subroutines and save them as .vlx files, then import them into other projects. You can import/export single Subroutines, or all of the subroutines in a Module. Note that you cannot export Subroutines from the Main Module.

Exporting a single Subroutine

1. Right-click the desired Subroutine and select Export Subroutine, -or-

select Export Subroutine from the Project menu; the Select Subroutine box opens.

2. Select the desired subroutine, then save it to the desired folder.

🛸 Select Operand And Address	×
🔁 Subroutine	
Main Module Main Routine Program select Program edit Executive Heating Step Holding step	Ok     Cancel     Help

Exporting all of the Subroutines in a Module

1. Right-click the desired module and select Export All Subroutines.

- <b>e</b>	C		
	Ba	5	Add New Module
	Ð յս	- 2	Add New Subroutine
	🔁 Lo	$\sim$	Delete Module : Config Module
	🔁 Ri	ш	Pename
_	🔁 Si	=	
• <b>5</b>	Config	= 🗈	Export All Subroutines In Module
	Global	2	Import Subroutines To Module 场
T	i Main M		

2. Save the .vlx file to the desired folder.

Note that when you import this .vlx file, all of the Subroutines it contains will be imported.

#### Import

1. Right-click a module name and select Import Subroutine, -or-

Select Import Subroutine from the Project menu; the Open box appears.

2. Select the desired subroutine, then save it to the desired folder.



Import/Export is subject to the limitations below.

• If the source project contains Call Subroutine or Load HMI operations, note that the referenced elements will be marked as missing, even if the target project contains elements of the same name. Note that you can reassign the references.

This pasted Subroutine is marked missing; however you can double-click it to select a new Subroutine target.	SubRoutine	×
MISSING (Subroutine 1)	Main Module     Main Routine     Dogo screen sub     Show time sub     Fill the tank     Hydraulic Pump     Weather sub	Ok Cancel Help

- If the selection contains an FB operation related to an FB Configuration, and is imported into an application containing an FB Configuration of the same name, the links will be retained.
   If, for example, you export a subroutine containing an SMS Send FB linked to SMS Configuration 'Denmark' and then import this subroutine into another application containing an SMS Configuration 'Denmark', the SMS Send FB will automatically link to 'Denmark'.
- If the selection contains FBs, and no FBs of that type currently exist in the target project, the
  pasted FBs will be the version currently in VisiLogic FB library--in other words, if the source
  selection contains older FB versions, they are automatically updated during the Paste operation.
- If the selection contains FBs, and FBs of that type currently exist in the target project in a different version, Paste cannot be completed.
- If your selection contains only Jumps, without the attendant Labels, they will be marked as missing, even if the target project contains Labels of the same name. Note that you can reassign the references.



• If the selection contains Jumps and Labels with the same name as those in the target project, the Jump, Label and link between them will be automatically recreated by VisiLogic when they are pasted.

In this way, VisiLogic maintains the integrity of the links between Jumps and their corresponding Labels.

	Skip initialization
Since these 2 labels have the same name, the number 2 was automaically added to the pasted selection.	MISSING (bl1)
	Skip initialization(2)

Note that the following symbols cannot be used in subroutine names:
 /\|\*:!"<>.

When importing/exporting from older VisiLogic programs containing such symbols, they will be automatically replaced by underscore characters.

## **Verify Project**

The Verify utility shows the differences between the project open in your PC and the program currently installed in the controller.

To use Verify:

- 1. Connect your PC it to the controller using a program download cable
- 2. Select Verify from the Connection menu.

Verify marks different sections with an  $\times$ , as shown below.

🌦 Ve	rify		
-Verify	results Ladder	~	
	HMI	2	
Α	HMI Fonts	1	
5	Timers	1	🌦 Verify
	Hardware Configuration	1	Build Upload data Build STL tokens
-	PC PLC settings	1	Build Static pages
	Upload data	×	Build User fonts Build Variables
	Close		Build Page variables Build Database Build PC,PLC settings Build Project Info

### Compile

When you compile your program, you can see any errors in the Output Window.

Select Compile .	Build ⊆ Source Build Proje Comp Build Build Build Data	onnection <u>L</u> ile All All All All All All All All All A	adder H <u>M</u> I Allocation				
×	•						,
Π.		Type/Num	Module		Subroutine	Net	Description
	LDR 🦯	1202	Main Module		Show time sub	Net 2	Unconnected element
	. 🧃	1203	Main Module		Show time sub	Net 2	Illegal Net
The program compiles;	TOTAL	Errors	Warnings		Information		
view errors by clicking			2		0		
the Compile tab in the							
Output window.	Operands	😡 Wato	hes <b>gra</b>	🕹 🍪 Compile	🖇 Event Log		

Clicking the Compile tab displays the last compiled results.

### Log

To view a log of events, click the Log tab at the bottom of the Output Window.

# Show STL

You can view STL code for a particular Subroutine, whether off-line or in Online Test mode.

To view STL online test values after downloading a project to a controller, open STL View, then press F9 to enter online test mode.

Right-click a SubRoutine, then select Show STL.	5ubRoutine : St	SB 1 Always 1 art System		· · · · ·	MB 1 System Alarm
Passw	ew SubRoutine SubRoutine : St SubRoutine : S	art System tart System	Y OI	ENO PWEEK	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
E-E Temperali			Lesday Lesday	Friday Saturday Sunday	
	🔆 STL VIE	w			×
	Net 1	!	SB J	2	Power-up bit
	Net 2	! =	SB CS	1	Always 1
	Net 3	= ! =	RET SB J	2	Power-up bit
	Net 1	!	CW	1,2,3,4,5,	Custom Alarm
	Net 2	-	CW	6,7	System Mann
	HOL 2	=R	MB	1	System Alarm
	Net 17	!	58	1	Always I

# Power-up Modes: Trouble-shooting

You can force the controller to boot up into Bootstrap or Stop mode by turning on the power supply while pressing specific keypad keys.

Mode	Features	Possible Actions	V120	V230/260	V280
Bootstrap	<ul> <li>The controller's LCD is on.</li> <li>PC-PLC communications are enabled, but PC must be connected to COM 1.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Via Vision Communication PC Settings, you can:</li> <li>Check which OS is currently installed in the controller.</li> <li>Download a new OS.</li> </ul>	<i> + <esc></esc></i>	<i> + <right Arrow&gt;</right </i>	<i> + <right Arrow&gt;</right </i>
Stop (O/S)	As in Bootstrap, but Info mode can be entered.	As above, but all Info mode actions are supported. Exit Stop Mode by entering Information Mode, and then selecting System>Working Mode> Reset.	<1>	<1>	<>>
Bootstrap, default LCD contrast		Contrast range is 0-100, this option automatically sets Contrast to 50.	<i> + <esc> + &lt;+/-&gt;</esc></i>		<i> + <right Arrow&gt; + &lt;+/-&gt;</right </i>
Stop (O/S, default LCD contrast		Contrast range is 0-100, this option sets Contrast to 50.	< <u>I</u> > + <+/->		<[>+ <+/->

### **Memory Allocation**

You can check the flash memory requirements of a project via Projected Memory Allocation, which is located on the Build menu.

You can also view the current allocated flash memory of a controller via PLC Flash Memory Allocation, which is located on the Connection menu.



**Note** • Each topic may not exceed 64K.

#### Ladder Code Capacity

The table below shows how much memory is allocated for the Ladder code; note that an additional sector comprising double that amount is allocated for compiled Ladder code.

Controller Model	Ladder Code	Compiled Ladder Code	Total
V230, V260, V280	64K	128K	320K
V120	32K	64K	192K

During download, Ladder code is compiled into machine code. The compiled code may exceed the memory that is allocated for compiled Ladder code. If the allocated memory is exceeded, the message below will appear at download.

Memory	Allocation		
⚠	Download cannot be completed because the compiled Ladder code size exceeds the allocated memory capacity for Ladder code. Click OK and then redownload the project.		
	Help		
Note •	If the second download attempt is not successful, the message will be displayed again. If this occurs, contact technical support.		

# Hotkeys: Quick Editing

VisiLogic offers keyboard shortcuts for a number of tasks, including Ladder editing. You can also assign certain tasks to keys F3 and F4 via Program Properties.

**Note** • Selected Ladder elements can be moved within a net via the keyboard arrows.

Task		Hotkeys
Ladder	Insert Direct (N.O.) Contact	<f5></f5>
Pressing the appropriate key attaches the element to	Insert Indirect N.C.) Contact	<f6></f6>
the cursor; click to drop it into the net. Once a Ladder element	Insert Positive Transition Contact	<f7></f7>
is placed in the net, the user can typed the operand name and	Insert Negative Transition Contact	<f8></f8>
number, for example SB41, and then press	Insert Direct Coil	<shift> + <f5></f5></shift>
Note• Selecting an element and pressing	Insert Indirect Coil	<shift>+<f6></f6></shift>
<fn> attaches the new element to the one selected.</fn>	Insert Set Coil	<shift> + <f7></f7></shift>
	Insert Reset Coil	<shift>+<f8></f8></shift>
Within Operand Address Box	Get Next Address	<ctrl>+<n></n></ctrl>
	Symbolic Search	<ctrl>+<l></l></ctrl>
	Toggle to Hex (when entering Constant value)	<ctrl>+<h></h></ctrl>
Go to Label This enables to you skip from label to label. Note that labels can be used both as bookmarks as well as to cause program jumps.	Next Label	<alt> + <right arrow=""></right></alt>
	Previous Label	<alt> + <left arrow=""></left></alt>
	Open Label Navigation	< <u>A</u> lt> + < <u>L</u> >
Help	Open Help	<f1></f1>

Project	New Project	<ctrl>+<n></n></ctrl>
	Open Project	<ctrl>+<o></o></ctrl>
	Print Project	<ctrl>+<p></p></ctrl>
	Exit Project	<alt>+<q></q></alt>
Edit	Select All	<ctrl>+<a></a></ctrl>
	Find	<ctrl>+<f></f></ctrl>
View Toggles	Show/Hide Project Explorer	<ctrl>+<r></r></ctrl>
	Show/Hide Ladder	<ctrl>+<alt>+<l></l></alt></ctrl>
	Show/Hide HMI Display Editor	<ctrl>+<alt>+<h></h></alt></ctrl>
	Show/Hide Output Window	<ctrl>+<w></w></ctrl>
	Show/Hide Comments	<alt>+ <c></c></alt>
Connection	Online Test	<f9></f9>
	Download	<ctrl>+<d></d></ctrl>
	Upload	<ctrl>+<u></u></ctrl>
	Verify	<ctrl>+<y></y></ctrl>
	Remote Access (During Online Test)	<shift> + <f9></f9></shift>
HMI	Show Grid	<ctrl>+<g></g></ctrl>
	Zoom	<ctrl>+<i></i></ctrl>

# **Data Tables**

# About Data Tables

You can store data into the Data Table memory section of your controller, then access the data in accordance with program requirements. Vision controllers can contain up to 120K of Data Tables (RAM); Data Tables (that are marked Part of Project) can take up to 250K (Flash).

You create tables in VisiLogic, define their structure, then download them to the controller. Data within the tables can be copied and pasted to and from third-party tools such as Excel.



All elements within a column On-line mode shows values are of the same data type: currently in the PLC Data Boolean, byte, single/double Tables 💋 Data Tables × register or string. Elements may also be linked to an Eile Edit Connection Column addressed element such as 🖻 💼 🗃 🗃 🗌 X 🖂 📑 📑 📲 an MI. M 🖼 ΰú Program 1 Tables Program 1 Click a rogram 2 table to Program 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 open it. Program 4 2642 10545 Q 112 10500 0 0 -8353 19309 -6849 8216 Program 5 1 -9225 -473 394 Program 6 1 Each row has an index 6528 A single cell in a column can -1097 0 -11 number contain up to 100 elements. 19716 1154 0 • 4 13 Columns X 20 Rows 0K Ō%

Data tables consist of columns and rows.

#### Creating a Data Table

1. Open the Data Tables editor by clicking the PLC Data Tables 🧭 on the toolbar, or by selecting it from the Data Tables menu.



2. Create a table by clicking the Add Table icon, then name the table and define the number of columns and rows.



- **Note** The grid that appears represents only the table's column and row structure. Each column in the table can contain up to 100 elements, such as MIs.
- 3. Define a table's columns by selecting the column, then clicking the Edit button  $\square$ , or by right-clicking and selecting Edit from the Column menu.



#### **Data Table Options**

Menu Name	Option
File	Import/Export
	Data Tables can be exported from an application as .upd files, then imported into any VisiLogic program.
	When you import the file, you can select to:
	• Add individual tables to the structure. If tables of the same name already exist, the tables are automatically renamed.
	• Delete existing tables and import the new structure.
	Memory Requirements
	Displays pie charts that show the amount of memory that will be required by the data tables when the project is downloaded.
Connection	All of the Connection commands require that the PLC be connected to the PC
Connection	Read Structure from PLC
	Imports the structure of the data tables within the PLC into the project
	Varify: Tables Structure
	Compares the table structure in the project to the structure of tables within the DI C
	The compares de below also require that the table structure of tables within the FEC.
	in the current project.
	Read Range
	Reads the values of the selected cells from within the PLC data table into the project.
	Write Range
	Writes the values of the selected cells from the project data table into the PLC.
	Verify Cell Value: by Range

	Compares the values of the cells in the project to the values within the PLC.
Table	Table options have short-cut buttons on the left side of the Tables pane. Right-clicking the pane also opens the Table menu.
	Add Table
	Adds a new data table.
	Edit Table
	Enables you to change the name of the data table and the number of rows and columns.
	Delete Table
	Deletes the entire table, both values and structure.
	Duplicate Table
	Creates a new table, including both the values and the structure of the table being duplicated.
	Select All
	Selects the entire table.
Row	Edit Number of Rows
	Enables you to change the name of the data table and the number of rows and columns.
	Insert Row
	Enables you to insert a row at any point in the table.
	Delete Row
	Enables you to delete a row from any point in the table.
	Note • Inserting or deleting a row changes the index number of all successive rows; impacting your data operations.
Column	Set Cell Value
	Enables you to enter values for a cell or range of cells within a column.
	Insert Column
	Inserts a column.
	Edit Column
	Enables you to name the column, set a data type for the entire column, define the number of elements held by each cell in the column and make other selections based on the data type that has been assigned to the column.
	Delete Column
	Deletes a column.

#### **Column Parameters**

The column structure options change according to the data type selected.

### Getting Started

Bescription:   Column 2   Type:   Integer   Part of project   Read-only   Min:   -32768   -   Format view:   Decimal   Number of elements:   1   OK					
Parameter	Function				
Description	Assign a unique name.				
Туре	A column is assigned to the data type selected. Data types may be directly assigned, or linked via address.				
Part of Project, Read-only	Protects the marked data from being modified by unauthorized third-party tools. Recommended column order          Row       Compartment       Currently Accessed         Boolear, P, R, 10)       Integer, P, R)       Integer, P, R)         JW-451 01       18       36       1         JW-451 02       18       36       2       0         Standard       Read only       Part of Project				
Min/Max	Enables you to set limits for the value of an element in the column.				
Format View	Choose between decimal and hexadecimal.				
Number of elements	A column can contain a maximum of 100 elements.				

# Database-Read/Write

Read/Write functions enable you to copy a row of values from and to Data Tables. They are located on the Data Tables menu.
Data Tables 👻 FB's 💌						
. 🝏 Data Tables		÷	÷			
🕛 Data Tables Read	÷	ł	ł	÷	÷	•
👌 Data Tables Write	÷	Ĵ	Ĵ	Ĵ	Ĵ	
Direct		F	lea	d		•
		۷	Vrit	е		

Notes • R

Reading/Writing data from linked operands of different data types is not supported.

EDay Obles - Column Struct	ure 🗵 Reading t	he data from linked operands of differer	nt data types is not supported.
Type : Address of MI		s - Read Row II	
Part of pro	Program 1	MI 21 - Step Number-E	xeca
Read-only Long	Source (Cell)	Column Properties	Destruction (Operand)
Number of ele String	Water Type	Integer	MI 23 - Water type- Ex
Address of MI	Water fill	Boolean	MB 21 - Water fill 0=ordina

• If the source operands are single registers, and the destination registers are double registers, the 2 LSBs of the double registers will contain the value. For example, the values in 10 MIs will occupy the 2 lower bytes of 20 MLs.

If the source registers are double registers and the destination operands are single registers, the values will be truncated. The 2 MSBs will be discarded, and the 2 LSBs saved.

• The maximum number of operands of any type for a Read/Write operation is 128.

### **Read Row**

A row in a Data Table is the source for the Read function. Values are read from the Data Table into the operands that are linked to it in the Read function.

EN I	ENO · · ·				
- DT RE	AD		This and	word determined the	
·Launary: Pr	🌦 Data Tables -	- Read Row from Data Tables	from wh	ich the data will be te	
Select a	Table :	Row number :	nom wi	ich the data will be ta	
Data Table	Laundry: Program	1 MI1 · Task number			
	Source (Cell)	Column Properties		Destination (Operand)	
	Water Type	Integer		MI 3 - Water type - List	
	Water fill	Boolean		MB 1 · Water fill 0=ordi	Click a row to link
	Water level	Integer		MI 4 - Water Level	a specific Data
	Temp.	Integer		MI 5 - Temperature	Table cell to the
	Heat	Boolean		MB 2 · Heat- 0=no; 1=;	target operand
	Step time	DW		DW 0 - Step time - from	timer
	Soap type	Integer, 4 Elements			
	Soap fill way	Boolean, 4 Elements			13
	Soap fill time	🌦 Select Operand And Addre	255		×
	Empting	Direct			
	Middle spin time	To Direct			
	Final Spin time				
	[	MI 💌		-	
	🥒 Clear Link				Cancel
			ic 🔽 🔽	8	Help
		🔊 soap t			
		Operand Type Address	Descrip	otion	
		MI 6	Soapty	vpe-vest 1/4	
		MI 7	Soap ty	vpe · Vest 2/4	

### Write Row

Operands within the PLC memory are the source for the Read function. Values are read from the PLC into the Data Table cells that are linked to it in the Write function.

Laur	idy: Program 1	ta Tables Wi	ntains 1, the values in the linked operands I be written to row 1 in the data table
Select a Data Table	Table : R Laundry: Program 1 V	ow number: II1 - Task number ,	
	Source (Operand)	Destination (Cell)	Column Properties
	MI2 - Task name - List	Task Name	Integer
	MI3 - Water type - List	Water Type	Integer
	MB 1 · Water fill 0=ordinary;1=from b	Water fill	Boolean
1.1	MI 4 - Water Level	Water level	Integer
	MI 5 - Temperature	Temp.	Integer
		Heat	Boolean
		Step time	DW
Click t	o link the	Soap type	Integer, 4 Elements
opera	nd with the	Soap fill way	Boolean, 4 Elements
source	e data to a	Soap fill time	DW, 4 Elements
specif	ic Data	Empting	Integer
Table	cen.	Middle spin time	DW
		Final Spin time	DW

## **Read Column**

A column in a Data Table is the source for the Read function. Values are read from the Data Table into the operands that are linked to it in the Read function.



## Write Column

PLC operands are the source for the Write function. Values are read into the Data Table cells that are linked to it in the Write function.

EN ENO DT W.COL Program 2	Data Tables - Write Column to I Source Vector Start Address: ML 10	Data Tables	
Select the desired start of	Destination The length of the very Program 2 by the number of re	ctor is determined ows.	J
vector.	# Field Name	Field Properties	^
	Step name	Integer	
	Water Type	Integer	
Highlight the	Water fill	Boolean	
desired column	Water level	Integer	
doos od oordinin.	Temp.	Integer	
	Heat	Boolean	
	S tep time	DW	
Enter the start	Soap type	Integer, 4	100
row.	Соло fill или	Roolean 4	
	Row Number: D# 4		
Select the number of rows	Number of Rows: D# 10		
required to hold the values.	ОК	Cancel Help	

### **Read/Write Direct**

These operations access the values in the database without reference to table structure

### **Database: Read Direct**

The Read Direct operation copies data from the data tables into a vector of registers within the controller.

- 1. Select Direct: Read from the Data Tables menu.
- 2. Place the function in the desired net.
- 3. Link the desired Operands and Addresses.
- Operands A & B determine the data's destination --to where the data from the data table will be copied.

Operand A: sets the register type for the target vector and the start register. Operand B: determines the offset, in registers, from the start register.

• Operands C, D, & E determine the data's source -- from where in the data table the data will be copied.

Operand C: contains the start byte of the source vector within the data table. Operand D: determines the offset, in bytes, from the start register. Operand E: determines the length of the source vector.

Note that the length is relative to the type of register linked to Operand A. For example, if Operand A is linked to an MI and Operand E contains 5, 10 bytes of data will be copied from the data table into 5 MIs, 2 bytes into each MI. If Operand A is linked to a double register; ML or DW; and Operand E contains 2, 8 bytes of data will be copied into 2 double register.

Read Example

Below, database bytes 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, and 33 are read and written into MIs 15, 16, and 17.



### **Database: Write Direct**

The Write operation copies data a vector of registers into the database.

- 1. Select Data Block Read from the Data Tables menu.
- 2. Place the function in the desired net.
- 3. Link the desired Operands and Addresses.
- Operands A & B determine the data's source --from which registers the data will be copied. Operand A: sets the register type for the target vector and the start register. Operand B: determines the offset, in registers, from the start register.
- Operands C, D, & E determine the data's destination--to where in the database the data will be written.
   Operand C: contains the start byte of the source vector within the database.
   Operand D: determines the offset, in bytes, from the start register.
   Operand E: determines the length of the source vector.

Note that the length is relative to the type of register linked to Operand A. For example, if Operand A is linked to an MI and Operand E contains 5, the data from 5 registers will be copied into 10 database bytes, 2 bytes per MI. If Operand A is linked to a double register; ML or DW; and Operand E contains 2, the data from 2 double registers will be copied into 8 database bytes, 4 bytes per ML or DW.

Write Example

Below, MIs 26, 27, 28, 29 are written into database bytes 28 through 33; each register is copied into 2 bytes within the database.



## **Data Tables: Clear Table**

This function is located in the Data Tables menu.

Clear Table enables you to use a Ladder condition to delete values in a particular table.



## Data Tables: Find Row, Find Row Extended

Find Row and Find Row Extended are located on the Data Tables menu. These functions search through a data table, comparing the input value with the values in the data table.

• Find Row:

If a matching value is found, the number of the row is stored in the output value.

• Find Row Extended:

This function enables you to search for more than one value. The number of the row containing all of the values is stored in the output value.

Step time

Soap type Soap fill way Soap fill time

First Row: D# - 5

7

8 9 10 DW

Integer, 4 Boolean, 4 DW, 4

....

💋 Dat	a Tables - Fin	d Row		×
able :				
Table 1	1		✓ Limit Rows	
	Field Name	Eield Pro	First Row:	
1	Columo 0	Bute	MI 3	. 1
2	Column 1	Stripe	a 10	_
3	Column 7	String	a 40	
3	Column 2	string	g, 10 MI 4	•
	The number of b	ytes in the column lo	of the	_
	inked data table	define the length of	fthe	
i	nput vector.		Start address of value to find:	_
			MI 6	
		Input value	Eound Bow	
		(vector)	MI 23	1
		Output valu	OK Cancel Help	
🌦 Da Table :	ta Tables - Fir	ld Row (extended)	These are the values the function searches for.	
Progra	m 2			
	Field Name	Field Properties	Operand 🔼	
1	Step name	Integer	MI 32 [5] - Step name	
2	Water Type	Integer	MI 33 [10] - Water Type	
3	Water fill	Boolean		
4	Water level	Integer		
5	Temp.	Integer		
6	Heat	Boolean		

Found Row:

D# - 10	OK Cancel Help
Parameter Name	Purpose
Table	Click on the drop-down arrow to select a table from the project, then click the desired column. The number of bytes in the column of the linked data table define the length of the input vector.
Limit Rows	Check this option to limit the number of rows the function will search.
Start Address	The length of the input vector is determined by the number of bytes in the selected data table column. If, for example, the column contains 6 bytes, the vector will be 3 MIs long. Note that a string must end with a null (0) character.
Found Row	If a matching value is found, the number of the row is stored in the output value.

🥖 Clear Link

## **Program Recipes**

A recipe is a collection of ingredients or values that are used to prepare a batch of product or to perform a specific task.

Data Tables can be used to contain parameters for pre-programmed recipes.

For example, assume that a laundry machine performs different tasks such as 'Fill', 'Wash' and 'Rinse'. A Data Table is created that contains 1 row for each task. Each row contains cells; each cell holds a specific parameter required for the task assigned to that row. The parameter values are transferred into the cells via a Write to Data Tables function. Within the Write function, the operands containing the parameter values are linked directly to the appropriate cells.

🥣 Data Tables						X
File Connection Table Row Column						
Tables		Laundry: Program "	1			
Laundry: Program 1       Image: Constraint of the series of	Water Type   Water Fi [Integer]   Boo 0 0 0 0 0 0 this Write operation ins 1, the values in e written to row 1 in bles	I Method Water level (Integer) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Temp. (Integr) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5	Heat (Bookean) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Task Time (DW) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Soap lype Integer, 4) 0;0;0;0 0;0;0;0 0;0;0;0 0;0;0;0 0;0;0;0 0;0;0;0 Help
Table : Row nu	imber:					
Laundry: Program 1 MI 1 - 9	itep number					
Source (Operand)	Destination (Cell)	Column Properties		-		
MI 2 - Task name - List	Task Name	Integer				
MI 3 - Water type - List	Water Type	Integer				
MB 1 - Water fill 0=ordinary;1=from bottom	Water Fill Method	Boolean				
MI 4 - Water Level	Water level	Integer				
MI 5 - Temperature	Temp.	Integer				
MB 2 - Heat- 0=no; 1=yes	Heat	Boolean				
DW 0 - Task time - from timer	Task Time	D₩				
MI 6 - Soap type-vect 1/4	Soap type	Integer, 4 Elements				
4						
🖉 Clear Link		OK	Car	ncel		

# Data Tables: Synchronizing Data

.

When you download Data Tables to a controller, VisiLogic checks to see if the controller already contains Data Tables. If the structure of the tables is not identical, VisiLogic opens the Synchronize Data Tables box.

To synchronize data values, VisiLogic uploads the data from the PLC Data Tables into Data Tables within the PC, and then downloads the tables and data values when download is completed. This enables you to preserve values within the controller's Data Tables, even if the data type in that column has been changed. For example, if a Data Table column in the PLC that contains an integer is transferred to a long integer, the two bytes of the integer value will be placed in the 2 least significant bytes of the long integer.

Synchronize all columns	VisiLogic automatically uploads all of the data values in the PLC Data Tables into the PC tables. Data is matched up according to column name. When download is completed, the new Data Table is installed in the PLC with all of its data values intact.
Synchronize selected columns	Selecting this option opens up a window that enables you to manually link the PC Data Table columns with those in your PC. The data values within the columns are then transferred to the new defined location.



synchronize

Downloads the Data Tables as structured in your project, regardless of any PLC data.

# **Data Tables and Excel**

Data can be imported to and exported from Excel.

Export: When you click the Export to Excel icon, VisiLogic opens a Save As dialog box, enabling you to create an Excel file to save your data. The data is copied as shown below.

💋 Data Tables						
File Edit Connection Table Row Colum	n					
🖬 😂 🗃 🙀 🍋 🕄 🛃 🗣	2011年1月	91 😼 🗷	8 🥥 🕯	<b>ن</b>		
Tables Expert Cells To Excel			Program 9	)		
Program 1 Row	Temp. Integer)	Heat (Boolean)	Step time (DW)	Soap type (Integer, 4)	Soap fill way (Boolean, 4)	<b>^</b>
🕮 Highlight a 📖 🔲 💿	99	0	39599395	29167 ; -215'	0;1;1;1	35479874
📓 section of cells, 🛥	100	0	48245120	1049; -9221	0;1;1;1	402648575
then click	99	1	64433536	408;2320;-	0;0;0;0	12585085
Export to Excel.	98	1	13950595	7536;2112;	0;1;0;0	787
Program 7 🗾 🚽	98	0	45940736	42;11;0;7	0;0;1;0	282
Program 8	99	0	35913395:	0:17152:	0:1:1:0	
Program 9						<u> </u>
6 cells selected			0%	OK	Cancel	Help
Ime data is copied to Excel.           Header         A         B           1         Row         Temps           2         0         99           3         1         100           number         4         2         99           5         3         98           6         4         98           7         5         99						

	ata Tables								_ 🗆 🗵
File	Edit Connection	Table R	ow Coli	umn					
		es na l	-		m   🖋 🛤				
				CE CE		Brogram 1			
-	Program	Cells From	Excel	Milotor fill	Stee	Terro	Heat	Stanting	Soon tu 🔺
	lichlight e		Row	(Boolean)	(integer)	(Integer)	(Boolean)	(DVV)	(Integer
	ection of cells		0	0	0	0	0	0	0;0;0
Z t	hen click			-	0	0	0	0	0;0;0
	mport to Excel.		2	0	0	0	0	0	0;0;0
	Program 6		3	0	0	0	0	0	0;0;0
	Program 7		4	0	0	0	0	0	1;0;0;:
	Program 8		5	0	0	0	0	0	0;0;0
	Program 9	🖾 sto	os.xls		0	0	0	0	0;0;0
	Program 10		A	B	0	0	0	0	0;0;0
		F	Row	step					•
T	he data in the Exc	el		0 2	22	02	OK	Cancel	Help
fi	e is imported into			1 :	23	0.0			//
tr	e cells selected in			2 2	24				
tr	e Data Table.			3 3	25				
				4 :	26				
1	ata Tables	7		5 2	27				
<b>1</b>	Data Tables	7 Table	See. Cal	5 2	27				<u>_0×</u>
File	Data Tables Edit Connection	7 Table	ey Col	5 2	27				<u>_0×</u>
File	Edit Connection	Table	y col	5 2 umn	27	1 🥑 🖓			
File	Cata Tables Edit Connection	Table	er col	5 2 umn 5 8 8 8	27	2 3 60°			_ O X
File	Cata Tables Edit Connection Edit Connection Tables Program 1	Table	Row	5 umn Uter MI	27 🗮 🗹 🗮 Step	i 🥵 🔐	Heat	Step time	Scap ty
File	Pata Tables Edit Connection Edit Connection Tables Program 1 Program 2	Table	Row	5 umn Uter SII (Boolean)	27 I Step (Integer)	I (1) (Integer)	Heat (Boolean)	Step time (DVV)	Soap ty
	Data Tables       Edit     Connection       Image: Connection     Image: Connection       Image:	Table	Row	5 umn I III III, Wate 41 (Boolean) 0	27 IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Program 1 Temp. (Integer) 0	Heat (Boolean) 0	Step time (DW) 0	Soap ty
	Program 1       Program 2       Program 3       Program 4	Table	Row 1	5 umn Water HI (Boolean) 0 0	27 (nteger) 22 23	Program 1 Temp. (Integer) 0	Heat (Boolean) 0 0	Step time (DVV) 0 0	Soap ty (Integer 0; 0; 0 0; 0; 0
	Program 1       Program 2       Program 3       Program 4       Program 5	Table	Row D 1 2	5 umn Water HI (Boolean) 0 0 0	27 (nteger) 22 23 24	Program 1 Temp. (Integer) 0 0	Heat (Boolean) 0 0	Step time (DVV) 0 0	Soap ty (rttsger 0; 0; 0 0; 0; 0 0; 0; 0
	Data Tables       Edit Connection       Edit Connection       Tables       Program 1       Program 2       Program 3       Program 4       Program 5       Program 6	7 Table	Row 0 1 2 3	5 umn Water 41 (Boolean) 0 0 0 0 0	27 Step (nteger) 22 23 24 25 25	Program 1 Temp. (Integer) 0 0 0	Heat (Boolean) 0 0 0	Step time (DVV) 0 0 0	Scop ty ( (rteger 0;0;0 0;0;0 0;0;0
	Program 1       Program 2       Program 3       Program 5       Program 6       Program 7	7 Table	Row 0 1 2 3 4 4	5 2 umn Water 41 (Bookean) 0 0 0 0 0	27 Step (nteger) 22 23 24 25 26 27	Program 1 Temp. (Integer) 0 0 0 0 0	Heat (Boolean) 0 0 0 0 0 0	Step time (DVV) 0 0 0 0 0	Soap ty (rteger 0;0;0 0;0;0 0;0;0 0;0;0 1;0;0;
	Program 1       Program 2       Program 3       Program 5       Program 6       Program 7       Program 8	7 Table	w Col ■ 1 1 2 3 4 5 -	5 umn Water 41 (Bookean) 0 0 0 0 0	27 Step (nteger) 22 23 24 25 26 27 2	Program 1 Temp. (Integer) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Hest (Boolean) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Step time (DVV) 0 0 0 0 0	
	Data Tables         Edit       Connection         Tables         Program 1         Program 2         Program 3         Program 4         Program 5         Program 6         Program 8         Program 9	7 Table	w Col ■ ■ ■ Row 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 -	5 2 umn Water 41 (Bookean) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	27 Step (nteger) 22 23 24 25 26 27 0	Program 1 Temp. (Integer) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Heat (Boolean) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Step time (DVV) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Soap ty (rttsger 0; 0; 0 0; 0; 0 0; 0; 0 0; 0; 0 0; 0; 0 1; 0; 0; 0 0; 0; 0 0; 0; 0
	Data Tables         Edit       Connection         Tables         Program 1         Program 2         Program 3         Program 4         Program 5         Program 6         Program 8         Program 9         Program 10	Table	w Col ■ ■ ■ Row 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	5 Umn Water 41 (Bookean) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	27 Step (nteger) 22 23 24 25 26 27 0 0 0	Image: Second	Heat (Boolean) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Step time (DVV) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	
	Data Tables         Edit       Connection         Tables       Tables         Program 1       Program 3         Program 3       Program 4         Program 5       Program 6         Program 7       Program 8         Program 9       Program 10         Program 11       Program 11	Table	w Col ■ Row 0 1 2 3 4 5 5 7 1 1	5 umn (Boolean) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	27 Step (Integer) 22 23 24 25 26 27 0 0 0	Constant (integer)     Constant (integer	Heat (Boolean) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Step time (DW) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Sosp ty ( (rteger 0;0;0 0;0;0 0;0;0 0;0;0 0;0;0 0;0;0 0;0;0 0;0;0 0;0;0

Import: When you click the Import from Excel icon, VisiLogic opens an Open dialog box, enabling you to select an Excel source file. The data is copied as shown below.

Copy & paste data

To copy/paste data to and from Data Tables and Excel.

- 1. Select data. You can select individual cells, rows, columns, or contiguous groups of cells.
- 2. Copy the values to the Clipboard either by pressing <Ctrl>+ <C> or by clicking the Copy button.
- 3. Click the cursor in the Paste location, then paste the either press  $\langle Ctrl \rangle + \langle V \rangle$  or click the Paste button.
- **Note** The selection is pasted towards the right and down. When you paste from Excel to Data Tables, the Data Table must have enough rows and columns to contain the Paste selection.

# Troubleshooting

# **Detecting Short-circuited End Devices**

The controller can detect short circuits in end devices (loads) that are connected to transistor outputs located on snap-in or expansion I/O modules. Short circuits can also be detected in end-devices connected to analog outputs.

If a short circuit is detected on either an expansion or snap-in I/O module, SB 5 turns ON.

If the short circuit is located on an:

- I/O expansion module, the location is indicated in SDW 5.
- Snap-in I/O module, the LSB in SDW 6 turns ON.

SDW 5 provides a bitmap. Each I/O expansion module included in your controller's hardware configuration is assigned a number, 0-7, according to its place in that configuration. In the bitmap, bits 0-7 correspond to these place numbers.

V120 only

Bit 8 within SDW 5 is reserved for the controller. A value of '1' indicates that the short-circuit has been detected in an on-board V120 output.

In the bitmap below, short circuits have been detected in devices that are connected to expansion modules 1 and 3, and to the V120 itself.

### SDW 5

(Please note that although an SDW is 32 bits long, only 16 bits are shown below.)

Bit#	15	14	13	12	11	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	0
Output location	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0

# **On-Line Test Mode (Debug)**

To test a project, first connect the controller to your PC using the program download cable provided with the software package, then download the project and click the On-Line Test button. The Online Test toolbar opens, enabling you to:

- Switch between Run and Stop modes.
- Use Single Scan to run a single cycle of the ladder program for debugging purposes. You can stop the scan cycle at any point by placing OnLine Test Points, located on the More menu, in the Ladder.

	▼ Strings ▼	Call - HMI - Data Tab
MB 1012 -> Error Messages		Jump To Label     Call Subroutine     Subroutine: Return
(5)	On Line Point	On Line Point

When the scan reaches an OnLine test point that is active (receives RLO), Online Test freezes, enabling you to check element status and values, including Timer values, at that point during Ladder execution. Note that if more than one OnLine test point is activated, SB 35 turns ON.

 Measure the time interval between 2 points in the Ladder application, by placing Start and End Interval elements, located on the More menu, anywhere in the application. The time interval, in



micro-seconds, is stored in the DW linked to the End Interval element.

Open Remote Access to debug remote controllers via network or modem connections.



In Online Test mode, you can view the power flow, and view and force operand values and element status.





The controller can send and receive SMS messages when the controller is in Test mode.

## Power-up Modes: Trouble-shooting

You can force the controller to boot up into Bootstrap or Stop mode by turning on the power supply while pressing specific keypad keys.

Mode	Features	Possible Actions	V120	V230/260	V280
Bootstrap	<ul> <li>The controller's LCD is on.</li> <li>PC-PLC communications are enabled, but PC must be connected to COM 1.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Via Vision Communication PC Settings, you can:</li> <li>Check which OS is currently installed in the controller.</li> <li>Download a new OS.</li> </ul>	<i> + <esc></esc></i>	<i> + <right Arrow&gt;</right </i>	<i> + <right Arrow&gt;</right </i>
Stop (O/S)	As in Bootstrap, but Info mode can be entered.	As above, but all Info mode actions are supported. Exit Stop Mode by entering Information Mode, and then selecting System>Working Mode> Reset.	<1>	<1>	<1>
Bootstrap, default LCD contrast		Contrast range is 0-100, this option automatically sets Contrast to 50.	<i> + <esc> + &lt;+/-&gt;</esc></i>		<i> + <right Arrow&gt; + &lt;+/-&gt;</right </i>
Stop (O/S, default LCD contrast		Contrast range is 0-100, this option sets Contrast to 50.	<i> + &lt;+/-&gt;</i>		<[>+ <+/->

# I/O Expansion Module Errors

An interruption in communication between an I/O expansion module and controller can cause the controller to enter Stop Mode, and an 'Expansion Error' message to be displayed on the controller's LCD.

This error results when:

- 1. The module was connected at power-up.
- 2. The communication between module and controller was interrupted for more than 200 milliseconds. Interruptions may occur if the connecting cables are disconnected, or may result from signal interference (noise).
- **Note** When a controller enters stop mode, the program stops running and all outputs within the system are initialized. This includes on-board outputs, outputs located on Snap-in I/O modules, and outputs located I/O expansion modules.

What to do

- Check that the cables are connected and in proper order.
- Remedy signal interference. Such an error may also result from a hardware malfunction.
- If the RUN LED on the expansion module blinks, check the documentation supplied with the expansion module to see if a hardware error is indicated.
- To exit Stop Mode, reset the controller either by turning it off and on, or by entering Information Mode, and then selecting System>Working Mode> Reset.

# Compile

When you compile your program, you can see any errors in the Output Window.

Select Compile .	Build Co Compil	nnection Li e II ced Memory <i>I</i>	adder H <u>M</u> I			
	S Datab	ase Derrayin	encer			
×		fype/Num	Module	Subroutine	Net	Description
	🔰 LDR 🔥	1202	Main Module	Show time sub	Net 2	Unconnected element
	. 🔥	1203	Main Module	Show time sub	Net 2	Illegal Net
The program compiles;	TOTAL	Errors	Warnings	Information		
view errors by clicking		_	2	0		
the Compile tab in the						
Output window.	Operands	😹 Wato	hes 👰 Tind 🍪 Compile	👂 Event Log		

Clicking the Compile tab displays the last compiled results.

# Why does the Controller display the 'Restart' message?

The most common reason for this event is a peak in electromagnetic (EMF) 'noise'. This may result from contactors, power relays, solenoid valves, etc. switching on and off, as well as from power transformers and motor speed drivers. Recommendations:

- Use different power supplies highly recommended one for the controller (CPU and inputs), and a different one for other electromagnetic devices;
- Use suppressors reverse connected diodes for DC loads and RC filters for AC loads;
- Where possible, place the signal cables, including the 24V power supply, far away from power lines, especially from cables, coming in and out of motor drivers;
- If needed, use shielded cables for signals, including for 24 VDC and for power cables between the motor driver and the motor itself.

Taking these precautions should help prevent 'Controller Restart'. If the problem persists, contact support@unitronics or your local Unitronics representative.

# **HMI Element Resizing/Rotating Limitations**

Elements 'grow' down, and to the right. If resizing/rotating will cause Variable elements to collide, or any element to extend beyond the boundaries of the Display, the element cannot be returned to its original size, or resized to a larger size.



Note •	'Original size' is the actual size of the element as it appears in the element's ToolTip.
•	Fit to Original Size does not affect geometric shapes that are drawn on the Display.
•	'Original size' cannot be used to resize Variable elements if the elements have different original sizes.

1



• Shapes that are imported are resized in proportion to their original size.

## **Float Errors**

When an Float function error occurs, SB 10 Float Error turns on. This SB is reset by the user.

w.
V

Value	Message	Result
3	Integer Overflow	7FFF or 8000 (integer result)FFFF or 0000(unsigned integer result)
4	Floating Overflow	+INF or -INF (float result)
5	Floating Underflow	0.0 (float result)
7	Divide by Zero	+INF or -INF or NaN (float result)
9	Undefined Float	NAN (float result)
10	Conversion Error	0 (integer result)
11	Floating point Stack Overflow	Floating point stack underflow
12	Floating point Stack Underflow	Floating point stack overflow

INF Infinite which is the largest absolute floating point number.

NAN Not a Number, special notation for undefined floating point number.

# **Changing Panel Types: Conflicts**

If a project contains Displays, selecting a different panel type in your project's Hardware Configuration may cause you to lose some of your Display elements and their properties.

If you select a smaller panel, some of the elements in your Displays may be too large. In this case, any variable, graphic, or text elements that extend beyond the edge of the screen will be deleted from your project, and may not be retrieved.

In addition, note that all calendar variables will be deleted.

Also, note that if you change from a touch panel to a non-touch panel, any 'touch' properties linked to on-screen objects will be deleted.

# **Insufficient Flash Memory**

This error message is displayed when the PLC does not have sufficient memory to handle the current project. To see the memory requirements of the project, click the Events tab in the Output Window at the bottom of the screen.

Source	Date and Time	Event Description	
🕀 Memory Allocation	3/5/2003 11:14:04 AM	Page variables	108
🕀 Memory Allocation	3/5/2003 11:14:04 AM	Upload data	32
🕀 Memory Allocation	3/5/2003 11:14:04 AM	Function block	34
🕀 Memory Allocation	3/5/2003 11:14:04 AM	Ladder Tokens	94
🕀 Memory Allocation	3/5/2003 11:14:04 AM	Static pages	66
🕀 Memory Allocation	3/5/2003 11:14:04 AM	User fonts	136266
🕀 Memory Allocation	3/5/2003 11:14:04 AM	Variables 32	
🐮 Operands 🔀	Watches 🏘 Find 👔	鯚 Compile 🦻	Event Log

# Communications

### **CANbus Network Problems**

SB 236 indicates that there is an error in the CANbus network.

SI 236 CANbus Network: Failed Unit ID. Note that the first 3 bits turn ON only when the controller is unable to broadcast via the CANbus port. The value of SI 236 indicates the following messages:

Value	Message	May result from:
0	No Acknowledgement	CANbus power failure, crossed wires, incorrectly set termination points.
1	CANbus OFF	
2	CANbus Warning error	Poor transmission quality due to faulty wiring, or if the cable length exceeds recommendations.
4	One or more networked units cannot be read. If this bit is ON, check SI 238, SI 240-243.	

SI 237 CANbus Network Communication Error Code is a bitmap that indicates the LAST unit that cannot be read. Note that each controller can receive messages from up to 8 others. Example: Assume that there are 6 controllers in the network (3,6,8,13,17,34). Controller 3 is waiting for data from controllers 8 and 13 and 17. If the controller does not receive data from controller 13 (assume a 1 second timeout) then SI 237 will contain a value of 13. Bit 4 in SI 236 will also turn ON. Once controller 3 has received the data, Bit 4 turns OFF.

SIs 240, 241, 242, and 243 serve as a bitmap indicating which unit is in error. If, for example, the network includes unit ID numbers 8, 9 and 13, and PLC #9 cannot be accessed, then the ninth bit in SI 240 will turn ON. When the error is fixed, the bit falls to OFF.

### CANbus troubleshooting

Problem	Possible cause	Recommended Action
Failed communication	Baud rate settings	<ul> <li>All controllers in the network must be set to the same CANbus baud rate.</li> <li>Baud rate may be set: <ul> <li>By initializing a port via the COM Init FB.</li> <li>Temporarily via Info mode;however, note that the baud rate will be reset at the next power-up</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
	Termination resistors	Termination resistor settings are provided in the chapter Communications in the controller's user guide.
	CANbus power supply	Check that the CANbus power supply is properly connected, and that the voltage is in the permissible range as described in the chapter Communications in the controller's user guide.
	Incorrect ID number	You may not have assigned the correct unit ID number in your operand addresses (between 1-63). Check the OPLC settings tab Communicate with OPLC.
PC cannot communicate with bridge	Incorrect setting	When you communicate with the controller unit that you are using as a bridge to the network, either enter the ID# of the bridge or select Direct Connection in the OPLC settings tab Communicate with OPLC.
PC cannot communicate with network	Communication settings	Make sure the current RS232 parameters in your project are the same as the parameters that are actually in the bridge. Check these topics:Check Network Status, Vision Communication PC Settings
	Incorrect baud rate	The bridge's RS232 port's baud rate cannot be set below 9600.

## Modem Troubleshooting

General Information

Note •	The PC to modem cable is not the same type of cable that connects the controller to the modem. The PC to modem cable must provide connection points for all of the modem's pins.
•	The initialization commands for PC modems, and those found in the COM Init FB used to initialize the PLC's modem are different.
•	If calls are routed via a switchboard, note that the switchboard settings may interfere with communications. Consult with your switchboard provider
•	If the modem initialization string parameter S7, TimeOut, is to short to permit the PLC's modem to answer, an error will result. For example, if this parameter is S7=30, the PC modem waits 3 seconds to receive an answer from the PLC's modem. If, however, the PLC program's COM Init FB Answer Settings are set to 'Answer after 6 rings,' the PLC modem will not be able to answer before the 3 seconds have elapsed. In this case, the TimeOut parameter is exceeded, and the PC modem will return the No Carrier error.
•	PC/PLC modem communications: Both PC and PLC must use the same type of modem: landline or GSM\CDMA. Internal PC modems must use the driver provided by the modem's manufacturer.

Modem Commands

**Note** • The modem must reply with either OK or READY to each command entered. If the modem fails to answer, the command has not been processed.

+++	Escape Sequence. This causes the modem to close connections and go back to command mode
AT	This command means Attention; and is used to begin a session
AT&F	Restores factory default settings
ATZ	Resets the modem. This command may take time to implement, so the response from the modem may be delayed
ATE0	No Echo
V1	Enable Verbose (long) response
Q0	Respond
X4	Detailed answers
&D0	Ignore DTR
&S0	DSR always ON. Since the DSR can be permanently set to ON, connecting it to the RTS causes the terminal always be ready to transmit/receive data
&S1	DSR OFF in command and test modes
&C1	Give the user a signal for the DCD
ATS0=1	Auto-Answer after 1 ring
&W	Burn the configuration into the modem's non-volatile memory

### PC-side modem, error messages

This deals with errors that may result from the PC's modem

Message	Cause
COM Port not open, or	The PC was unable to access the PC port.
modem does not exist	The port may:
	-Already be in use.
	-Be damaged.
Modem not connected	The PC receives no reply from the modem following the 'AT' command.
	Check that:
	-The modem is connected to the same PC port you have defined in PC-modem Configuration.
	-The PC-modem cable is in proper order.
Modem not initialized	The modem was not successfully initialized, or
	The modem answered, but did not approve all strings.
	Check the topic: Using Hyperterminal for Modem Troubleshooting

The messages below describe the modem 's status if the PC dial attempt (ATD+ number) fails. Any one of these errors aborts the Dial process.

Modem Busy	
Modem Error	
No Dial Tone	
No Carrier	Note • This can occur if, within the modem initialization strings, the parameter S7 TimeOut, is to short to permit the PLC's modem to answer.
	For example, if this parameter is set as S7=30, the PC modem will wait for 3 seconds to receive an answer from the PLC's modem. If, however, the PLC program's COM Init FB Answer Settings are set to 'Answer after 6 rings,' the PLC modem will not be able to answer before the 3 seconds have elapsed. In this case, the TimeOut parameter is exceeded, and the PC modem will return the

	No Carrier error.
Dial time-out exceeded	No reply was received from the modem within the defined time.
The messages below only r	elate to unsuccessful GSM modem initialization.
GSM SIM card blocked	
GSM SIM card does not exist	
Illegal GSM PIN code	
GSM Network not found	
CDMA Network not found	
SMS message too long	A message containing only English characters may contain up to 160 characters. A message containing non-English characters may contain up to 70 characters.
Time-out exceeded	

# PLC modems

These errors may result from problems in the PLC-side modem

Message	Possible cause	Recommended action			
Modem Busy	Modem is engaged, or is being initialized	Check that the line is free. Use the SBs: Modem Initialization Status listed above to check the COM port status; communications cannot flow through the port during initialization. For more information check the topic COM Port Init.			
Handshake between modems complete ('CONNECT'), PLC does not reply	Modem adapter cable	Check the PLC-to-modem connection and pin-out, particularly that the DSR is connected to the RTS on the modem side.			
Problem	SI Value (80, 82, 84)	Possible Cause & Recommended Action			
Modem fails to initialize (SB 81, 83, 85 ON)	3	<ul> <li>PLC-to-modem cable: Make sure that the cable is securely connected. Check the modem connection and pin-out of the PLC-to-modem adapter cables. Note that if you use cables comprising this pin-out, you must set the parameter Flow Control to N (none) in the COM Port Init FB.</li> <li>Incompatible communication settings. Most modems automatically match the parameters of incoming data: baud rate, data bits, parity &amp; stop bits. You may need to manually change your modem's communication settings.</li> </ul>			
	0	You may have selected the wrong type of modem in the COM Port Init FB.			

### Modem Connection

#### Cable Pin-out

The Unitronics' cable provided with modem kits does not provide a standard connection. This connection is adapted to support the fact that Unitronics controllers do not support the control lines. The cable shorts the DSR and the DTR together, which ensures that the terminal is always ready to receive data.

For more information, refer to the topic Modem Connection and Pinouts.

### Data Flow Direction

Generally, when you transmit data, you send it out. Note, however, that transmitted data (TXD) is input to the DCE. A Receive Data signal (RXD) is input to the DTE, but output from the DCE.

Therefore, the RXD and TXD signals are crossed within the majority of modems. This means that a straight through "one to one" cable is generally all that is necessary between a modem and a controller or PC serial port.

RS-232 signal info	ormation
--------------------	----------

RXD Receive Data	Input for DTE devices (Receive), output for DCE devices. This is the data channel from the DCE device to the DTE device.
TXD Transmit Data	Output for DTE devices (Send), input for DCE devices. This is the data channel from the DTE device to the DCE device.
GND Signal Ground	Signal return for all signal lines.
RTS Request To Send	Terminal is ready to receive data. When the DTE is ready to receive data, the DTE serial port RTS signal is ON.
CTS Clear To Send	Terminal is readynot related to data transfer.
DTR Data Terminal Read	It is an output for DTE devices and an input for DCE devices. This signal is typically used to show that the port has been activated or "opened".
DSR Data Set Ready	Detects if the RS232 is actually connected.
DCD Data Carrier Detect	Turns ON when the modems connect.
RING	Turns ON when someone is calling the DTE.

#### GSM modems

Problem	SI Value (81, 83, 85)	Possible Cause & Recommended Action
Wrong PIN number	3	Check the PIN number in the COM Port Init FB; leave it empty if your SIM card has no PIN number.
Failed Registration	4	GSM modem did not register successfully, for example if no network was found, or if the modem antenna is not functioning.
PUK number needed	5	The SIM card is locked due to too many attempts to enter an incorrect PIN number.

Problem	Possible Cause & Recommended Action
Cell phone does not receive message	Check the cell phone's SIM card; it may be full. You can clear the SIM card using the Clear option in the COM Port Init FB.
PLC modem does not respond to cell phone call	GSM modems generally recognize whether the incoming call is voice or data. If the modem has been set to answer (via the ATS0=x command, where x is set to a value greater than 0), the modem will not answer an incoming cell phone call, since it will be recognized as a voice message.

Note • The appropriate Modem: Initialized SBs [80 (COM 1), SB 82 (COM 2), SB 84 (COM 3)] must turn ON before activating an SMS Config FB using that COM port; ideally the SBs should be used as an activating condition.

.



## Modem Troubleshooting Table

Problem	Possible cause	Recommended Action			
PLC stays connected when modem connection fails	A modem which is reset, or to which the power supply is interrupted, may lose the connection and may not send a 'No Carrier string to the PLC. In this case, the SB remains ON, as though the data link still exists. (Note that Modem Connected SBs, 86-88, turn ON when the relevant COM port receives the 'Connect' modem string. Receiving a 'No Carrier' string causes the SB to turn OFF.)	Modem Connection and COM Port Transmit/Receive SBs can be used in conjunction with a timer to check if the line is inactive; the timer state is used to trigger Hang-up as shown below. SB 86 SB 132 COM Port 1 Connected Transmit busy COM Port 1 Receive busy TD 9 [00:00:01.00] Line inactive HANG UP COM 1			
VisiLogic is not able to communicate with the PLC: PLC has initialized a modem. The modem is disconnected, and a PC is plugged into the COM port.	Once the modem is connected to the PLC, and the modem is initialized, the Modem Initialized SB turns ON. As long as this SB is ON, the COM port stays initialized to the baud rate required in order to work with the modem. If VisiLogic attempts to access the PLC via a different baud rate, the attempt will fail. The Synchronization process (using break signals) is disabled while the SB is ON.	Either: Reset the PLC, which will reset the Modem Initialized SB, -or- Via Vision Communication PC Settings, set VisiLogic's baud rate to match the baud rate to which the COM port was initialized to communication with the modem.			

### COM Port/Modem Status, System Operands, & Error Messages

You can check the status of the System Bits and Integers either via ON-line Test Mode or Information Mode.

COM Port/Modem initialization, SBs 80-85

Each port is linked to 2 SBs indicating COM Port/Modem initialization status following COM Init. Both SBs are initialized to OFF by the OS, at Power-up and at the beginning of COM Init process. When COM Init is complete, one is ON, the other OFF.

#	Description				
SB 80	Modem Initialized: COM Port 1 Example: COM Port 1			ort 1	Π
SB 81	COM Port/Modem Initialization Failed: COM Port 1	SB 80	SB 81		
SB 82	Modem Initialized: COM Port 2	0	0	After Power-up, before COM Init	
SB 83	COM Port/Modem Initialization Failed: COM Port 2	0	1	Modem Initialization attempt failed, Modem is not initialized	
SB 84	Modem Initialized: COM Port 3	1	0	Modem Initialization attempt succeeded, Modem is initialized.	
SB 85	COM Port/Modem Initialization Failed: COM Port 3	1	1	Not possible	

Each port is linked to 2 SBs indicating COM Port/Modem initialization status following COM Init. Both SBs are initialized to OFF by the OS, at Power-up and at the beginning of COM Init process. When COM Init is complete, one is ON, the other OFF.

#	Description				
SB 80	Modem Initialized: COM Port 1 Example: COM Port 1			ort 1	
SB 81	COM Port/Modem Initialization Failed: COM Port 1	SB 80	SB 81		
SB 82	Modem Initialized: COM Port 2	0	0	After Power-up, before COM Init	
SB 83	COM Port/Modem Initialization Failed: COM Port 2	0	1	Modem Initialization attempt failed, Modem is not initialized	
SB 84	Modem Initialized: COM Port 3	1	0	Modem Initialization attempt succeeded, Modem is initialized.	
SB 85	COM Port/Modem Initialization Failed: COM Port 3	1	1	Not possible	

Modem connection status, SB 86-88

Each port is linked to an SB indicating modem connection status. These can be used in conjunction with SBs 132-137, which indicate indicating whether incoming or outgoing data is flowing through the port, to troubleshoot problems as shown in the Help topic Modem Troubleshooting.

#	Description	Turns ON when:	Turns OFF when:	Reset by:
				Į

SB 86	Modem Connection Status: COM Port 1	PLC receives 'Connect' string from modem	•	Hang-up PLC receives string 'No	OS, at Power- up
SB 87	Modem Connection Status: COM Port 2		•	Carrier' PLC receives break signal	
SB 88	Modem Connection Status: COM Port 3				

COM Ports, SBs 132-137

Each port is linked to 2 SBs indicating when incoming or outgoing data is flowing through the port. To troubleshoot problems, use these in conjunction with the Modem Connection Status SBs 86-88, as shown in the topic Modem Troubleshooting.

#	Description	Turns ON when:	Turns OFF when:	Reset by:
SB 132	COM Port 1, Data Transmission	During data send	When data is not being sent	OS
SB 133	COM Port 2, Data Transmission			
SB 134	COM Port 3, Data Transmission			
SB 135	COM Port 1, Data Receive	During data reception	When data is not being received	OS
SB 136	COM Port 2, Data Receive	-		
SB 137	COM Port 3, Data Receive	1		

SMS message transmission status, SBs 184-185

Operands that are linked by the user to SMS FBs may be found in the topic SMS Operands.

SB	Description	Turns ON when:	Turns OFF when:
184	SMS: Transmission Succeeded	Transmission succeeds	Transmission begins
185	SMS: Transmission Failed	Transmission fails	Transmission begins

COM Port: Port/Modem Status, Error codes, SIs 80-85

Each COM Port is linked to 2 SIs; their values and messages are indicated below.

SI 80	Modem Status: COM 1	Error (SI 81,83,85,)	Status ( SI 80, 82, 84)
SI 81	Error Code: COM 1	Value Message	Value Message

### Getting Started

SI 82	Modem Status: COM 2	0	No error	0	Modem Idle
SI 83	Error Code: COM 2	1	TimeOut exceeded: no reply	1	Initialization in Progress
		2	Reply Error	2	Initialization OK
SI 84	Modem Status: COM	3	Wrong PIN number	3	Initialization Failed
SI 85	Error Code: COM 3	4	Registration failed	4	Modem Connected
		5	PUK number needed	5	Hang-up in progress
		10	COM Busy	6	Dial in progress
		11	Reply Busy		
		12	Reply No Dial		
		15	Attempted Initialization during active break signal. Note that a port cannot be initialized while the break signal is active		

## GSM Cellular Modem, GSM Signal Quality, SI 185

SI	Description	Value		
185	GSM Signal Quality	<ul> <li>The value is written during COM Init of the GSM modem. The value is updated whenever the user uses the GSM Signal Quality FB.</li> <li>A value of -1(FFFF)signifies a modem error. This may be due to a weak signal; try repositioning the antenna. If this has no effect, check the modem.</li> </ul>		

SDW: Last Received SMS

SDW	Description
13	Phone number of last received SMS (last 9 digits)

Information on SMS messaging status and messages may be found in the topic SMS Operands.

## Using Hyperterminal for COM Troubleshooting

You can use a standard Windows application called Hyperterminal to perform certain tasks, such as changing a modem's communication rate.

**Note** • The modem driver does not need to be installed in order to access the modem via Hyperterminal.

### **Modem Connections**

### Cable Pin-out

The Unitronics' cable provided with modem kits does not provide a standard connection. This connection is adapted to support the fact that Unitronics controllers do not support the control lines. The cable shorts the DSR and the DTR together, which ensures that the terminal is always ready to receive data.

For more information, refer to the topic Modem Connection and Pinouts.

#### **Data Flow Direction**

Generally, when you transmit data, you send it out. Note, however, that transmitted data (TXD) is input to the DCE. A Receive Data signal (RXD) is input to the DTE, but output from the DCE.

Therefore, the RXD and TXD signals are crossed within the majority of modems. This means that a straight through "one to one" cable is generally all that is necessary between a modem and a controller or PC serial port.

### RS-232 signal information

RXD Receive Data	Input for DTE devices (Receive), output for DCE devices. This is the data channel from the DCE device to the DTE device.
TXD Transmit Data	Output for DTE devices (Send), input for DCE devices. This is the data channel from the DTE device to the DCE device.
GND Signal Ground	Signal return for all signal lines.
RTS Request To Send	Terminal is ready to receive data. When the DTE is ready to receive data, the DTE serial port RTS signal is ON.
CTS Clear To Send	Terminal is readynot related to data transfer.
DTR Data Terminal Read	It is an output for DTE devices and an input for DCE devices. This signal is typically used in UNIX to show that the port has been activated or "opened".
DSR Data Set Ready	Detects if the RS232 is actually connected.
DCD Data Carrier Detect	Turns ON when the modems connect.
RING	Turns ON when someone is calling the DTE.

#### **Using Hyperterminal**

1. Open Hyperterminal. The program can generally be located by clicking the Start button in the lower left corner of your screen, then selecting Programs>Accessories>Communications>Hyperterminal. The New Connection window opens as shown below.

Note • Hyperterminal generally starts by pointing to the internal modem, if one is installed on the PC.

New Connection - HyperTerminal File Edit View Call Iransfer Help	
Ele       Edit       View       Cal       Iransfer       Help         Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design         Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design         Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design         Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design         Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design         Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design         Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design         Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design         Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design         Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design         Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design       Image: Solution Design	iption
Disconnected Auto detect Auto detect	Cancel

- 2. Enter a name for the new connection and select an icon, and then click OK. The Connect To box opens .
- 3. Select a COM port for the modem, and then click OK.

M20 - HyperTermina File Edit View Call	al Transfer Help	_ 🗆 ×
02 28 4		
-	Connect To	
	💫 м20	
	Enter details for the phone number that you want to dial:	
	Country code: [state] (972)	
	Arga code: 02	
	Phone number:	
	Connect using: Direct to Com1	
	Cancel	
Disconnected	Auto detect Auto detect SCROLL CAPS NUM Capture Print echo	

4. The Port Settings box opens as shown below. To enable your PC to communicate with the modem, set the COM port parameters to a BPS of either 9600 or 19200, Data bits=8, Parity=N, Stop bits=1, Flow control=None, and then click OK.

CDM1 Properties	? ×
Port Settings	
	- 1
Bits per second: 19200	
Data Mar. Da	
Easter 10	
Baily: None	
Stop bits: 1	
Elow control: None	
Advanced Bestre Default	5
Tester began	
OK Cancel ép	:0

5. Open the modem's Properties box by clicking on the Properties button, then open ASCII Setup.

🎨 M20 - HyperTerminal		
<u>File Edit ⊻iew Call Iransfer H</u> elp	V20 Depending	2
Properties	M20 Properties  Connect To Settings  Function, arrow, and ctil keys act as  Function, arrow, ar	?×
	Telget terminal ANSI	
Disconnected Auto detect Auto	OK Canc	a soho ///

6. Select the options shown below, and then click OK.

ASCII Setup ? 🗙
ASCII Sending
Send line ends with line feeds
Echo typed characters locally
Line delay: 0 milliseconds.
Character delay: 0 milliseconds.
ASCII Receiving
Eorce incoming data to 7-bit ASCII
Vrap lines that exceed terminal width
OK Cancel

Hyperterminal is now connected to your PC via COM 1; the ASCII settings now enable you to enter commands via the PC keyboard and see the replies from the modem within the Hyperterminal window.

To test the connection, type AT; if the connection is valid the modem will respond 'OK'.

Typical initialization strings used with a Siemens M20-type modem are shown below.

🎨 GM29 - HyperTermi	nal							_D×
Ele Edit Yew Call I	ransfer <u>H</u> elp							
06 93 0	8							
at OK atz								
OK								
ate0v1q0x48	cd0&s0&c	:1						
ок								
at&w								
ОК								
Connected 00:00:35	Auto detect	19200 8-N-1	SCROLL	CAPS	NUM	Capture	Print echo	

#### Modem Commands

.

Note • The modem must reply with either OK or READY to each command entered. If the modem fails to answer, the command has not been processed.

+++	Escape Sequence. This causes the modem to close connections and go back to command mode				
AT	This command means Attention; and is used to begin a session				
AT&F	Restores factory default settings				
ATZ	Resets the modem. This command may take time to implement, so the response from the modem may be delayed				
ATE0	No Echo				
V1	Enable Verbose (long) response				
Q0	Respond				
X4	Detailed answers				
&D0	Ignore DTR				
&S0	DSR always ON. Since the DSR can be permanently set to ON, connecting it to the RTS causes the terminal always be ready to transmit/receive data				
&S1	DSR OFF in command and test modes				
&C1	Give the user a signal for the DCD				
ATS0=1	Auto-Answer after 1 ring				
&W	Burn the configuration into the modem's non-volatile memory				

### Initializing the modem to SMS mode via Hyperterminal

Once the modem is successfully initialized, you can use Hyperterminal to initialize the modem to SMS mode.

Command	Description	Notes
at+cpin=?	Is a pin number required?	
at+pin="xxxx" xxxx	Is the pin number set in the application?	
at+creg?	Has the SIM card been registered with	Should return one of two answers:

	the local cellular provider?	<ul> <li>+CREG: 0,1 The SIM is registered with its local provider.</li> <li>+CREG: 0,5 The SIM is in roaming mode.</li> </ul>
at+cmgf=1	Go to text mode	
Image: Control of the second seco	HyperTerminal Yew Cal Transfer Help Copin? IN: SIM PIN cpin = "11111" creg? EG: 0,1 cmgf=1 DO:00:35 Auto detect 19200 BHV-1 SCROL CAPS Commands including question marks are	run for verification twice. If the command is not verified
	during the second attempt, the attempts s	top.
•	If the SIM requests the PUK number, the phone to enable the number to be entered	SIM must be taken out of the modem and installed into a l.
•	If the SIM is full, the SIM must be taken SIM to be cleared.	out of the modem and installed into a phone to enable the

• The modem must be able to support Text mode. P.D.U. mode is not supported.

### When a controller sends an SMS text message

- It uses the Send command, containing the number to be called: AT+CMGS= "phone number".
- The controller then waits for the reply '>'.
- When the '>' is received, the controller sends the message, ending the line with CTRL\_Z
- If the message is successfully sent, the controller will receive a message of confirmation,+CMGS:xx. When this message is received by the controller, SB 184 turns ON. The confirmation message is acknowledged by OK.
- If: the message of confirmation is not received within 15 seconds, or the '>' is not received within 3 seconds, SB 185 turns ON.

When the controller receives an SMS text message:

- It receives the command: +CMTI: "SM", xx. Xx is a number in the controller's memory, 1 to 20.
- When the message is received, the controller asks the modem for the text via the command AT+CMGR=xx
- The modem replies with +CMGR, including the phone number, status, text, and concluding with OK.

Note • When a COM port has been successfully initialized, the relevant bit turns ON: SB 80, 82, 83 or 84.

If initialization fails, SB 81, 83, 85, or 87 will turn ON.

### 'The Sniffer'--Viewing communication strings

The instructions below show you how to construct a communications 'Sniffer'. This device enables you to use Hyperterminal to view communication strings flowing between a PLC and an external, connected device such as a bar code reader.

'Sniffer' is connected to the external device.



'COM' is connected to the PLC.



Note that communication cables are the programming cable provided by Unitronics.



To make a Sniffer, you need:

- An adapter.
- Two 1N4148 or 1N914 diodes.
- 1. Open the adapter carefully via the 4 snaps in its sides.





2.	Cut the red and green wires as shown below.	
3.	Solder one diode to the red wire, and one diode to the green wire. The soldered point provides the anode.	
4.	Put isolating material on the soldered points.	

### Getting Started

5. Solder both diodes' cathodes to the red wire.



- 6. Put isolating material on the solder.
- 7. Close the Sniffer.
- 8. Label the connectors as shown.



**Note** • In order to run view the strings in Hyperterminal, you must set the program to display ASCII strings as described above in Using Hyperterminal.

### Using Hyperterminal to check PC-PLC direct communications

If the PC port is defective or in use by another application, you may be unable to access a directly connected controller with your PC.

Via Hyperterminal, you can check the PLC-PC communication connection by sending a simple text command, Get ID. If the connection is in order, the controller replies with its ID; if the connection is faulty, the controller will not reply.

1. Open Hyperterminal.

New Connection - HyperTerminal	_O×
<u>Elle Edit View Call Transfer H</u> elp	
Connection Description	
Disconnected Auto detect SCROLL CAPS NUM Capture Print echo	 //

- 2. Enter a name for the new connection and select an icon, and then click OK. The Connect To box opens.
- 3. Select the PC COM port that connects the PC to the controller, and then click OK.

New Connection - Hy File Edit View Cal Tr	yperTerminal	<u>_     ×</u>
<u> Dei 03 0</u>	8	
	Connect To ? × Source: Test Enter details for the phone number that you want to dial: Country code: Intrael (972) Arga code: 02 Phone number: Cognect using: Cont QK Cancel	
Disconnected	Auto detect Auto detect SCROLL CAPS NUM Capture Print echo	

4. The Port Settings box opens as shown below. To enable your PC to communicate with the modem, set the COM port parameters to a BPS of either 9600 or 19200, Data bits=8, Parity=N, Stop bits=1, Flow control=None, and then click OK.

COM1 Properties	? ×
Port Settings	
,	
Bits per second: 19200	
Data bits: 8	
Paily: None 💌	
Stop bits: 1	
Elow control: None	
Advanced	łs
OK Cancel	seb

5. Open the Properties box by clicking on the Properties button, then open ASCII Setup.

### Getting Started

Test - HyperTerminal	
File Edit View Cal Iransfer Help	est Properties       ? ×         Connect To Settings       Function, arrow, and ctil keys act as         Function, arrow, and ctil keys act as       • Windows keys         Backspace key sends       • Windows keys         Backspace key sends       • Otti+H, Space, Oti+H         Emulation:       Auto detect         Auto detect       • Teminel Setuc         Telget terminal       ANSI         Backspace times when connecting or disconnecting         ASCII Setup
Disconnected Auto detect Aut/	OK Cancel scho

6. Select the options shown below, and then click OK.

ASCII Setup ? 🗙
ASCII Sending
Send line ends with line feeds
Echo typed characters locally
Line delay: 0 milliseconds.
Character delay: 0 milliseconds.
ASCII Receiving           ASCII Receiving           Image: Append line feeds to incoming line ends           Image: Ence incoming data to 7-bit ASCII           Image: Wrap lines that exceed terminal width
OK Cancel

- 7. To synchronize the controller's communication settings, enter Info mode. Navigate to System>RS232>Restore Defaults, and then press the Enter key.
- 8. Open Notepad, enter the text /00IDED, press Enter, and save the file. This is the Get ID command, where 00 is the 'placeholder' for the controller's Unit ID number. 00 enables any directly controller to answer, no matter what it's actual ID number is. ED is the command's checksum.
- Note •Pressing Enter places a Carriage Return command at the end of the text. Although the Carriage<br/>Return is not visible, the command will not be processed without it.

<i>🌌</i> U	nit ID	.txt - No	tepad		_ 🗆 🗙
File	Edit	Format	Help		
/00I	DED				*
I 1					
I 1					
I 1					-

9. Select Send Text file from the Transfer menu, and open the text file

🍖 Test - HyperTerminal						
File Edit View Call Transfer Help	Send Text File					?×
Capture Text	Look in:	🚮 Desktop		•	🗢 📾 💣 🎟	•
- Send Text Fie	History Desktop My Documents	My Network Pla My Computer My Documents	ces			
	62	File name:	Unit ID.txt		•	Open
	My Network P	Files of type:	Text file (*.TXT)		•	Cancel

10. If you have configured everything according to the instructions above, and the port is functioning properly, the controller with its ID number. If the port is out of order, the controller will not reply.



In the figure above, the characters in the string that is returned by the controller, /A00IDR1 B30000E5 may be interpreted as follows:

А	00	ID (PLC model)	B (Hardware Version)	E5	CR (ETX)
Answer	Requested number	M90-R1	OS V3.00 (00)	Checksum	Not visible
Index

2	
2.5	
Α	
Add	
Add net	
Addressing Operands	
Analog I/Os	
Analog Input	
Analog Output	
Configuring I/O Expar 187	nsion Modules50, 57, 60,
Configuring Snap-in I/	O Modules52, 57, 60, 187
Hardware Configuration	on3, 60
PT100 Input	
Analog I/Os	
B	
Baud	
CANbus	
COM port	
Download	
Get COM parameters.	
Baud	65
Baud	95
boot	169 188
Bootstran	169,188
Bridge	131
C	
CANbus	69 123 135 192
Change Flement's Operat	nd 33
color blind	161
COM port	60 70 102
Commont	
Communications	
	(0.91
Initialize COM port	
Log	
Modem	19, 65, 69, 76, 81, 198, 201
Network	83, 95, 103, 112, 113, 123
Troubleshooting	
Communications	

Communications	
Communications	
Compile	
Connect	
Connecting Ladder Element	s21
Controller	4, 34, 65, 95, 128, 131
Controller network	123, 128, 131, 135, 192
Copy & Paste	
Counter	
Counter Values	
Counter w/reset	
Cut & Paste	
D	
Data Tablas	172 101 102 104
Data Tables	1/3, 181, 183, 184
Data, entry via keypad	
Data, entry via keypad Database, read/write	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Database, read/write Debug	
Data, entry via keypad Database, read/write Debug Delete	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Database, read/write Debug Delete Descriptions	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Database, read/write Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Database, read/write Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Database, read/write Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Direct Connection	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Database, read/write Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Direct Connection Display text messages	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Database, read/write Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Direct Connection Display text messages Displaying Values	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Database, read/write Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Digital Outputs Display text messages Displaying Values Displays	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Direct Connection Display text messages Displaying Values Displays Download via network	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Database, read/write Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Digital Outputs Display text messages Displaying Values Displays Download via network Downloading	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Debug Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Direct Connection Display text messages Displaying Values Displays Download via network Downloading OS	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Database, read/write Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Digital Outputs Display text messages Displaying Values Displays Download via network Downloading OS Project	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Database, read/write Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Digital Outputs Display text messages Displaying Values Displays Download via network Download ing Downloading	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Direct Connection Display text messages Displaying Values Displays Download via network Downloading OS Project Downloading Downloading	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Database, read/write Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Digital Outputs Display text messages Displaying Values Displays Download via network Download ing Project Downloading Downloading Downloading	
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Debug Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Digital Outputs Display text messages Displaying Values Displays Download via network Downloading Downloading Downloading Downloading Downloading Downloading Downloading	$\begin{array}{c} 173, 181, 183, 184\\$
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Debug Debug Delete Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Digital Outputs Direct Connection Display text messages Displaying Values Displays Download via network Download via network Downloading Project Downloading	
Data Tables Data antry via keypad Database, read/write Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Digital Outputs Display text messages Displaying Values Displays Download via network Download via network Downloading	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Data Tables Data, entry via keypad Debug Debug Delete Descriptions Digital I/Os Digital Outputs Digital Outputs Display text messages Display text messages Displaying Values Displays Download via network Downloading OS Project Downloading Downloading Downloading Downloading Downloading Downloading Downloading Downloading Downloading Duty Cycle DW E Edit	$\begin{array}{c} 173, 181, 183, 184\\$

Edit programs-via network
editing, keyboard171
Element
Element's Operand
Enter data via keypad
password9
Enter data via keypad9
Errors
Ethernet
Excel 184
F
Favorites 114 120
Filter 57
Find 153
Find & Replace
Constant 152
Constant 153
Element
FB
Font
Label
Load Display
Operand153
Subroutine
Find & Replace
Fixed text
Flash
Float functions
Flow
Folders12, 149
Frequency Measurer
Function
G
Graphics
Graphs
GSM
Н
Hardware Configuration 3, 49, 50, 52, 54, 55, 56, 59, 60, 63, 191
High Speed Input
High Speed Output (HSO)
High-Speed Counter
HMI
Ι
I/Os
I/O Expansion Modules 3 49 50 54 59 189
I/O Snan-in Modules 57
I/Os 2
I/Oc 50
I/Os 50
I C C

7/0	
I/Os	
I/Os	
I/Os	
ID in network	
IEC 1131-3	
Image	
Immediate	
Import/Export	
Information Mode	14, 137, 189
Input	
Insert	
Insert comments	
Insert net	
Interrupt	
Interrupt HSC	
IP Addresses	
К	
keyboard	
Kevpad	
Kevpad Entry	
L	,
Labels	171
Ladder3, 6, 11, 19, 20, 31, 34, 38 187	8, 141, 147, 151,
Ladder Diagram	42
Ladder element	22
Ladder element	
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules	
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net	
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net	22 42 34 19
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail	22 42 34 19 19 22
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search	22 42 34 19 19 22 22
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link	22 42 34 19 22 22 22 168
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link Log	22 42 34 19 19 22 22 22 168 24
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link Log Loops	22 42 34 19 22 22 22 168 34
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link Log M	22 42 34 19 19 22 22 22 168 34
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link Loops M Memory	22 42 34 19 19 22 22 22 168 34 
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link Log Loops <b>M</b> Memory MI 22 Duty Cycle Value	22 42 34 19 19 22 22 22 168 34 
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link Log Loops <b>M</b> Memory MI 22 Duty Cycle Value MI-Memory Integers	22 42 34 19 19 22 22 22 22 168 34 
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link Logs Loops M Memory MI 22 Duty Cycle Value MI-Memory Long Integers	22 42 34 19 19 22 22 22 168 34 
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link Logs Loops M M Memory MI 22 Duty Cycle Value MI-Memory Integers ML-Memory Long Integers Modem 19, 76, 5	22 42 34 19 19 22 22 168 34 
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link Loops M Memory MI 22 Duty Cycle Value MI-Memory Integers ML-Memory Long Integers Modem Error Messages	22 42 34 19 19 22 22 22 168 34 
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link Log Loops M Memory MI 22 Duty Cycle Value MI-Memory Integers ML-Memory Long Integers Modem Modem Error Messages Modules	22 42 34 19 19 22 22 168 34 
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link Logs Loops <b>M</b> Memory MI 22 Duty Cycle Value MI-Memory Integers ML-Memory Long Integers Modem Error Messages Modules Move	22 42 34 19 19 22 22 22 168 34 
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link Loops M Memory MI 22 Duty Cycle Value MI-Memory Integers ML-Memory Long Integers Modem Modem Error Messages Modules Move selected nets	22 42 34 19 19 22 22 22 168 34 
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link Log Loops M Memory MI 22 Duty Cycle Value MI-Memory Integers ML-Memory Long Integers Modem Modem Error Messages Modules Move selected nets Move	$\begin{array}{c} 22\\ 42\\ 34\\ 19\\ 19\\ 22\\ 22\\ 22\\ 168\\ 34\\ 170, 173\\ 55\\ 56\\ 56\\ 56\\ 80, 82, 193, 201\\ 198\\ 3, 34\\ 29\\ 29\\ 29\end{array}$
Ladder element	$\begin{array}{c} 22 \\ 42 \\ 34 \\ 19 \\ 19 \\ 22 \\ 22 \\ 22 \\ 168 \\ 34 \\ 170, 173 \\ 55 \\ 56 \\ 56 \\ 80, 82, 193, 201 \\ 198 \\ 3, 34 \\ 29 \\ 29 \\ 29 \\ 29 \\ 26 \end{array}$
Ladder element Ladder Logic Ladder Modules Ladder Net Ladder rail Lexical Search Link Log Loops M Memory MI 22 Duty Cycle Value MI-Memory Integers ML-Memory Long Integers Modem Modem Error Messages Modules Move selected nets Move Selected nets Move Elements Multi-master	$\begin{array}{c} 22 \\ 42 \\ 34 \\ 19 \\ 19 \\ 22 \\ 22 \\ 22 \\ 168 \\ 34 \\ 170, 173 \\ 55 \\ 56 \\ 56 \\ 56 \\ 56 \\ 56 \\ 80, 82, 193, 201 \\ 198 \\ 3, 34 \\ 29 \\ 29 \\ 29 \\ 29 \\ 26 \\ 123 \end{array}$
Ladder element	$\begin{array}{c} 22\\ 42\\ 42\\ 34\\ 19\\ 19\\ 22\\ 22\\ 168\\ 34\\ 170, 173\\ 55\\ 56\\ 56\\ 80, 82, 193, 201\\ 198\\ 3, 34\\ 29\\ 29\\ 29\\ 29\\ 26\\ 123\\ \end{array}$
Ladder element	$\begin{array}{c} 22\\ 42\\ 42\\ 34\\ 19\\ 19\\ 22\\ 22\\ 22\\ 168\\ 34\\ 170, 173\\ 55\\ 56\\ 56\\ 56\\ 56\\ 56\\ 56\\ 56\\ 56\\ 56$

Nets3, 12, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 31, 42, 149
Network 65, 67, 95, 112, 113, 123, 128, 131, 135, 192
Network M90 Micro-OPLCs123
Networked controller
ID128
Networked controller123
Networked controller128
New net23
NI130
Notepad
npn3, 50, 52
NSB-Network System Bit130
NSI-Network System Integer130
0
Online point11, 141, 187
Operand 12, 22, 33, 34, 56, 130, 149, 153, 160
Operand Description
Operating System
OS
Outputs
P
Password14, 38, 137, 151, 161
Paste
PC
PC COM Parameters
Pictures
Placing function blocks
PLC 65
PLC status 66
pnp 3 50 52
PNP/NPN 63
Port
Power
flow
Power 19
Power
Power 169
Power 188
Power-up modes 169 188
Power-up Values 34
Program Flow 34
Program Sequence 34
Programming cable 10 131
Project 6 10 11 114 120 141 147 187
PT100
PT4 40
Pulse 50 55
PWM-Pulse Width Modulation 3 52 55

## R

Rails	3, 19, 42
RAM	173
Range enter	55
Recipes	181, 183
Relay	63
Reload	52
Remote Access	
Remote PLC Programming	92.143
Rename	, -
Watch Folder	12 149
Reset	65 189
Resizing	00, 10) 22
R\$232 Parameters 69.70	0 135 192
PS232 port	70 123
R5252 port	70, 123
R5463	
Run	
Rung	
8	
Scan11, 34	4, 141, 187
Search	153
security	38, 151
Select	22
Shaft Encoder	3, 52, 54
Shortcut keys	171
Single scan	1, 141, 187
Sizing	
Snap-in I/O Module	3, 52, 54
Socket	113
Stop Mode	189
Subroutines	9, 151, 164
Symbols	64, 130
System Operands	118
Т	
TCP/IP	4, 118, 120
Test mode11, 14	1, 149, 187
Text	
Timers	43
Total cycle period	55
Transistor	63
Troubleshooting 11 118 141 169 187	188 189
191, 192, 193, 198, 201	, 100, 109,
U	
Undo	33
Unit ID	
Upload	183
utility	158
V	
Values	184
·	

## Getting Started

Variable text	
Variables	4, 9, 43, 46
View Window	
Vision OPLC Information	3, 65, 66, 67, 95, 128, 135

## W

Watch Folder	12, 149
Welcome	1
Wiring	